Meeting:
Date/Time:
Location:
Contact:
Email:

Health and Wellbeing Board
Thursday, 10 March 2016 at 2.00 pm
Guthlaxton Committee Room, County Hall, Glenfield
Mrs. R. Palmer (Tel: 0116 305 6098)
rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk
Membership
Mr. E. F. White CC (Chairman)
John Adler
Karen English
Lesley Hagger
Ch. Supt. Sally Healy
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC
Dr Andy Ker
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Dr Mayur Lakhani

Rick Moore
Mr. I. D. Ould CC
Cllr. P. Posnett
Cllr. P. Ranson
Toby Sanders
Mike Sandys
Trish Thompson
Jon Wilson

AGENDA
Item

Report by

1.

Minutes of the meeting held on 7 January 2016
and Action Log.

2.

To advise of any other items which the
Chairman has decided to take as urgent
elsewhere on the agenda.

3.

Declarations of interest in respect of items on
the agenda.

4.

Position Statement by the Chairman.

(Pages 3 - 14)

Strategy.
5.

Better Care Fund Refresh 2016/17 Overview.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 15 - 30)

Democratic Services ◦ Chief Executive’s Department ◦ Leicestershire County Council ◦ County Hall
Glenfield ◦ Leicestershire ◦ LE3 8RA ◦ Tel: 0116 232 3232 ◦ Email: democracy@leics.gov.uk
www.twitter.com/leicsdemocracy

www.facebook.com/leicsdemocracy

www.leics.gov.uk/local_democracy

6.

Update on the Development of the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.

Better Care
Together

7.

Parity of Esteem for People with Serious
Mental Illness.

East Leicestershire (Pages 47 - 52)
and Rutland
Clinical
Commissioning
Group

8.

Adult Social Care Commissioning Strategy and
Market Position Statement.

Director of Adults
and Communities

(Pages 53 118)

9.

Supporting Leicestershire Families
Sustainability.

Director of
Children and
Family Services

(Pages 119 162)

Director of Public
Health

(Pages 163 214)

11. 'Your Voice Matters' Report.

Healthwatch

12. Better Care Fund Quarterly Performance
Report.

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 215 222)
(Pages 223 226)

13. Quarterly Performance Report.

Chief Executive
and GEM
Commissioning
Support
Performance
Service

(Pages 227 240)

Director of Health
and Care
Integration

(Pages 241 246)

10. Sexual Health Strategy.

(Pages 31 - 46)

Performance.

Governance
14. Update on Actions from the Health and
Wellbeing Board Development Session on 10
February.
15. Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board will be held on 5 May at
2.00pm.

16. Any other items which the Chairman has
decided to take as urgent.

3

Agenda Item 1

Minutes of a meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board held at County Hall, Glenfield on
Thursday, 7 January 2016.
PRESENT
Leicestershire County Council
Mr. E. F. White CC (In the Chair)
Mr. Dave Houseman MBE, CC

Lesley Hagger
Mike Sandys
Jon Wilson

Clinical Commissioning Groups
Karen English
Dr Andy Ker
Prof Mayur Lakhani
Toby Sanders
Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust
Dr Satheesh Kumar
Healthwatch Leicestershire
Rick Moore
Gillian Adams
Leicestershire District/Borough Councils
Cllr Pam Posnett
Cllr Pauline Ranson
NHS England
Trish Thompson
Leicestershire Police
Chief Superintendent Sally Hally
In attendance
Kate Shields, University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust
245. Minutes and Action Log.
The minutes of the meeting held on 19 November 2015 were taken as read, confirmed
and signed.

4
The Board also noted the Action Log, which provided an update on progress with the
actions agreed by the Board during 2015.
246. Urgent Items.
There were no urgent items for consideration.
247. Declarations of interest.
The Chairman invited members who wished to do so to declare any interest in respect of
items on the agenda for the meeting.
Dr Satheesh Kumar declared a personal interest in the report on Transforming Care:
Building the Right Support (minute 255 refers) as he was a Consultant in the Learning
Disabilities Service at Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust.
248. Position Statement by the Chairman.
The Chairman gave a position statement on the following matters:•
•
•
•
•

Preventing the spread of Norovirus (Winter Vomiting Disease);
Highlights from Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing Board’s Twitter Feed and
across the Partnership;
Development Support for Health and Wellbeing Boards;
National Policy Developments;
A Selection of Recent Publications.

Board members were encouraged to promote the messages regarding preventing the
spread of Norovirus and to ensure that the messages were consistent.
A copy of the position statement is filed with these minutes.
249. Change to the Order of Business.
The Chairman sought and obtained the consent of the Board to vary the order of
business from that set out on the agenda.
250. Winter Performance and Vanguard Update.
The Board considered a report from West Leicestershire Clinical Commissioning Group
which provided an update on the winter performance of the Urgent and Emergency Care
system and a briefing on progress on the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard. A
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 10’ is filed with these minutes.
It was reported that during the Christmas and New Year period, partners had work well
together across the system and had been well prepared for the days following the bank
holidays. Nonetheless, the system remained under considerable pressure, particularly
during the current week.
A number of actions had been taken immediately before Christmas which had led to a
reduction in delays of over two hours in ambulance handover times. The Urgent Care
Board would meet later that afternoon to consider further measures to reduce delays in
ambulance handover times.

5
A follow up risk summit relating to the outcome of the CQC visit and performance
pressures at University Hospitals of Leicester NHS Trust would be held on Monday 1
February.
With regard to the proposed strike by Junior Doctors, it was noted that UHL and LPT had
been revisiting the plans to mitigate the impact of the strike which had been developed at
the end of last year to ensure that they were robust.
RESOLVED:
That the update on winter performance and the Urgent and Emergency Care Vanguard
be noted.
251. Refresh and Approval of Better Care Fund for 2016/17.
The Board considered a presentation from the Director of Health and Care Integration
which set out the national policy developments and the approach to the refresh of the
Leicestershire integration programme from 2016/17, including the Better Care Fund. A
copy of the slides forming the presentation is filed with these minutes.
It was pleasing to note that partners felt health and care system was working together
with the same areas of focus and the materials presented reflected this well. However, it
would be important when discussing the resources available for Better Care Fund to
recognise that the reduction in funding for Local Government would have an impact.
The integration of planning across the health and care system was also welcomed
including the work ahead of the Sustainability and Transformation Plan due for
submission in the summer of 2016.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the proposal to refresh Leicestershire’s Integration Plan for 2016/17 be noted;
(b) That any comments on the Better Care Fund refresh materials presented be
submitted to Cheryl Davenport before the end of January 2016.
252. Refresh of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Public Health which presented a
proposal for updating the Leicestershire Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy for 2016-19,
including the framework for how this would be undertaken and a project timetable. A
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 6’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) It was intended that the Strategy would focus on a small number of key strategic
issues. This would enable the Board to focus on those areas which were not
addressed through other plans or strategies but would have a positive impact on
the health and wellbeing of the people of Leicestershire based on the evidence
from the Joint Strategic Needs Assessment. The Board would continue to receive
assurance on relevant work being undertaken across the health and care system
even where it did not form part of the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy.

6
(ii) It would be important to ensure that the Strategy informed the development of the
five year NHS Sustainability and Transformation Plan, including the prioritisation
process. It was also suggested that the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy could
cover a five year period to align with other NHS and Council medium term
planning periods.
(iii) It was confirmed that healthy life expectancy would be a key area of focus for the
Strategy. It was suggested that the Strategy should engage primary care on this
issue; particularly in terms of self-care and prevention.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the proposal to refresh the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy in 2016 be
supported;
(b) That the approach identified to undertake the refresh of the Strategy be supported;
(c) That a development session take place in March to consider the prioritisation of
issues for the Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy once the mapping exercise is
complete;
(d) That the project plan for the development of the refresh be approved;
(e) That regular progress reports from the JSNA/JHWS Steering Board on the
development of the strategy be submitted to the Board.
253. Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report.
The Board considered a report from the Director of Health and Care Integration which
looked back at 2015 and reflected on the progress that had been made across the
partnership to improve the health and wellbeing of the population of Leicestershire. A
copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 7’ is filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Report be approved for publication;
(b) That the progress made by the Board during 2015 be noted;
(c) That the key work streams that have been identified to progress the impact of the
Health and Wellbeing Board further in 2016 be supported.
254. CAMHS Transformation Plan - Assurance on Progress and Funding.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Children and Family Services which
described the progress made by the Better Care Together workstream to improve the
mental health and wellbeing of children and young people. A copy of the report marked
‘Agenda Item 8’ is filed with these minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:-

7
(i) There had recently been a reduction in the waiting time for Tier 3 CAMHS
services. One of the issues that the Better Care Together workstream had
identified was that a number of inappropriate referrals were made into the CAMHS
service. It was expected that the work on prevention and early intervention would
create other treatment options for these children and young people so that waiting
times would continue to reduce.
(ii) It was acknowledged that the transformation of services would be a significant
challenge. To that end, one of the delivery groups for the Transformation Plan
was focused on workforce and delivering the necessary cultural shift. It would be
important to be able to demonstrate that the Transformation Plan was actually
making a difference to service users.
(iii) The NHS Planning Guidance invited providers of secondary mental health
services, such as Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust, to take on an integrated
single budget which included specialist mental health services. Discussions were
ongoing as to whether this would be appropriate for Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the approval by NHS England of the Transformational Plan for children and
young people’s mental health across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland be
noted;
(b) That the additional resource of £1.8 million that has been secured by the Plan be
noted;
(c) That the establishment of four delivery groups that will operate as task and finish
groups to ensure implementation of the Plan be noted;
(d) That the ongoing governance arrangement be noted;
(e) That progress reports, including performance information with regard to the
outcomes framework, be received by the Board on a quarterly basis.
255. Transforming Care: Building the Right Support.
The Board considered a report from the Director of Adults and Communities which set
out the requirements of Transforming Care following the publication of the national plan
“Building the Right Support” and the associated service model. The report also provided
assurance on plans and progress towards meeting the expectations outlined in Building
the Right Support. A copy of the report marked “Agenda Item 9” is filed with these
minutes.
Arising from discussion the following points were raised:(i) The reduction in the number of inpatient beds in the Agnes Unit for people with
Learning Disabilities would be phased so that the impact on the rest of the system
could be monitored and responded to. At the same time, the outreach service
would be improved to prevent service users from reaching a crisis.

8
(ii) The Board was pleased to note that the flats built following a Department of Health
Grant to support the development of accommodation to facilitate the effective
discharge of people with Learning Disabilities and/or Autism in in-patient mental
health settings would be finished by 13 January. There would be three long term
tenancies and two short tenancies over two sites.
(iii) It was confirmed that there were acute liaison nurses in UHL and primary care
liaison nurses in LPT who could support patients with Learning Disabilities and
Autism when they had to attend a hospital appointment. However, it was felt that
services were not very well known and should be promoted again within primary
care. This support would be equally appropriate for people with dementia.
(iv) Ensuring that the all age risk register for people with learning disabilities was
comprehensive would be the best way to meet the needs of all these service users
appropriately.
(v) It was suggested that there was an opportunity to improve the interface between
learning disabilities and the low secure mental health services which were
currently commissioned by NHS England.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the development of the Better Care Together Learning Disabilities
workstream Steering Group as the Transforming Care Partnership be approved;
(b) That the plans described to implement Building the Right Support be supported.
256. Delayed Transfers of Care.
The Board considered a report from the Director of Adults and Communities and Director
of Health and Care Integration which set out the local improvements that had been made
over the last twelve months to reduce delayed bed days in hospital and advised of new
national guidance for Delayed Transfers of Care and the eight high impact changes
recommended to reduce these. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 11’ is filed
with these minutes.
The Board welcomed the progress that had been made to reduce Delayed Transfers of
Care during 2015 and in particular the system wide approach to addressing this issue. It
was noted that other areas of the country have expressed interest in learning about the
approach that had been taken.
RESOLVED:
(a) That the follow up actions for the new Delayed Transfers of Care guidance as
proposed by the Integration Executive and set out in paragraph 27 of the report be
supported;
(b) That the outputs of the local self-assessment against the eight high impact
changes for Delayed Transfers of Care be submitted to the Health and Wellbeing
Board in March 2016;
(c) That, following the self-assessment, any remaining gaps be prioritised to ensure
that good performance is sustained for 2016/17;

9
(d) That all partners be encouraged to review refreshed joint commissioning plans for
2016/17, including the refreshed Better Care Fund Plan, to seek assurance that:(i) Delayed Transfer of Care interventions and investments can be sustained
in 2016/17;
(ii) Discharge support is in place to maximise performance on a seven day
basis, in line with the national conditions within the Better Care Fund.
257. Community Conversations.
The Board considered a report of Healthwatch Leicestershire which presented the
findings of its Community Conversations Campaign that saw it listen to members of the
public at various locations across the county. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item
12’ is filed with these minutes.
East Leicestershire and Rutland Clinical Commissioning Group indicated that it would
undertake some work to investigate why a number of respondents in their area were not
comfortable with their information being shared with other appropriate health
professionals.
RESOLVED:
That the report findings be noted and partners be encouraged to consider actions for
improvement outlined in the findings report.
258. BCF Quarter 2 (June - September) Submission for Assurance.
The Board considered a report of the Director of Health and Care Integration which
provided assurance on the quarterly reporting requirements for the Better Care Fund
including the pay for performance element of the fund, which was linked to achieving
reductions in emergency admissions. A copy of the report marked ‘Agenda Item 13’ is
filed with these minutes.
RESOLVED:
That it be noted that the third quarterly return was approved by the Integration Executive
on 24 November 2015 and submitted to NHS England on 27 November 2015.
259. Date of next meeting.
The next meeting of the Board would take place on 10 March 2016 at 2.00pm.

2.00 - 3.20 pm
07 January 2016

CHAIRMAN

10

This page is intentionally left blank

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

Date

162(b)

22/01/15

176(e)

12/03/15

190(a)

14/05/15

190(b)

14/05/15

206(b)

16/07/15

209(c)

16/07/15

216(b)

17/09/15

219(d)

17/09/15

Action

Responsible
Officer
Submit updates on work to progress the Special Gill Weston
Educational Needs and Disabilities reforms to
each meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board
until March 2016.
The Director of Public Health to establish a
Mike Sandys
formal relationship with NHS England for
developing the commissioning plans for
pharmaceutical services.
Jim Bosworth
Submit further reports to the Health and
Wellbeing Board biannually, with the first report
in September 2015, to provide assurance on the
implementation and impact of the mental health
policy changes and associated investment,
demonstrating how the investment has improved
parity of esteem
Commissioners to seek support from
Jim Bosworth
Healthwatch Leicestershire in assessing the
impact of the additional investment in mental
health from the public’s perspective.
Refer the findings of the Quick Poll Survey
Vandna Gohil
regarding GP services to the Clinical
Commissioning Groups for consideration.
Submit a report to a future meeting of the Board Toby Sanders/
on access to GP services.
Karen English
Submit a report on progresswith the CAMHS
Lesley Hagger
workstream to the next meeting of the Health
and Wellbeing Board.
Circulate the Healthwatch signposting directory Vandna Gohil
to members of the Board.

Comments

Status

Reports scheduled for all future Board meetings until GREEN
March 2016

A request has been sent to NHS England but a
response has not yet been received.

AMBER

Parity of esteem is being considered by the
GREEN
Integration Executive in February and a report will be
submitted to the Health and Wellbeing Board in
March.

The report following consideration by the Integration GREEN
Executive in December (item 190(a) refers) will reflect
this.
The raw data has been sent to the CCGs for
consideration

11

No.

GREEN

Report scheduled for the meeting of the Health and GREEN
Wellbeing Board in March 2016
Report is now scheduled for the meeting of the Health GREEN
and Wellbeing Board in January 2016
The Directories are not available as yet - the
publishers have advised that they are awaiting input
from CCGs. HW will distribute copies once it
receives them.

AMBER

1

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.
229(b)

230(d)

231(b)

237
251(b)

252(e)

253(a)
254(e)

Action

Responsible
Officer
19/11/15 Ask the Clinical Senate to consider the inclusion Sarah Hughes
of Personal Health Budgets and Independent
Personal Commissioning in its 2016/17 business
plan.
19/11/15 Asl Healthwatch to undertake a Quick Poll
Vandna Gohil
relating to palliative care to feed into Dying
Matters week in May 2016.
Jon Wilson
19/11/15 Share the documents underpinning the Adult
Social Care Strategy with the Health and
Wellbeing Board at an early stage.

19/11/15 Refer the findings of the Dentistry Quick Poll to
NHS England for consideration.
07/01/16 That any comments on the Better Care Fund
refresh materials presented be submitted to
Cheryl Davenport before the end of January
2016.
07/01/16 Hold a development session in March to
consider the prioritisation of issues for the Joint
Health and Wellbeing Strategy once the
mapping exercise is complete.

Trish Thompson
All

Comments

Status

Sarah Hughes has contacted Dr Hilary Fox, the
clinical lead for this work to follow up this request

GREEN

Request has been forwarded to Healthwatch

GREEN

The Adult Social Care Commissioning Strategy and
Market Position Statement was considered by the
County Council's Cabinet in February and submitted
to the Health and Wellbeing Board in March for
information.
This was considered by NHS England in January
2016.
No comments were received.

GREEN

GREEN
GREEN

12

252(c)

Date

Jackie Mould

07/01/16 Submit regular progress reports from the
Jackie Mould
JSNA/JHWS Steering Board on the
development of the strategy to the Board.
07/01/16 Approve the Health and Wellbeing Board Annual Janine Dellar
Report for publication
Lesley Hagger
07/01/16 Receive progress reports on the CAMHS
Transformation Plan, including performance
information with regard to the outcomes
framework on a quarterly basis.

The Health and Wellbeing Board Development
GREEN
Session will take place in June following engagement
with individual members of the Health and Wellbeing
Board s to confirm and challenge the shortlist of
priorities.
The first progress report is scheduled for the Board
GREEN
meeting in May 2016.
The annual report has now been published on LSR
Online
First progress report is scheduled for the Board
meeting in May 2016.

GREEN
GREEN

2

Health and Wellbeing Board Action Log

No.
256(b)

256(d)

Date

Action

Responsible
Officer
07/01/16 Submit the outputs of the local self-assessment Jon Wilson
against the eight high impact changes for
Delayed Transfers of Care to the Health and
Wellbeing Board in March 2016.
07/01/16 That all partners be encouraged to review
All
refreshed joint commissioning plans for 2016/17,
including the refreshed Better Care Fund Plan,
to seek assurance that:(i) Delayed Transfer of Care interventions and
investments can be sustained in 2016/17;
(ii) Discharge support is in place to maximise
performance on a seven day basis, in line with
the national conditions within the Better Care
Fund.

Comments

Status

Report is scheduled for the Board meeting in March
2016.

GREEN

The refreshed joint commissioning plans for 2016/17 GREEN
have been reviewed by partners.

13
3

14

This page is intentionally left blank

15

Agenda Item 5

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
BETTER CARE FUND REFRESH 2016/17 OVERVIEW
Purpose of Report
1. The purpose of this paper is to provide assurance on the work in progress to refresh
the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan for Leicestershire, including the refreshed spending
plan, metrics, and narrative so that the plan can be approved by local partners and
assured by NHS England in line with the national timetable
Policy Framework and Previous decisions
2. The previous BCF Plan for Leicestershire was approved by the Health and Wellbeing
Board in September 2014.
(http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=3984&Ver=4)
Current Position
3. The delayed Annex 4 national technical guidance for the BCF was released on the
23rd February – see https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/annex4-bcf-planning-requirements-1617.pdf
4. The guidance confirmed that for areas who have not achieved their target for
reduction in emergency admissions during 2015/16 there is an expectation that a risk
pool will operate within the 2016/17 BCF plan.
5. The guidance gave further information on the expectations of BCF plans in relation to
a. action plans to improve delayed transfers of care;
b. how the BCF spending plan should account for spend on NHS out of hospital
services, as well as adult social care protected services.
6. National conditions are in place as before e.g. covering 7 day services, integrated
data using the NHS number, having an accountable professional for case
management and the requirement to have plans agreed by partners including acute
providers.
7. National BCF metrics have remained the same for 2016/17. For the patient
experience metric we will continue to use the same question from the GP patient
survey relating to Long Term Conditions, and we will also continue with the same
local BCF metric for Leicestershire which is “reducing the number of emergency
admissions due to falls”.
8. The milestones for the submission of the BCF plan through NHS England have been
revised due to the late publication of the guidance. The main milestones are:

16

•

2nd March –submission of BCF planning return template, which details
refreshed funding contributions, an initial scheme level spending plan,
refreshed metrics and confirmation of local risk pool agreements.

•

21st March – first submission of the full narrative plans for BCF plan, and a
second submission of the BCF planning return template.

•

25th April – Final submission, with confirmation of approval of the local Health
and Wellbeing Board.

9. During March and April assurance of BCF plans will take place with feedback
provided from NHSE and Local Government panels operating regionally. Assurance
will be assessed in two ways as follows:
a. How the plan addresses the funding requirements, national conditions and
metrics
b. Risks to delivery of the plan in the context of the local health and care
economy.
The outputs of the assurance process will result in plans being rated either Approved,
Approved with Support or Not Approved, and a national moderation process will be in
place.
Draft Narrative for BCF Plan Refresh
10. Although there is no national template for the BCF narrative, the expectation is this
should be a brief narrative overview of the refreshed plan, demonstrating how the
national conditions and metrics for the BCF will be achieved in 2016/17 with
assurance on how plans have been co –produced and approved by al partners,
ultimately via the Health and Wellbeing Board.
11. A draft narrative is being prepared in readiness for the submission on March 21st.
Some of the text from the early draft has already been reflected in the CCG operating
plan submission.
First Cut Spending Plan for BCF Refresh
12. Leicestershire’s BCF allocation for 2016/17 has been confirmed as £39.1m, an
increase of £0.8m (2%) from 2015/16.
13. An initial refreshed spending plan has been developed through co-production across
partners. Evaluation work across the BCF plan to inform the spending refresh was led
by the BCF Operational Group, with recommendations reported to the Integration
Executive between December and February.
14. The spending plan has been refined further during February between Leicestershire
County Council, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG and West Leicestershire CCG
so that the initial BCF submission made on 2nd March demonstrates a balanced plan.
15. As mentioned above, the technical guidance includes a section on risk pool
arrangements. It states that where local partners recognise a significant degree of risk
associated with the delivery of their 2016/17 plan, for example where emergency
admission reductions targets were not met in 2015/16, it is expected local areas will
consider a risk pool.

17

16. On 26th February 2016 LCC and CCG representatives met to consider the spending
plan refresh including the trajectories for the BCF schemes for admissions avoidance,
the level of assurance on delivery of these schemes, and the level of investment
being made in the schemes.
17. The outcome of this meeting was a recommendation of a £1m risk pool for 2016/17,
based on a target of 1,750 admissions being avoided through the emergency
admissions avoidance components of the 2016/17 BCF plan.
18. The refreshed spending plan includes a number of additional investments that have
been proposed and prioritised between partners. These include for example bringing
the acute visiting service into the BCF plan with effect from 2016 as a key component
of the local delivery of 7 day urgent care services in primary care.
19. Work is in progress with the CCGs to ensure that relevant BCF schemes are captured
in CCG commissioning intentions and that schemes are contractualised with
specification and are reflected consistently in CCG operating plans, including QIPP
plans where applicable.
20. The work to refresh the BCF plan has generated a number of actions to be followed
up in the course of 2016/17. This work will be led by the BCF Operational Group.
21. The attached BCF Submission Template at Appendix 1 was submitted to NHSE on
March 2nd and reflects the scheme level breakdown of the 2016/17 BCF, based on the
refresh undertaken to date including the financial refresh.
Summary of Metrics and Trajectories for the 2016/17 BCF Plan
22. Metric 1 - Long-term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by
admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population. The target
for 2016/17 has been set at 630.1 per 100,000, based on the 2015/16 target of 670.4
per 100,000, and a 90% confidence level that the trajectory is decreasing. Current
performance is on track to achieve the target for 2015/16.
23. Metric 2 - Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days
after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services. The target for
2016/17 has been set at 84.2%, based on the expected level of 82.6% being
achieved in 2015/16 and a 75% confidence interval that the trajectory is increasing.
The lower confidence interval has been chosen to ensure that the target is realistic
and achievable. Performance is currently on track to almost meet the 2015/16 target
of 82.0%.
24. Metric 3 - Delayed Transfers of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000
population (aged 18+). Work on setting this target is still ongoing. Recent reductions
in delays have focussed on interventions in the acute sector, and analysis is being
finalised to assess the proportion of our delays in non-acute sites and set a realistic
achievable target to reduce these. At present the analysis suggests a 0.5%
improvement may be applied to non-acute delays. This will be confirmed in due
course.
25. Metric 4 – Total non-elective admissions into hospital (general and acute) per 100,000
population. The proposed target for 2016/17 is 750.2 per 100,000 per month, based
on a 3% reduction on CCG plans submitted to Unify 2. This equates to no more than

18

60,759 admissions in 2016/17. This assumption will need to be aligned with final CCG
operational plan targets.
26. Metric 5 – Patient/service user experience. Patients are asked, in the GP survey, if
they are satisfied with support to manage long term health conditions. It is proposed
to set this target at 63.5% for 2016/17 (data will be released in July 2017). This is
based on the 2015/16 target (data due for release July 2016) and a 2% increase in
the number of positive replies. Current performance of 61.6% (January 2016) is below
the England average of 63%.
27. Metric 6 – Emergency admissions for injuries due to falls in people aged 65 and over,
per 100,000 population. It is proposed that this target is set at 139.7 per month, based
on the figures for 2014/15 (released February 2016) and the revised target for
2015/16 and a 90% confidence level of a decreasing trajectory. The latest published
data (2014/15) shows Leicestershire as having a directly standardised rate
significantly better than the England average. Please also note the following with
reference to the emergency admissions metric
a. Refreshed trajectories have been developed for the emergency admissions
avoidance schemes implemented in 2015/16 based on learning to date.
b. The assumptions for the existing schemes are that only uplifted activity
achieved in 2016/17 will count towards the trajectory
c. Trajectories have been developed for any new admissions avoidance scheme
for 2016/17 for example the new Glenfield scheme.
d. The current estimation is approximately 1,750 avoided admissions for 2016/17
are to be achieved through the BCF
e. This assumption will be reflected in CCG operating plans, apportioned by CCG
by scheme.
The metrics and trajectories information noted above has been reflected in the attached
BCF Submission Template (Appendix 1) which was submitted to NHSE on March 2nd.
Next Steps
28. Following the release of the technical guidance, the draft narrative plan is being
reviewed and finalised to ensure that it meets with all the requirements.
29. In line with usual practice (and the Health and Wellbeing Board and Integration
Executive TORs), final edits including feedback from the Health and Wellbeing Board,
feedback from NHSE assurance reviews, and any other actions needed in order to
complete the final BCF submissions in March and April will be undertaken by the
Integration Executive.
30. The final BCF submission will be quality assured at the Integration Executive meeting
on 29th March.
Recommendation
31. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:(a) note the BCF refresh update report; and
(b) approve the spending plan and metrics as set out in the initial submission to
NHS England.

19

Officer to contact:
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
0116 305 4212/ 07770 281610
cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to equality impact assessment and
the evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to
Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.

Partnership Working and associated issues
2.

The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget
is managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers
in Leicestershire.

3.

Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board.

4.

The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being
implemented through the 5 year plan to transform health and care in Leicestershire,
known as Better Care Together. http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/.

20

This page is intentionally left blank

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Better Care Fund 2016-17 Planning Template
Sheet: 1. Cover Sheet

The cover sheet provides essential information on the area for which the template is being completed, contacts and sign off. The selection of your Health and Wellbeing
Board (HWB) on this sheet also then ensures that the correct data is prepopulated through the rest of the template.
On the cover sheet please enter the following information:
- The Health and Wellbeing Board;
- The name of the lead contact who has completed the report, with their email address and contact number for use in resolving any queries regarding the return;
- The name of the lead officer who has signed off the report on behalf of the CCGs and Local Authority in the HWB area. Question completion tracks the number of
questions that have been completed, when all the questions in each section of the template have been completed the cell will turn green. Only when all 6 cells are
green should the template be sent to england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net
Health and Well Being Board

Leicestershire

3
E-Mail:

Cheryl.Davenport@leics.gov.uk
4
0116 3054212

Contact Number:

5
Cllr E White

Who has signed off the report on behalf of the Health and Well Being Board:

Question Completion - when all questions have been answered and the validation boxes below have turned green you should send the template to
england.bettercaresupport@nhs.net saving the file as 'Name HWB' for example 'County Durham HWB'

1. Cover
2. Summary and confirmations
3. HWB Funding Sources
4. HWB Expenditure Plan
5. HWB Metrics
6. National Conditions

No. of questions
answered
5
3
13
13
34
16

21

2
Cheryl Davenport

completed by:

22
Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 2. Summary of Health and Well-Being Board 2016/17 Planning Template
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
2. Summary and confirmations

This sheet summarises information provided on sheets 2 to 6, and allows for confirmation of the amount of funding identified for supporting social care and any funds ring-fenced as part of risk sharing arrangement. To do this, there are 2
cells where data can be input.
On this tab please enter the following information:
- In cell E37 ,please confirm the amount allocated for ongoing support for adult social care. This may differ from the summary of HWB expenditure on social care which has been calculated from information provided in the 'HWB Expenditure
Plan' tab. If this is the case then cell F37 will turn yellow. Please use this to indicate the reason for any variance;
- In cell F47 please indicate the total value of funding held as a contingency as part of local risk share, if one if being put in place. For guidance on instances when this may be appropriate please consult the full BCF Planning Requirements
document. Cell F44 shows the HWB share of the national £1bn that is to be used as set out in national condition vii. Cell F45 shows the value of investment in NHS Commissioned Out of Hospital Services, as calculated from the 'HWB
Expenditure Plan' tab. Cell F49 will show any potential shortfall in meeting the financial requirements of the condition. The rest of this tab will be populated from the information provided elsewhere within the template, and provides a useful
printable summary of the return.
3. HWB Funding Sources
Gross Contribution

Total Local Authority Contribution
Total Minimum CCG Contribution
Total Additional CCG Contribution
Total BCF pooled budget for 2016-17

Specific funding requirements for 2016-17
1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant, and
arrangements in place for the transfer of funds to the local housing authority?
2. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the
implementation of the new Care Act duties has been identified?
3. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific
support from within the BCF pool?
4. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG
contribution to the fund is being used?

£3,067,448
£36,036,517
£0
£39,103,965
Select a response to
the questions in
column B

No - in development
Yes
Yes
Yes

4. HWB Expenditure Plan
Summary of BCF Expenditure
Expenditure
Acute
Mental Health
Community Health
Continuing Care
Primary Care
Social Care
Other
Total

£78,000
£0
£12,035,700
£326,000
£1,901,000
£22,910,305
£1,852,960
£39,103,965

12
13
Please confirm the amount allocated for the
protection of adult social care
If the figure in cell E37 differs to the figure in cell
Expenditure
C37, please indicate the reason for the variance.
£17,025,927

Additional investment has been made above and beyond protection of social care services in schemes that have been specifically designed to avoid acute secto

BCF revenue funding from CCGs ring-fenced for NHS out of hospital commissioned
services/risk share
14
Fund
Local share of ring-fenced funding
£10,240,556

Summary of NHS Commissioned out of hospital services spend from MINIMUM BCF Pool
Expenditure
Mental Health

£0

Community Health

Total value of NHS commissioned out of
hospital services spend from minimum pool

£12,035,700

Continuing Care

£13,936,700

£0

Primary Care

Total value of funding held as contingency
as part of local risk share to ensure value to
the NHS

£1,901,000

Social Care
Other
Total

£0
£0
£13,936,700

£0

Balance (+/-)

£3,696,144

5. HWB Metrics
5.1 HWB NEA Activity Plan
Q1

Q2

Total HWB Planned Non-Elective Admissions
HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure
HWB NEA Plan (after reduction)
Additional NEA reduction delivered through the BCF

15,387
427
14,960
£636,230

Q3
15,862
440
15,422
£655,600

Q4
15,623
433
15,190
£645,170

Total
15,620
433
15,187
£645,170

62,492
1,733
60,759
£2,582,170

5.2 Residential Admissions
Planned 16/17
Long-term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by admission to
residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population

Annual rate

630.1

5.3 Reablement
Planned 16/17
Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing
care homes, per 100,000 population
Annual %

84%

5.4 Delayed Transfers of Care

Delayed Transfers of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population
(aged 18+).

Quarterly rate

Q1 (Apr 16 - Jun 16)

Q2 (Jul 16 - Sep 16)
714.0

5.5 Local performance metric (as described in your approved BCF plan / Q1 return)
Metric Value
Planned 16/17

Injuries due to falls in people ages 65 and over

1676.136364

5.6 Local defined patient experience metric (as described in your approved BCF plan / Q1 return)

some extent" to Q32 in the GP Patient Survey
- Denominator: Number of patients giving a responce to Q32 of the GP Patient
Survey

Metric Value
Planned 16/17

63.46787479

6. National Conditions

National Conditions For The Better Care Fund 2016-17
1) Plans to be jointly agreed
2) Maintain provision of social care services (not spending)

Please Select (Yes,
No or No - plan in
place)
No - in development
Yes

3) Agreement for the delivery of 7-day services across health and social care to
prevent unnecessary non-elective admissions to acute settings and to facilitate
transfer to alternative care settings when clinically appropriate

No - in development

4) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the NHS number
5) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning and ensure that, where
funding is used for integrated packages of care, there will be an accountable
professional
6) Agreement on the consequential impact of the changes on the providers that are
predicted to be substantially affected by the plans
7) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services
8) Agreement on a local target for Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) and develop a
joint local action plan

Yes

Yes
No - in development
Yes
Yes

699.7

Q3 (Oct 16 - Dec 16)
Q4 (Jan 17 - Mar 17)
647.7
662.1

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 3. Health and Well-Being Board Funding Sources
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
3. HWB Funding Sources

This sheet should be used to set out all funding contributions to the Health and Wellbeing Board's Better Care Fund plan and pooled budget for 2016-17. It will be pre-populated with the minimum CCG contributions to the Fund in 2016/17, as confirmed
within the BCF Allocations spreadsheet. https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

These cannot be changed. The sheet also requests a number of confirmations in regard to the funding that is made available through the BCF for specific purposes.
On this tab please enter the following information:
- Please use rows 16-25 to detail Local Authority funding contributions by selecting the relevant authorities and then entering the values of the contributions in column C. This should include all mandatory transfers made via local authorities, as set out in the
BCF Allocations spreadsheet, and any additional local authority contributions. There is a comment box in column E to detail how contributions are made up or to allow contributions from an LA to split by funding source or purpose if helpful. Please note, only
contributions assigned to a Local Authority will be included in the 'Total Local Authority Contribution' figure.
- Please use cell C42 to indicate whether any additional CCG contributions are being made. If 'Yes' is selected then rows 45 to 54 will turn yellow and can be used to detail all additional CCG contributions to the fund by selecting the CCG from the drop down
boxes in column B and enter the values of the contributions in column C. There is a comment box in column E to detail how contributions are made up or any other useful information relating to the contribution. Please note, only contributions assigned to an
additional CCG will be included in the 'Total Additional CCG Contribution' figure. - Cell C57 then calculates the total funding for the Health and Wellbeing Board, with a comparison to the 2015-16 funding levels set out below. - Please use the comment box
in cell B61 to add any further narrative around your funding contributions for 2016-17, for example to set out the driver behind any change in the amount being pooled.The final section on this sheet then sets out four specific funding requirements and
requests confirmation as to the progress made in agreeing how these are being met locally - by selecting either 'Yes', 'No' or 'No - in development' in response to each question. 'Yes' should be used when the funding requirement has been met. 'No - in
development' should be used when the requirement is not currently agreed but a plan is in development to meet this through the development of your BCF plan for 2016-17. 'No' should be used to indicate that there is currently no agreement in place for
meeting this funding requirement and this is unlikely to be agreed before the plan is finalised.
- Please use column C to respond to the question from the dropdown options;
- Please detail in the comments box in row D issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the funding requirement, or any other relevant information.
18
19
20
Comments - please use this box clarify any specific uses or sources of funding
Local Authority Contribution(s)
Gross Contribution
DFG Allocation
Leicestershire
£3,067,448
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
<Please Select Local Authority>
Total Local Authority Contribution
£3,067,448
Gross Contribution
£15,559,591
£20,476,926

23

CCG Minimum Contribution
0 NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
1 NHS West Leicestershire CCG
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
Total Minimum CCG Contribution

£36,036,517
18

Are any additional CCG Contributions being made? If yes please detail below;

No
22

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9

Additional CCG Contribution
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
<Please Select CCG>
Total Additional CCG Contribution

23

24
Comments - please use this box clarify any specific uses or sources of funding

Gross Contribution

£0

Total BCF pooled budget for 2016-17

£39,103,965

22
Funding Contributions Narrative
In addition to the minimum CCG and Local Authority contributions, the Local Authority also holds a reserve for health and social care integration. Within this reserve a specific contingency is being held as a risk pool for under achievement in the reduction of
non elective admissions.

The final section on this sheet then sets out four specific funding requirements and requests confirmation as to the progress made in agreeing how these are being met locally - by selecting either 'Yes', 'No' or 'No - in development' in response to each
question. 'Yes' should be used when the funding requirement has been met. 'No - in development' should be used when the requirement is not currently agreed but a plan is in development to meet this through the development of your BCF plan for 2016-17.
'No' should be used to indicate that there is currently no agreement in place for meeting this funding requirement and this is unlikely to be agreed before the plan is finalised.
- Please use column C to respond to the question from the dropdown options;
- Please detail in the comments box in row D issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the funding requirement, or any other relevant information.

Specific funding requirements for 2016-17
1. Is there agreement about the use of the Disabled Facilities Grant, and arrangements in
place for the transfer of funds to the local housing authority?
2. Is there agreement that at least the local proportion of the £138m for the
implementation of the new Care Act duties has been identified?
3. Is there agreement on the amount of funding that will be dedicated to carer-specific
support from within the BCF pool?
4. Is there agreement on how funding for reablement included within the CCG
contribution to the fund is being used?

Select a response to
the questions in
column B
No - in development
Yes
Yes
Yes

Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition, or any other relevant
information.
Communication is ongoing with District Council colleagues over the use and transfer of the Disabled Facilities Grant
23
24
25
26

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 4. Health and Well-Being Board Expenditure Plan
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
4. HWB Expenditure Plan
This sheet should be used to set out the full BCF scheme level spending plan. The table is set out to capture a range of information about how schemes are being funded and the types of services they are providing, which is required to demonstrate how the national policy framework is being achieved. Where a scheme has multiple funding sources this can be indicated and split out, but there may still be instances when several lines need to be
completed in order to fully describe a single scheme. In this case please use the scheme name column to indicate this.
On this tab please enter the following information:
- Enter a scheme name in column B;
- Select the scheme type in column C from the dropdown menu (descriptions of each are located in cells B71 - C78); if the scheme type is not adequately described by one of the dropdown options please choose 'other' and give further explanation in column D;
- Select the area of spending the scheme is directed at using from the dropdown menu in column E; if the area of spending is not adequately described by one of the dropdown options please choose 'other' and give further explanation in column F;
- Select the commissioner and provider for the scheme using the dropdown menu in columns G and J, noting that if a scheme has more than one provider or commissioner, you should complete one row for each. For example, if both the CCG and the local authority will contract with a third party to provide a joint service, there would be two lines for the scheme: one for the CCG commissioning from the third party and one for the local authority
commissioning from the third party;
- In Column K please state where the expenditure is being funded from. If this falls across multiple funding streams please enter the scheme across multiple lines;
- Complete column L to give the planned spending on the scheme in 2016/17;
- Please use column M to indicate whether this is a new or existing scheme.
- Please use column N to state the total 15-16 expenditure (if existing scheme) This is the only detailed information on BCF schemes being collected centrally for 2016-17 but it is expected that detailed scheme level plans will continue to be developed locally.
34

35

36

37

38

39

40

41

42

43

44

45

46

Expenditure
Scheme Name
0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

First Contact Plus
Other
Care Act Support Pathway
Support for carers
Carers Health and Wellbeing Service
Support for carers
Specialist Support to People with Dementia & Carers (Memory Support
Personalised
Service)
support/ care at home
Local Area Co-ordination
Other
Assistive Technology
Assistive Technologies
Disabled Facilities Grants
Personalised support/ care at home
NHS - LD Short Breaks
Personalised support/ care at home
Social Care - Residential Respite Services
Personalised support/ care at home
Proactive Care Model (WLCCG)
Integrated care teams
Integrated Care Team (ELRCCG)
Integrated care teams
Improving Quality in Care Homes
Other
Social Care - Nursing care packages
Other
Social Care - Home Care Services
Personalised support/ care at home
Health and Social Care Protocol Training
Other
Integrated Crisis Response -Night Nursing
Personalised support/ care at home
Integrated Crisis Response - Social Care
Personalised support/ care at home
Integrated Crisis Response - Social Care
Personalised support/ care at home

Loughborough Frail Older People's Unit
Loughbourough Urgent Care Centre
Integrated Community Health

21 Care Home Support (Pressure Sores)
22 ANPs Physical Health Assessment (MHSOP Patients)

37
38
39
40
41
42
43
44
45
46
47
48
49

Intermediate care services
Intermediate care services
Intermediate care services
Improving healthcare services
to care homes
Intermediate care services
Improving healthcare services
to care homes
7 day working
Other
Reablement services
Other
Intermediate care services
Reablement services
Intermediate care services
Other
Intermediate care services
Intermediate care services
Other
Other
Reablement services

Area of Spend

Social Care
Social Care
Social Care
Social Care
Early Intervention & Prevention
Social Care
Social Care
Other
Community Health
Social Care
Community Health
Social Care
Improving social care in care homes Social Care
Provision of nursing care in care homes
Social Care
Social Care
Training
Social Care

Please specify if 'Area of Spend'
is 'other'

Early Intervention & Prevention

Commissioner

if Joint % NHS

if Joint % LA

Provider

Source of Funding

2016/17 Expenditure (£)

Community Health
Community Health
Community Health

Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
CCG
Local Authority
CCG
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
CCG
Local Authority
Local Authority
CCG
CCG
CCG

Local Authority
Local Authority
Charity/Voluntary Sector
Charity/Voluntary Sector
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
NHS Community Provider
Private Sector
NHS Community Provider
Local Authority
Local Authority
Private Sector
Private Sector
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider
Local Authority
Local Authority
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider

CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
Local Authority Social Services
Local Authority Social Services
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
Local Authority Social Services
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution

Community Health

CCG

NHS Community Provider

CCG Minimum Contribution

£75,000 Existing

Community Health

CCG

NHS Community Provider

CCG Minimum Contribution

£77,000 Existing

CCG
CCG
CCG
Local Authority
Local Authority
CCG
CCG
CCG
Local Authority
CCG
CCG
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority

NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider

CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution

£82,000
£750,000
£78,000
£163,000
£72,000
£580,000
£4,132,000
£1,821,000
£271,589
£529,000
£392,000
£1,640,000
£454,467
£326,000

Existing
Existing
New
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
New
New

Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority

Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority

CCG
CCG

Charity/Voluntary Sector
NHS Community Provider

Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority

Local Authority
Local Authority
Local Authority

CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution
CCG Minimum Contribution

£85,400
£376,569
£97,748
£76,000
£1,151,000
£397,700
£100,000
£113,960
£250,000
£300,000
£238,727

New
Existing
Existing
Existing
New
New
New
Existing
New
New
New

Housing

Community Health
Social Care
Social Care

Community Health
Care Home and Community Inreach Support (MH)
7 Day Services in Primary Care
Primary Care
Ambulatory Care on CDU - Glenfield Hospital
Ambulatory Care
Acute
Residential Reablement
Social Care
Hospital to Home
Hospital Discharge Services
Social Care
Intermediate Care
Community Health
NHS - Reablement
Community Health
NHS - Intensive Community Service
Community Health
Improving Mental Health Discharge:
Hospital Discharge Services
Social Care
NHS - Step Down
Community Health
NHS - Assertive InReach
Community Health
Social Care - Assessment and Review
Social Care
Social Care Assessment & Care Management
Help to Live at Home: Assessment & Back Office
Assessment and Care Management Social Care
Help to Live at Home: Reablement Costs
Continuing Care
Hospital Discharge Pathways - Non Weight Bearing
(Pathway 3)
Other
Social Care
Hospital Discharge Services
Programme Support & Enablers
Other
Programme Support & Enablers
Social Care
Care Act Enablers
Other
Advocacy
Social Care
Other
Social Care
IT Enablers
IT
Acute Visiting Service
Personalised support/ care at home
Primary Care
LTC Admission avoidance QIPP investments
Personalised support/ care at home
Community Health
Supporting Leicestershire Families
Personalised support/ care at home
Social Care
Housing Discharge Enablers
Other
Hospital Discharge Services
Other
DST review workers
Intermediate care services
Social Care
Social Care Protection - growth in community based services
Personalised support/ care at home
Social Care
Social Care Protection - growth in nursing care home places
Other
Provision of nursing care in care homes
Social Care

Housing

Scheme Type

Description

Reablement services

The development of support networks to maintain the patient at home independently or through appropriate interventions delivered in the community setting. Improved independence, avoids
admissions, reduces need for home care packages.

Personalised support/ care at home

Schemes specifically designed to ensure that the patient can be supported at home instead of admission to hospital or to a care home. May promote self management/expert patient, establishment
of ‘home ward’ for intensive period or to deliver support over the longer term. Admission avoidance, re-admission avoidance.

Intermediate care services

Community based services 24x7. Step-up and step-down. Requirement for more advanced nursing care. Admissions avoidance, early discharge.

Integrated care teams

Improving outcomes for patients by developing multi-disciplinary health and social care teams based in the community. Co-ordinated and proactive management of individual cases. Improved
independence, reduction in hospital admissions.

Improving healthcare services to care homes

Improve the quality of primary and community health services delivered to care home residents. To improve the consistency and quality of healthcare outcomes for care home residents. Support
Care Home workers to improve the delivery of non essential healthcare skills. Admission avoidance, re-admission avoidance.

Support for carers

Supporting people so they can continue in their roles as carers and avoiding hospital admissions. Advice, advocacy, information, assessment, emotional and physical support, training, access to
services to support wellbeing and improve independence. Admission avoidance

7 day working

Seven day working across health and/or social care settings. Reablement and avoids admissions

Assistive Technologies

Supportive technologies for self management and telehealth. Admission avoidance and improves quality of care

NHS Acute Provider
Private Sector
Charity/Voluntary Sector
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider
Local Authority
NHS Community Provider
NHS Community Provider
Local Authority
Local Authority

Private Sector

Private Sector
Private Sector

£163,216
£450,000
£165,000
£318,673
£290,000
£950,200
£1,739,000
£844,000
£742,600
£540,000
£430,000
£503,200

New or Existing Scheme

£3,360,600
£10,744,000
£102,316
£1,113,000
£186,800
£378,200
£500,000
£390,000
£563,000

Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing
Existing

Total 15-16 Expenditure (£) (if
existing scheme)
£161,600
£606,000
£165,000
£318,700
£208,000
£950,000
£1,739,000
£844,000 OoH
£742,600
£540,000 OoH
£443,000
£501,300

£3,360,600
£10,744,000
£102,000
£1,113,000 OoH
£596,000

£0
£500,000 OoH
£390,000 OoH
£563,000 OoH
£75,000 OoH
£77,000 OoH
£82,000 OoH
£750,000 OoH
£262,000

£72,000
£580,000 OoH
£4,132,000 OoH
£1,821,000 OoH
£260,700

£529,000 OoH
£392,000 OoH
£1,640,000

£377,000
£102,400
£124,000
OoH
OoH
£19,000

24

23
24
25
26
27
28
29
30
31
32
33
34
35
36

Scheme Type (see table below Please specify if 'Scheme Type'
for descriptions)
is 'other'

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 5. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund Metrics
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
5. HWB Metrics

This sheet should be used to set out the Health and Wellbeing Board's performance plans for each of the Better Care Fund metrics in 2016-17. This should build on planned and actual performance on these metrics in 2015-16. The BCF requires plans to be set for 4 nationally defined metrics and 2 locally defined metrics. The non-elective admissions metric section is prepopulated with activity data from CCG Operating Plan submissions for all contributing CCGs, which has then been mapped to the HWB footprint to provide a default HWB level NEA activity plan for 2016-17. There is then the option to adjust this by indicating how many admissions can be avoided through the BCF plan, which are not already built into CCG operating plan
assumptions. Where it is decided to plan for an additional reduction in NEA activity through the BCF the option is also provided within the template to set out an associated risk sharing arrangement. Once CCG have made their second operating plan activity uploads via Unify this data will be populated into a second version of this template by the national team and sent back
in time for the second BCF submission. At this point Health and Wellbeing Boards will be able to amend, confirm, and comment on non-elective admission targets again based on the new data. The full specification and details around each of the six metrics is included in the BCF Planning Requirements document. Comments and instructions in the sheet should provide the
information required to complete the sheet.
Further information on how when reductions in Non-Elective Activity and associated risk sharing arrangements should be considered is set out within the BCF Planning Requirements document.

5.1 HWB NEA Activity Plan
- Please use cell E43 to confirm if you are planning on any additional quarterly reductions (Yes/No)
- If you have answered Yes in cell E43 then in cells G45, I45, K45 and M45 please enter the quarterly additional reduction figures for Q1 to Q4.
- In cell E49 please confirm whether you are putting in place a local risk sharing agreement (Yes/No)
- In cell E54 please confirm or amend the cost of a non elective admission. This is used to calculate a risk share fund, using the quarterly additional reduction figures.
- Please use cell F54 to provide a reason for any adjustments to the cost of NEA for 16/17 (if necessary)
3

47

0
1
2
3
4
5
6
7
8
9
10
11
12
13
14
15
16
17
18
19
20

Contributing CCGs
NHS Corby CCG
NHS East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
NHS Leicester City CCG
NHS Rushcliffe CCG
NHS South West Lincolnshire CCG
NHS Southern Derbyshire CCG
NHS Warwickshire North CCG
NHS West Leicestershire CCG

4

5

6

48
49
50
51
52
53
54
55
56
57
58
59
Quarter 1
Quarter 2
Quarter 3
Total (Q1 - Q4)
Quarter 4
% CCG registered
% Leicestershire resident CCG Total Nonpopulation that has
CCG Total NonCCG Total NonCCG Total NonCCG Total Nonresident population in population that is in CCG Elective Admission
HWB Non-Elective
Elective Admission
HWB Non-Elective
Elective Admission
HWB Non-Elective
Elective Admission
HWB Non-Elective
Elective Admission
HWB Non-Elective
registered population
Leicestershire
Plan*
Admission Plan**
Plan*
Admission Plan**
Plan*
Admission Plan**
Plan*
Admission Plan**
Plan*
Admission Plan**
0.6%
0.0%
1,793
12
1,914
12
1,988
13
1,899
12
7,594
49
85.3%
40.1%
7,312
6,236
7,543
6,433
7,427
6,334
7,429
6,336
29,711
25,340
7.5%
4.2%
9,564
721
9,868
744
9,716
732
9,721
733
38,869
2,929
5.4%
1.0%
2,301
123
2,301
123
2,193
118
2,229
120
9,024
484
5.7%
1.1%
2,833
162
2,864
164
2,864
164
2,802
160
11,363
649
0.6%
0.5%
13,052
83
12,928
82
13,464
86
13,162
84
52,606
335
1.6%
0.4%
4,399
70
4,448
71
4,448
71
4,352
69
17,647
280
96.2%
52.7%
8,294
7,981
8,556
8,233
8,424
8,106
8,425
8,107
33,699
32,426

Totals

100%

49,548

15,387

50,422

15,862

50,524

15,623

50,019

15,620

200,513

62,492

57

Are you planning on any additional quarterly reductions?
If yes, please complete HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figures
HWB Quarterly Additional Reduction Figure
HWB NEA Plan (after reduction)
HWB Quarterly Plan Reduction %

Yes
58

59

60

61

427
14,960
2.78%

440
15,422
2.77%

433
15,190
2.77%

433
15,187
2.77%

1,733
60,759
2.77%

62
Are you putting in place a local risk sharing agreement on NEA?

Yes

25

BCF revenue funding from CCGs ring-fenced for NHS out of hospital commissioned services/risk
share ***
Cost of NEA as used during 15/16 ****
Cost of NEA for 16/17 ****

£10,240,556
63
64
£1,490 Please add the reason, for any adjustments to the cost of NEA for 16/17 in the cell below.
£1,490 Please add comments on reasons for adjusting cost of NEA

Additional NEA reduction delivered through the BCF
£2,582,170
£636,230
£655,600
£645,170
£645,170
£2,582,170
HWB Plan Reduction %
2.77%
* This is taken from the latest CCG NEA plan figures included in the Unify2 planning template, aggregated to quarterly level
** This is calculated as the % contribution of each CCG to the HWB level plan, based on the CCG-HWB mapping (see CCG - HWB Mapping tab)
*** Within the sum subject to the condition on NHS out of hospital commissioned services/risk share, for any local area putting in place a risk share for 2016/17 as part of its BCF planning, we would expect the value of the risk share to be equal to the cost of the non-elective activity that the BCF plan seeks to avoid. Source of data: https://www.england.nhs.uk/wpcontent/uploads/2016/02/bcf-allocations-1617.xlsx
**** Please use the following document and amend the cost if necessary in cell E54. https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/477919/2014-15_Reference_costs_publication.pdf

5.2 Residential Admissions
- In cell G69 please enter your forecasted level of residential admissions for 2015-16. In cell H69 please enter your planned level of residential admissions for 2016-17. The actual rate for 14-15 and the planned rate for 15-16 are provided for comparison. Please add a commentary in column I to provide any useful information in relation to how you
have agreed this figure.
65

Actual 14/15*****
Annual rate
Numerator
Denominator

Long-term support needs of older people (aged 65 and over) met by
admission to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population

710.5
926
130,329

66

67

Comments
Planned 15/16*****
Forecast 15/16
Planned 16/17
670.4
669.6
630.1 Calculated using BCT statistical significance calculator, 90% confidence level and decreasing trajectory
898
897
865
133,952
133,952
137,280

*****Actual 14/15 & Planned 15/16 collected using the following definition - 'Permanent admissions of older people (aged 65 and over) to residential and nursing care homes, per 100,000 population'

5.3 Reablement

- Please use cells G82-83 (forecast for 15-16) and H82-83 (planned 16-17) to set out the proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services. By entering the denominator figure in cell G83/H83 (the planned total number of older people (65 and over)
discharged from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services) and the numerator figure in cell G82/H82 (the number from within that group still at home after 91 days) the proportion will be calculated for you in cell G81/H81. Please add a commentary in column I to provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.
68
70
69
71
72
Comments
Actual 14/15
Planned 15/16
Forecast 15/16
Planned 16/17
Annual %
83.8%
82.0%
82.6%
84.2% Calculated using BCT statistical significance calculator, 75% confidence level and increasing trajectory, based on current (January 2016) estimate of 2015/16
Proportion of older people (65 and over) who were still at home 91 days after
Numerator
285
491
347
379 data. This confidence level reflects the fact that a number of system changes are taking place in 2016/7 which impact on the delivery of the target.
discharge from hospital into reablement / rehabilitation services
Denominator
340
599
420
450

5.4 Delayed Transfers of Care
- Please use rows 93-95 (columns K-L for Q3-Q4 15-16 forecasts and columns M-P for 16-17 plans) to set out the Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000 population (aged 18+). The denominator figure in row 95 is pre-populated (population - aged 18+). The numerator figure in cells K94-P94 (the Delayed Transfers Of Care (delayed days) from hospital) needs entering. The rate will be calculated for you in cells K93-O93. Please add a commentary in column H to
provide any useful information in relation to how you have agreed this figure.
73

15-16 plans

Quarterly rate
Numerator
Denominator

Delayed Transfers of Care (delayed days) from hospital per 100,000
population (aged 18+).

74

15-16 actual (Q1 & Q2) and forecast (Q3 & Q4) figures

5.5 Local performance metric (as described in your approved BCF plan / Q1 return)
- Please use rows 105-107 to update information relating to your locally selected performance metric. The local performance metric set out in cell C105 has been taken from your 2015/16 approved BCF plan and 2015/16 Q1 return - these local metrics can be amended, as required.
81

84

82
83
Planned 15/16

80

Metric Value
Numerator
Denominator

Injuries due to falls in people ages 65 and over

85
86

87

Comments

Planned 16/17

1676.1 Calculated using BCT statistical significance calculator, 90% confidence level and decreasing trajectory
2301.0
137280.0

1740.2
2331.0
133952.0

5.6 Local defined patient experience metric (as described in your approved BCF plan / Q1 return)
- You may also use rows 117-119 to update information relating to your locally selected patient experience metric. The local patient experience metric set out in cell C117 has been taken from your 2015/16 approved BCF plan and 2015/16 Q1 return - these local metrics can be amended, as required.
89
92
90
91

Planned 15/16

88

- Numerator: Number of patients giving a responce of "Yes, definitely" or
"Yes, to some extent" to Q32 in the GP Patient Survey
- Denominator: Number of patients giving a responce to Q32 of the GP

Metric Value
Numerator
Denominator

75

76

77

78

79

16-17 plans

Q1 (Apr 15 - Jun 15)
Q2 (Jul 15 - Sep 15)
Q3 (Oct 15 - Dec 15) Q4 (Jan 16 - Mar 16) Q1 (Apr 15 - Jun 15)
Q2 (Jul 15 - Sep 15)
Q3 (Oct 15 - Dec 15) Q4 (Jan 16 - Mar 16) Q1 (Apr 16 - Jun 16)
Q2 (Jul 16 - Sep 16)
Q3 (Oct 16 - Dec 16) Q4 (Jan 17 - Mar 17) Comments
826.8
768.0
1052.4
1051.5
716.2
701.4
648.8
664.0
714.0
699.7
647.7
662.1 Due to the improvements already made in 2015/16, the target has been based on reducing the number of non-acute delays per quarter by 0.5%, while maintaining the 2015/16 rate of acute delays.
4,417
4,103
5,622
5,656
3,826
3,747
3466
3572
3841
3764
3484
3586
534,195
534,195
534,195
537,924
534,195
534,195
534,195
537,924
537,924
537,924
537,924
541,613

93
94

Planned 16/17
62.2
3021.0
4856.0

95

Comments
63.5 Based on 2% increase in number of positive responses for July publications
3082.0
4856.0

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 5b. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund NEA and DTOC Tool
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
Metrics Tool

There is no data required to be completed on this tab. The tab is instead designed to provide assistance in setting your 16/17 plan figures for NEA and DTOC. Baseline 14/15, plan 15/16 and actual 15/16 data has been provided as a reference. The
16/17 plan figures are taken from those given in tab 5. HWB Metrics.
For NEAs we have also provided SUS 14/15 Baseline, SUS 15/16 Actual and SUS 15/16 FOT (Forecast Outturn) figures, mapped from the baseline data supplied to assist CCGs with the 16/17 shared planning round. This has been provided as a
reference to support the new requirement for BCF NEA targets to be set in line with the revised definition set out in the “Technical Definitions” and the “Supplementary Technical Definitions” at the foot of the following webpage:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/

5.1 HWB NEA Activity
Leicestershire Data Source Used - 15/16
Leicestershire 14/15 Baseline (outturn)
Leicestershire 15/16 Plan
Leicestershire 15/16 Actual

SUS
Q1

Q2
14,413
13,909
15,463

Q3
14,724
14,209
14,792

Q4
14,932
14,409

Total
14,410
13,810

58,479
56,337
30,255

14/15 baseline and plan data has been taken from the "Better Care Fund Revised Non-Elective targets - Q4 Playback and Final Re-Validation of Baseline and Plans Collection" returned by HWB's in July 2015. The Q1 15/16 actual performance has been taken from
the "Q1 Better Care Fund data collection" returned by HWB's in August 2015. The Q2 actual performance 15/16 and the Q4 15/16 plan figure have been taken from the "Q2 Better Care Fund data collection" returned by HWB's in November 2015. Actual Q3 and Q4
data is not available at the point of this template being released.

14,892
15,265

15,175
15,368

15,514

14,865

60,447
30,633
62,286

SUS 14/15 Baseline, SUS 15/16 Actual and SUS 15/16 FOT (Forecast Outturn) figures were mapped from the baseline data supplied to assist the CCGs with the 16/17 shared planning round.
Over the last year the monitoring of non-elective admission (NEA) activity has shifted away from the use of the Monthly Activity Return (MAR) towards the use of Secondary Users Service data (SUS). This has been reflected in the latest planning round where NHS
England, Monitor and TDA have worked with CCGs and providers to create a consistent methodology to enable the creation of consistent NEA plans. The SUS CCG mapped data included here has been derived using this methodology. More details on the
methodology used to define NEA can be found in the “Technical Definitions” and the “Supplementary Technical Definitions” at the foot of the following webpage:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/

Leicestershire Mapped NEA Plan 16/17 *
Leicestershire Mapped NEA Plan 16/17 (after reduction) *
*See tab 5. HWB Metrics (row 41) to show how this figure has been calculated
16,500

15,387
14,960

15,862
15,422

15,623
15,190

15,620
15,187

62,492
60,759

NEA Baseline, Plan & Actual Data

16,000
15,500
15,000

Leicestershire 14/15 Baseline (outturn)

NEA

Leicestershire 15/16 Plan

14,500
14,000

Leicestershire 15/16 Actual
Leicestershire SUS 14/15 Baseline (mapped from CCG plan data)
Leicestershire SUS 15/16 Actual (mapped from CCG plan data)

13,500

Leicestershire Mapped NEA Plan 16/17 *

13,000

Leicestershire Mapped NEA Plan 16/17 (after reduction) *

12,500

26

Leicestershire SUS 14/15 Baseline (mapped from CCG plan data)
Leicestershire SUS 15/16 Actual (mapped from CCG plan data)
Leicestershire SUS 15/16 FOT (mapped from CCG plan data)

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 5b. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund NEA and DTOC Tool
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
Metrics Tool

There is no data required to be completed on this tab. The tab is instead designed to provide assistance in setting your 16/17 plan figures for NEA and DTOC. Baseline 14/15, plan 15/16 and actual 15/16 data has been provided as a reference. The
16/17 plan figures are taken from those given in tab 5. HWB Metrics.
For NEAs we have also provided SUS 14/15 Baseline, SUS 15/16 Actual and SUS 15/16 FOT (Forecast Outturn) figures, mapped from the baseline data supplied to assist CCGs with the 16/17 shared planning round. This has been provided as a
reference to support the new requirement for BCF NEA targets to be set in line with the revised definition set out in the “Technical Definitions” and the “Supplementary Technical Definitions” at the foot of the following webpage:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/
12,500

Q1

Q2

Q3

Q4

Quarter

27

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 5b. Health and Well-Being Board Better Care Fund NEA and DTOC Tool
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
Metrics Tool

There is no data required to be completed on this tab. The tab is instead designed to provide assistance in setting your 16/17 plan figures for NEA and DTOC. Baseline 14/15, plan 15/16 and actual 15/16 data has been provided as a reference. The
16/17 plan figures are taken from those given in tab 5. HWB Metrics.
For NEAs we have also provided SUS 14/15 Baseline, SUS 15/16 Actual and SUS 15/16 FOT (Forecast Outturn) figures, mapped from the baseline data supplied to assist CCGs with the 16/17 shared planning round. This has been provided as a
reference to support the new requirement for BCF NEA targets to be set in line with the revised definition set out in the “Technical Definitions” and the “Supplementary Technical Definitions” at the foot of the following webpage:
https://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/futurenhs/deliver-forward-view/

5.4 Delayed Transfers of Care
Q1
Leicestershire 14/15 Baseline
Leicestershire 15/16 Plan
Leicestershire 15/16 Actual

Q2
1,113.8
826.8
716.2

Q3
1,161.3
768.0
701.4

Q4
1,392.7
1,052.4

Total
1,094.0
1,051.5

4,761.8
3,698.6
1,417.6

Delayed Transfers Of Care numerator data for baseline and actual performance has been sourced from the monthly DTOC return found here http://www.england.nhs.uk/statistics/statistical-work-areas/delayed-transfers-of-care/. Actual Q3 and Q4 data is not available
at the point of this template being released.

Leicestershire 16/17 Plans

714.0

699.7

647.7

662.1

2,723.5

28

1,600.0

DTOC Baseline, Plan & Actual Data

1,400.0

DTOC Rate

1,200.0
1,000.0
Leicestershire 14/15 Baseline

800.0
Leicestershire 15/16 Plan

600.0

Leicestershire 15/16 Actual
Leicestershire 16/17 Plans

400.0
200.0
0.0
Q1

Q2

Q3
Quarter

Q4

Template for BCF submission 1: due on 02 March 2016
Sheet: 6. National Conditions
Selected Health and Well Being Board:
Leicestershire
Data Submission Period:
2016/17
6. National Conditions
This sheet requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm whether the eight national conditions detailed in the Better Care Fund Planning Guidance are on track to be met through the delivery of your plan in 2016-17. The conditions are set out in full in the BCF Policy Framework
and further guidance is provided in the BCF Planning Requirements document. Please answer as at the time of completion. On this tab please enter the following information:
- For each national condition please use column C to indicate whether the condition is being met. The sheet sets out the eight conditions and requires the Health & Wellbeing Board to confirm either 'Yes', 'No' or 'No - in development' for each one. 'Yes' should be used when the
condition is already being fully met, or will be by 31st March 2016. 'No - in development' should be used when a condition is not currently being met but a plan is in development to meet this through the delivery of your BCF plan in 2016-17. 'No' should be used to indicate that there
is currently no plan agreed for meeting this condition by 31st March 2017.
- Please use column C to indicate when it is expected that the condition will be met / agreed if it is not being currently.
- Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition, or any other relevant information.

National Conditions For The Better Care Fund 2016-17
1) Plans to be jointly agreed

Does your BCF plan
for 2016-17 set out a
clear plan to meet
this condition?

Please detail in the comments box issues and/or actions that are being taken to meet the condition, or any other relevant information.
The approach to DFG allocations is still being discussed with District Councils at the time of this submission

No - in development

2) Maintain provision of social care services (not spending)

Yes
97

3) Agreement for the delivery of 7-day services across health and social care to prevent
unnecessary non-elective admissions to acute settings and to facilitate transfer to alternative No - in development
care settings when clinically appropriate
4) Better data sharing between health and social care, based on the NHS number

As the BCF narrative to support this assurance across all aspects of the plan is still being finalised we have provided a response as "in development" at this stage.
However the BCF spending plan includes additional 7 day services investments for 2016/17 in response to this national condition.
98

Yes
99

5) Ensure a joint approach to assessments and care planning and ensure that, where
funding is used for integrated packages of care, there will be an accountable professional

Yes
##
Final agreement is dependent on contract negotations between CCGs and local providers which are in progress at the time of this submission.

6) Agreement on the consequential impact of the changes on the providers that are
predicted to be substantially affected by the plans

No - in development

7) Agreement to invest in NHS commissioned out-of-hospital services

Yes

##

##
8) Agreement on a local target for Delayed Transfers of Care (DTOC) and develop a joint
local action plan

Yes
##

29

96

30

This page is intentionally left blank

31

Agenda Item 6

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE BETTER CARE TOGETHER PROGRAMME
UPDATE ON THE DEVELOPMENT OF THE SUSTAINABILITY AND
TRANSFORMATION PLAN
Purpose of report
1. This paper details the latest information available on the development of the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP); sets out proposed governance
arrangements and a draft timetable for Leicestershire Health and Wellbeing
Board.
Background
2. In the delivering the Forward View: NHS planning guidance 2016/17 –
2020/21 all areas were requested to develop a place based local blueprint for
accelerating its implementation of the Five Year Forward View, known as a
Sustainability and Transformation Plan.
3. The STP needs to cover all areas of CCG and NHS England commissioned
activity including specialised services and primary medical care. In addition it
should address better integration with local authority services, including but
not limited to prevention and social care.
4. The Spending Review provided additional dedicated funding streams for
transformational change, building up over the next five years. The planning
guidance states that the most compelling and credible STPs will secure the
earliest additional funding from April 2017.
5. The best plans will have a clear and powerful vision; they will create
coherence across different elements for example a prevention plan; self- care
and patient empowerment; workforce; digital; new care models; and finance.
They will systematically borrow good practice from other geographies, and
adopt national frameworks. The level of reach in the development of the plans
will be considered alongside the strength and unity of local system leadership
and partnerships, with clear governance structures to deliver them. Finally
implementation plans need to be sound.
6. At the end of January 2016 Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland health and
social care economy confirmed the footprint for their local STP will be
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland.

32

7. Detailed guidance on the development to the STP is expected shortly but a
joint letter from five NHS organisations has been received which sets out the
expectations and deadlines for the pre and post Easter period.
Pre-Easter Activities
8. Governance arrangements: each area needs to set out the governance
framework for the development of their STP. For Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland it is proposed to use the existing Better Care Together governance
structures with the addition of a STP Task and Finish Group. The draft Terms
of Reference for the group is attached as Appendix one, including proposed
membership.
9. Senior Responsible Officer: a senior credible leader who can command the
trust and confidence of the system, such as a provider Chief Executive, CCG
Chief Officer or a Local Authority Chief Executive needs to be appointed to
oversee and co-ordinate the STP. They will be responsible for convening and
chairing system-wide meetings and facilitating open and honest conversations
that will be necessary to secure sign-up to a shared vision and plan. It is
expected that time and resources are dedicated to this system leadership
role. The Chief Officers Group is asked to agree who will be the Senior
Responsible Officer.
10. The scale of the challenge and key priorities: the scale of the challenge
needs to be understood quickly and the gaps in the three areas of focus
where most improvement is needed identified. To support this NHS England
will provide a method with data to enable the diagnosis of current and
projected gaps in health and wellbeing, care and quality and finance and
efficiency. Details will be provided week commencing 29th February 2016.
Post Easter Activities
11. Development of the STP: start the development of the STP; short return in
mid-April setting out priorities, gap analysis and governance arrangements.
Outline STPs will need to be presented week commencing 22nd April 2016
with final submissions being completed by 30th June 2016. A draft project plan
is attached as Appendix two. A very early framework for the format of the plan
has been developed and attached as Appendix three; however this needs
further discussion and refinement when the guidance is published.
Early identification of gaps
12. Reviewing the known guidance against our Better Care Together Programme
the main gaps that need to be addressed for the STP are:
• Prevention strategy

33

• Identification of new models of care that will enable to the delivery of
system wide transformational change – this needs collaborative work
to identify and agree the models that might work across the system
• Five year priorities and actions for the Better Care Together
workstreams.
Officer to contact
Sarah Prema,
Director of Strategy and Implementation,
Leicester City Clinical Commissioning Group

34

This page is intentionally left blank

35

Appendix 1
LEICESTER, LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND BETTER CARE TOGETHER
PROGRAMME
Sustainability and Transformation Plan Task and Finish Group
Draft Terms of Reference
Purpose
The Sustainability and Transformation Plan Task and Finish Group is a time limited
group to oversee the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland development of the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan by 30th June 2016.
Responsibilities of members
The responsibilities of the members of the group are:
•
•
•
•
•

Act as a lead for their organisation in the development of the STP.
Ensure that all the relevant information from their organisation is available to
support the development of the STP.
Where required gain approval from their organisation for the developing
proposals.
To participate in the development of the STP
Be able to give the necessary time to support the development of the STP.

Authority
The Task and Finish Group will report directly the Leicester, Leicestershire and
Rutland Chief Officers Group. Any formal approvals will be sought through individual
governance arrangements.

Membership
The membership of the STP is:
Organisation
Leicester City CCG
West Leicestershire CCG
East Leicestershire &
Rutland CCG
Leicestershire Partnership
Trust
University Hospitals
Leicester
EMAS

Member
To be confirmed
Sarah Prema
Sam Kirton
Jane Chapman
David Bell

Position
Senior Responsible Officer; Chair
Director Strategy & Implementation;
STP Lead
Planning Manager
Chief Strategy and Planning Officer

Gino Distefano

Associate Director Strategic
Planning
Head of Strategic Development

Will Legge

Director of Strategy
1

36

Specialised
Commissioning

Christine
Richardson

Assistant Director of Specialised
Commissioning - East Midlands
(Strategic Change)

Leicester City Council

Ruth Lake

Director Adult Social Care and
Safeguarding

Ruth Tennant

Director Public Health

Leicestershire County
Council
Rutland County Council
Better Care Together
On behalf of LLR CFOs
Better Care Together
Workforce

Cheryl Davenport
Mike Sandys
To be confirmed
Mary Barber
Spencer Gay
Louise Tibbert

Director of Public Health
Programme Director
Chief Finance Officer
Workforce Lead

Quorum
The Senior Responsible Officer or the STP Lead plus three other members.
Reporting arrangements
Reports will be provided to the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland Chief Officers
Group on a monthly basis.
Administration
Secretarial support will be provided by the Better Care Together Team.
Frequency
Meetings shall be held fortnighlty.

Date approved:

March 2016

2

Appendix 4
STP Development Plan

37

March
April
May
June
Activity
W1 W2 W3 W4 W1 W2 W3 W4 W1 W2 W3 W4 W1 W2 W3 W4
Develop Governance proposal
Chief Officers agree Governance proposal
Develop template and input matrix
Form STP Task and finish Group
First meeting of STP T&F
Agree template for STP
Agree ownership of content
Develop first draft of content "Straw man"
Share early draft "straw man" with Chief Officers
Chief Officers input views to format
Identify gaps
Introduce STP template and concept to PPI group
Second meeting of STP T&F
Develop good second draft of STP
Agree action plans to fill gaps
Carry out actions
Share good second draft of STP with Chief Officers
Share good second draft of STP with Boards for comment
Share good second draft of STP with PPI for comment
Finalise STP
Chief Officer sign off
Partner boards sign off
Submit to NHS England

38

This page is intentionally left blank

39

APPENDIX 3

To: CCG Accountable Officers,
Chief Executives of NHS trusts,
NHS foundation trusts and Local
Authorities and LETB Geographical
Directors
By email
16 February 2016
Dear colleague
Re: Developing Sustainability and Transformation Plans to 2020/21
The NHS Shared Planning Guidance asked every health and care system to come
together to create their own ambitious local blueprint for accelerating implementation of
the Five Year Forward View (5YFV). Sustainability and Transformation Plans (STPs)
will be place-based, multi-year plans built around the needs of local populations. They
will help ensure that the investment secured in the Spending Review does not just prop
up individual institutions for another year, but is used to drive a genuine and sustainable
transformation in patient experience and health outcomes over the longer-term. STPs
are not an end in themselves, but a means to build and strengthen local relationships,
enabling a shared understanding of where we are now, our ambition for 2020 and the
concrete steps needed to get us there.
We have been encouraged by the speed and enthusiasm with which most areas have
already come together to agree their footprints and start the conversations. The
boundaries used for STPs will not cover all planning eventualities. As with the current
arrangements for planning and delivery, there are layers of plans which sit above and
below STPs, with shared links and dependencies. For example, neighbouring STP
areas will need to work together when planning specialised or ambulance services or
working with multiple local government authorities and, for areas within a proposed
devolution footprint that cross STP boundaries, further discussion will be required in
working through the implications. Other issues will be best planned at Clinical
Commissioning Group (CCG) level.
If we get this right, then together we will:
·
·

·
·

engage patients, staff and communities from the start, developing priorities through
the eyes of those who use and pay for the NHS;
develop services that reflect the needs of patients and improve outcomes by
2020/21 and, in doing so, help close the three gaps across the health and care
system that were highlighted in the 5YFV (health and wellbeing, care and quality,
and finance and efficiency);
mobilise local energy and enthusiasm around place-based systems of health and
care, and develop the partnerships, governance and capacity to deliver;
provide a better way of spreading and connecting successful local initiatives,
providing a platform for investment from the Sustainability and Transformation Fund;
and

40

·

develop a coherent national picture that will help national bodies support what local
areas are trying to achieve.

This will require a different type of planning process – one that releases energy and
ambition and that focusses the right conversations and decisions. It will require the
NHS, at both the local and national level, to work in partnership across organisational
boundaries and sectors.
This letter sets out our initial thinking on STPs – please see Annex A for further detail.
We recognise that you and your teams are also working hard on operational plans, so
over the next few weeks and months we will develop an active programme of support
for our local and national teams, based on what you tell us you need.
We look forward to continuing to work closely with you to deliver this important work.
Yours faithfully
David Behan, Chief Executive, Care Quality Commission
Ian Cumming, Chief Executive, Health Education England
Sir Andrew Dillon, Chief Executive, National Institute for Health and Care Excellence
Jim Mackey, Chief Executive - Designate, NHS Improvement
Duncan Selbie, Chief Executive, Public Health England
Simon Stevens, Chief Executive, NHS England

41

Annex A
Stage 1: Before Easter – developing local leadership and collaboration
1. To have a realistic prospect of developing good plans by the summer, we will need
to have agreed three things for each of the STP footprints by Easter:
(i)
(ii)
(iii)

the governance arrangements and processes needed to produce an agreed
STP and then to implement it;
the scale of the challenge locally for each of the three gaps; and
key priorities identified to address each gap.

2. Governance arrangements: Building the relationships and collective leadership
needed to make STPs real will take dedicated time, effort and resource. Different
areas will be at different starting points. In some areas, local leaders are already
working together on established transformation projects. In other areas,
relationships and strategies are less mature, requiring intensive focus in the early
stages.
3. Each footprint will need to set out governance arrangements for agreeing and
implementing a plan. This should include the nomination of a named person who will
be responsible for overseeing and coordinating their STP process – a senior and
credible leader who can command the trust and confidence of the system, such as a
CCG Chief Officer, a provider Chief Executive or a Local Authority Chief Executive.
They will be responsible for convening and chairing system-wide meetings and
facilitating open and honest conversations that will be necessary to secure sign-up
to a shared vision and plan. We would expect to see time and resource dedicated to
this system leadership role.
4. STPs will need to be developed with, and based on the needs of, local patients and
communities and command the support of clinicians, staff and wider partners. We
therefore anticipate robust plans for genuine engagement as part of the decision
making process. This doesn’t mean beginning from scratch. Where relevant, areas
should build on existing engagement through Health and Wellbeing Boards and
other existing local arrangements. Health Education England has agreed that they
will establish a local Workforce Advisory Board to coordinate and support the
workforce requirements for each STP footprint.
5. The scale of the challenge: Partners in each footprint area will need to quickly get
a sense of the scale of the forecast challenge in their local area, by working out the
extent of the three gaps. To accelerate this process, we will provide a method with
data to enable local partners to diagnose current and projected gaps in health and
wellbeing, care and quality and finance and efficiency, including current and
expected delivery on key service priorities such as cancer and seven day services.
We will publish more detail on this during the week commencing 29 February 2016.
6. Identify key priorities: An assessment of the three gaps, alongside a consideration
of local challenges where patients and populations need to see most improvement,
will help each area to identify the key priorities they need to tackle over the next five

42

years to achieve sustainable transformation. Where, for example, Vanguards and
Integrated Care Pioneers are leading the transition to new care models, local
leaders will want to set out how the learning from these can be applied in the coming
years.
7. There is clearly a lot to do in a short space of time. To help support local and
national learning, each footprint will be asked to attend one of four regional
‘development days’ to share their emerging thinking with one other and with the
Chief Executives of the national bodies. This will help us to identify further areas for
support and shape the next stage of the process. Ahead of these regional
‘development days’ we will ask each planning footprint to make a short return on the
above three issues (governance, gap analysis and key issues).
8. National support until Easter: By March, we will provide each local system with:
·

·

·

Input into assessing each of their three gaps – this will set out the key health
and well-being outcomes the NHS and partners need to improve by preventing
illness, diagnosing disease earlier and treating it more effectively; the quality
improvement and service change priorities by 2020, such as moving to seven
day services and (by the end of March) provide each area with analytical support
to help assess its financial gap.
Share information and provide support – based on what you tell us you need
and using some of the tools that Vanguards and other collaborations have found
useful as they have developed new systems and relationships. This will include
using logic models as a basis for longer-term planning, and information about the
core components of the different care models (e.g. multi-speciality community
providers (MCPs) and primary and acute care systems (PACS) or devolved
arrangements).
Publish advice on engaging individuals, communities and staff – drawing
on exemplar practice from the service and partners and the ‘six principles’
developed by the People and Communities 5YFV Board.

In addition we will:
·

·

·

ask our regional teams and partners to support the process of building local
leadership and effective decision-making, sharing what we’ve learned from
working with, for example, Vanguard sites and others through communities of
practice;
work with you to identify and enlist a group of respected individuals who have the
experience and credibility to mentor and catalyse system leadership where it is
needed. This could include people with experience of health leadership roles, as
well as local government and the voluntary sector. We will make this offer to all
local areas that would benefit from individual support to accelerate progress; and
share some further tools, templates and guidance along with some exemplars to
support local development of returns. For example we will work quickly with a
small number of leading systems as they develop their plans to provide models
for what good Easter returns and June plans look like and make these available
to everyone.

43

Stage 2: after Easter – developing the STP
9. After Easter, local area partners will be able to focus on more of the detail of their
plans and the actions required to close the three gaps over the next five years. To
do this, they should consider their response to the set of questions outlined in the
annex to the Shared Planning Guidance, given the results of their gap analysis and
continuing engagement with local communities, staff and other partners.
10. The Shared Planning Guidance sets out nine ‘must dos’. Many, if not all, of these
will require action beyond 2016/17. A good STP will therefore set out how areas will
maintain and deepen the progress they will make by implementing their operational
plans. This is one tangible way in which 2016/17 operational plans need to be
closely linked to STPs, and conceived as the first steps on the way to wider
transformation.
11. Strong STPs will set out a broader platform for transforming local health and care
services. We will work with the footprints to help us develop the detailed
requirements. However, as a minimum, we expect that all plans will:
·

·
·

·

·
·

·

·

describe a local cross-partner prevention plan, with particular action on national
priorities of obesity and diabetes and locally identified priorities to reduce
demand and improve the health of local people;
increase investment in the out-of-hospital sector, including considering how to
deliver primary care at scale;
set out local ambitions to deliver seven day services. In particular: (i) improving
access and better integrating 111, minor injuries, urgent care and out-of-hours
GP services; (ii) improving access to primary care at weekends and evenings;
and (iii) implementing the four priority clinical standards for hospital services
every day of the week;
support the accelerated delivery of new care models in existing Vanguard sites;
or in systems without Vanguards, set out plans for implementing new models of
care with partners;
set out collective action on quality improvement, particularly where services are
rated inadequate or are in special measures;
set out collective action on key national clinical priorities such as improving
cancer outcomes; increasing investment in mental health services and parity of
esteem for mental health patients; transforming learning disabilities services; and
improving maternity services;
ensuring these and other changes return local systems to financial balance,
together with the increased investment that will come on-stream as set out in
NHS England’s allocations to CCGs; and
be underpinned by a strategic commitment to engagement at all levels, informed
by the ‘six principles’.

12. We must avoid creating distinct plans for each specialty or initiative, and instead
grasp the opportunity to achieve greater alignment and coherence between
programmes and priorities. Local leaders will also want to ensure that their plans are
underpinned by action on the key enablers of change, including harnessing
technology and workforce redesign, working closely with their Local Education and

44

Training Boards (LETBs). Local areas should also have considered the fit between
their STP footprint and their local plans for integrated health and social care more
broadly, and decided on the high-level model of person-centred, coordinated care
that they would look to develop.
13. The aim should be to produce an STP that is based upon strong analysis and insight
rather than a glossy brochure. The process of exposing these issues and having
real conversations about the potential benefits for patients is as least as important
as the final product itself. A robust process will enable STPs to set out the actions
that will make a difference for local people rather than abstract principles or vision
statements. The examples we publish at Easter will give local areas a better sense
of what a good final document looks like, but we are clear that a good process is
one that unleashes energy, facilitates real conversations and strengthens local
relationships around a shared sense of purpose.
14. National support after Easter:
·

·

·

In April and May, we will host a programme of regional workshops and webinars
with subject matter experts to provide practical help with developing plans. We will
continue to make available online collaborative tools so that local areas can share
information and examples of emerging best practice, based on what you tell us
would be most helpful.
These will be supplemented by a suite of ‘how to’ materials so that we can develop
a shared understanding of what good looks like on topics including implementing the
Cancer and Mental Health Taskforce reports, developing and spreading new models
of care, workforce redesign and planning for interoperability and digital services.
Our regional teams and their partners will continue to work closely with local
footprints as they develop the detail of their plans, to enable effective
communication and learning across the system.

Sustainability and Transformation Funding
15. There will be tangible benefits for areas with good STPs. The Spending Review
settlement enabled us to invest £2.139bn in a Sustainability and Transformation
Fund in 2016/17. Of this total, £1.8bn of funding has been allocated to the
sustainability element of the fund to bring the NHS provider trust sector back to
financial balance.
16. Quarterly release of sustainability funds to NHS trusts and NHS foundation trusts
will depend on achieving recovery milestones for (i) deficit reduction; (ii) access
standards; and (iii) progress on transformation. It is not a case of recovery followed
by transformation. They are not alternatives; we must do both simultaneously.
17. Mirroring the conditionality of providers accessing the Sustainability and
Transformation Fund, the real terms element of growth in CCG allocations for
2017/18 onwards will be contingent upon the development and sign-off of a robust
STP during 2016/17.

45

18. The Sustainability and Transformation Fund will grow from £2.1bn in 2016/17 to
£2.9bn in 2017/18, rising to £3.4bn in 2020/21, with an increasing share of the
growing fund being deployed on transformation.
19. The STPs will become the single application and approval process for being
accepted onto programmes with transformation funding for 2017/18 onwards. This
step is intended to reduce bureaucracy and help with the local join-up of multiple
national initiatives.
20. Recognising that different systems are at different starting points, the most credible
and compelling STPs will secure the earliest funding. We will assess plans in July,
and – as the Shared Planning Guidance sets out – we will consider:
·

·
·
·
·

the quality of plans, particularly the scale of ambition and track record of
progress already made in addressing each of the three gaps. The best plans will
have a clear and powerful vision across health, quality and finance, owned by all
local partners in the system. They will create coherence across different
elements, for example a prevention plan; self-care and patient empowerment;
workforce; digital; new models of care; trusts in special measures and finance.
They will systematically borrow good practice from other geographies and adopt
national frameworks;
the reach and quality of the local process, including community and voluntary
sector engagement;
the strength, maturity and unity of local system leadership and partnerships, with
clear governance structures to deliver them;
how confident we are that a clear sequence of implementation actions will follow
as intended, through defined governance and demonstrable capabilities; and
the extent to which systems can already point to tangible, early progress.

21. Part of this process will involve a second series of regional events hosted by the
Chief Executives of the national bodies. Taking place in July, these regional
summits will be an opportunity to test the plans that local systems have submitted,
and agree the actions we will take to deliver them.
22. Contacts:
For any queries, please contact the Regional Director from the relevant national body in
the first instance or please email england.fiveyearview@nhs.net.
23. Key Dates:
What
Further engagement and
support on gap analysis
and STP development
Gap analysis / data
developed with each
footprint
Short return, including

Who
National bodies

When
Week commencing 29
February 2016

National bodies /
Regional Directors /
footprints
Each footprint

Throughout March 2016

11 April 2016

46

priorities, gap analysis
and governance
arrangements
Outline STPs presented

Each footprint area to
develop plans and build
support with their boards
and partners
Ongoing engagement and
support from national
policy experts and teams
to support priority
development
Each footprint to submit
their STP

Series of regional
conversations between
national teams and
footprints

Footprints to attend
regional events to discuss
emerging plans with
peers and national bodies
As set out in local
governance
arrangements

w/c 22 April 2016

National policy teams and
experts

During April and May
2016

During April/May/early
June 2016

To Regional Directors and 30 June 2016
then the 5YFV Board of
national body Chief
Executives
The NHS national body
Throughout July 2016
Chief Executives,
National Directors,
partners and footprints

47

Agenda Item 7

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF EAST LEICESTERSHIRE AND RUTLAND
CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP
MENTAL HEALTH: PARITY OF ESTEEM
Purpose
1.

People with Mental Health problems, especially long term serious illness
experience disproportionally poor physical health and higher morbidity.
National and local policy is to move towards ‘parity of esteem’ for people
experiencing Mental Health problems.

2.

The definition of this is open to interpretation it is generally understood
as achieving similar access to physical health prevention and treatment
services to reduce the disparity in physical health. However the national
policy is in development and locally leaders recommend Parity is a wider
issue than physical health.

3.

This paper summarises; progress to date, opportunities and proposes a
plan to make further impact.

Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young
people

Relevance Workstream
Mental health

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

Relevance
X

National Policy
4.

‘Parity of Esteem’ is a wider issue than physical health:
NHSE captures it (https://www.england.nhs.uk/mentalhealth/parity/) as
meaning ‘“My family and I all have access to services which enable us to
maintain both our mental and physical wellbeing” and “If I become unwell
I use services which assess and treat mental health disorders or
conditions on a par with physical health illnesses”. NHS England does

48
not separate common mental illness from Serious Mental Illness in this
context.
5.

The Department of Health asked the Royal College of Psychiatrists to
lead an expert working group to define ‘parity of esteem’ in detail, and to
examine why parity between mental and physical health does not
currently exist and how it might be achieved in practice. The report,
Whole-Person Care: From Rhetoric to Reality
(http://www.rcpsych.ac.uk/pdf/OP88.pdf) highlights the significant
inequalities that exist between physical and mental health care, including
preventable premature deaths, lower treatment rates for (all) mental
health conditions and an underfunding of mental healthcare relative to
the scale and impact of mental health problems.

Progress to Date
6.

The Better Care Together work stream and the Crisis Concordat has
brought partners together into the Mental Health Partnership Board, and
significant progress is being made on a range of interventions including:
•

Parity in crisis response; ensuring people receive a timely response
and are able to be cared for at or close to home or a local hospital in
the vast majority of occasions. Responses are now more timely and a
greater range of interventions e.g. crisis house are now available.

•

Shared care arrangements have been in place between LPT and
Primary care to address the prescribing and physical care of people
prescribed anti-psychotic drugs.

•

LPT CQUIN – incentive scheme to improve physical health monitoring
in the Trust.

•

Smoking cessation within LPT internal environment.

•

Recovery networks including additional recovery college sites

•

Liaison Psychiatry into UHL.

•

UHL embracing Mental Health problems through an internal Mental
Health task group.

•

LLR suicide reduction group.

Strategic Clinical Network (SCN)
7. The SCN has developed 38 Best Practice Indicators (BPI’s). It was
decided that there are 10 BPI’s that everyone should focus on to have
the biggest impact (appendix 1).
8. This gives an indication of the local position and significant opportunity
to impact on health, independence and demand on services.

49

9. This gives an indication of the local position and a significant
opportunity to impact on health, independence and demand on
services.
Sources of Intelligence
10. There are a number of resources that LLR can utilise to inform next
steps, which include:
•
•
•
•
•

5 year forward view for Mental Health;
Atlas of Variation & Right Care;
National Benchmarking;
JSNA;
Service user, Carer and Clinical experience.

Next Steps
11. It is proposed to commission an LLR wide group of key people to
review the intelligence available and agree a plan to address physical
health status of mentally ill people.
12. It is proposed this is led by Leicestershire County Council’s Public
Health Department and includes representation from
• Leicester City Public Health Department;
• CCG clinical lead;
• CCG Mental Health quality lead nurse
• University Hospitals of Leicester;
• Leicestershire Partnership Trust;
• Service user;
• Voluntary Sector representation.
13. It is proposed the group report to the multi-agency Mental Health
Partnership Board and provide the Health and Wellbeing Boards with
reports on a 6 monthly basis.
Recommendations
14. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:
Confirm the local definition of ‘Parity of Esteem’ includes access to
appropriate services as well as physical health.
Commission the proposed group, leadership and reporting with a
request a timed and quantified plan is presented to the Health and
Wellbeing Board at the July meeting.
Officer to contact
Jim Bosworth
East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG
Jim.bosworth@eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk

50
List of Appendices
Appendix 1 – Assessment of the 10 high level indicators
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
15. Parity of esteem is the principle by which mental health must be given
equal priority to physical health. It was enshrined in law by the Health
and Social Care Act 2012. It is particularly important as mental illness
has been shown to reduce life expectancy.

APPENDIX
Progress towards Parity of Esteem using the 10 best practice Indicators
1.

2.

3.

5.

Leicestershire

Rutland

Leicester City

51

4.

Best Practice Indicator
Information systems
Information systems are in development including specific reference to
connecting physical health and mental health information for the individual.
As a minimum people with SMI have a summary patient passport
Vision and Plan
A clear and compelling vision and plan for change has been agreed
including where organisational leadership lies. A concordat approach
confirms who signed up to implementation. There is evidence of
involvement of a wide range of organisations and experts by experience in
the development of the plan using a specific joint strategic needs
assessment
Physical Health
As part of commissioning services for people with SMI, all providers from all
sectors have a specific component in the SLA/contract, which highlights the
need to improve the physical health of people with SMI. This should include
CQUINs (Commissioning for Quality and Innovation) where appropriate.
Individual health records including as a minimum a comprehensive annual
health check, specific information and access to health promotion activities
etc. Offering appropriate interventions based on the outcome of the
comprehensive health check should also be recorded. This information
should be routinely reviewed through the CCG/LA integrated commissioning
approach. There should be links into the urgent care system.
Smoking Cessation
Specific services have been commissioned which explicitly support people
with SMI to stop smoking based on clear evidence and local understanding
of need. The service is targeted and impact is being measured and shared.
Mental Health Organisation (MHO)
The organisation has a clear strategy and yearly plan in place stating the
role it will take to improve the physical health needs of people with serious
mental illness. This strategy has been co produced with people who are or
have been using the service and their carers. There are baseline measures
in place and a clear way of measuring progress. Primary Care/GPs are
aware of who the person is who is the support to that person. The strategy
includes specific training and support for everyone to be made aware of the
impact of prescribing in relation to hunger and weight gain.

6.

7.

8.

9.

No Information

No Information

No Information

No Information

No Information

No Information

52

10.

Community Services
The organisation has a specific and clear strategy in place about how it will
ensure people with SMI have access to the services it provides for the rest
of the population including access to specific pathways and skills for people
with long term conditions e.g. diabetes. Such a strategy should evidence
how it is working with the local provider of services for people with SMI.
Clear measures should be in place to inform people of progress.
Acute Services Strategy
The organisation has a specific and clear strategy in place about how it will
ensure people with SMI have access to the services it provides for the rest
of the population including access to specific pathways e.g. diabetes,
COPD etc. Such a strategy should evidence how it is working with the local
provider of services for people with SMI. Clear measures should be in place
to inform people of progress.
Acute Services Workforce
There are specific job roles in place within the organisation including liaison
psychiatry that focus on working with people with SMI where the physical
health needs of someone is the cause of repeat attendances to A and E.
Primary Care
Each practice can routinely provide information in relation to QOF measures
where used and has access to a lead primary care practitioner within the
locality who has a specific interest in the health, wellbeing and physical
health needs of people with SMI
registered with each practice.
Outcome Based Care
Once a person has a diagnosis of serious mental illness they should work
with their named key/case worker on developing a joint outcome based care
plan e.g. outcomes star. There should be clear access to as much
information as possible to enable this plan to be co produced.

53

Agenda Item 8

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF ADULTS AND COMMUNITIES
ADULT SOCIAL CARE STRATEGY, COMMISSIONING INTENTIONS
AND MARKET POSITION STATEMENT
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to:
a) Inform the Board of the current status of the Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020
and the associated Commissioning Intentions and Market Position Statement.
b) Inform the Board of current work and intentions to deliver the aims and objectives of
the Adult Social Care Strategy 2016–2020.
Link to Better Care Together
Work stream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people
Long term conditions
Urgent care
Learning disabilities

Relevance Work stream
Mental health
X
X
X

Frail and older people
Planned care

Relevance
X
X
X

End of life

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The relevant policy framework includes:
•
•
•
•
•
•
•

3.

Better Care Together Five Year Strategic Plan 2014-2019;
The Care Act 2014;
Leicestershire County Council Provisional Medium Term Financial Strategy
2016/17–2019/20;
Leicestershire County Council Strategic Plan 2014–2018 (Leading Leicestershire:
Transforming Public Services);
Leicestershire Communities Strategy 2014;
Leicestershire Commissioning and Procurement Strategy 2015;
A Country that Lives within its Means: Spending Review 2015, HM Treasury.

The Adult Social Care Strategy, associated Commissioning Intentions and Market
Position Statement were approved by Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet on 5
February 2016 (appended as Appendices A, B and C respectively).

54
Background
4.

The Adult Social Care Strategy has been developed to fulfil statutory duties, meet
efficiency targets and provide a basis for planning, commissioning and delivering
adult social care services for the next four years. The changes required for the
health and social care system to work in partnership have been identified, with the
aim of providing more integrated services in line with the Better Care Together (BCT)
strategic plan.

5.

Funding for adult social care is decreasing as the Government continues to reduce
local authority budgets to meet the national budget deficit, and increasing
demographic pressures result in a funding gap. Key changes to the delivery model
for adult social care are therefore required in the next four years to keep the financial
consequences of growth to a minimum.

6.

The Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) outlines a growth requirement of £23
million to meet adult social care demographic and legislative need over the next four
years together with a saving requirement of £16.7 million. Additionally, it is expected
that the National Living Wage will have a detrimental impact on social care costs.

7.

The Adult Social Care Strategy has been developed with a clear focus on ensuring
delivery of statutory responsibilities, whilst capturing all available opportunities to
prevent, reduce or delay need for ongoing Council funded support in light of the
financial challenges it faces. The Adults and Communities Department has carefully
considered how it can work with individuals with ongoing needs to ensure
independence is maximised, and how systems and processes can be improved to
ensure cost-effective support.

8.

The Adult Social Care Strategy outlines the new model for delivery of adult social
care in Leicestershire, which is aligned to both Care Act 2014 requirements and BCT
Five Year Strategy 2014–2019 and defines actions according to the following
domains:
•
•
•
•

9.

Prevent Need: universal services, supporting wellbeing;
Reduce Need: intervening early for those who may be at risk of needing support
in the future;
Delay Need: supporting recovery and reablement for those who have
experienced a crisis or who have defined illness or disability;
Meet Need: promoting maximum independence and use of community and
individual resources for those with long term needs.

The Adult Social Care Strategy ensures alignment with BCT and supports common
understanding with Health partners. It also aligns with other Council services
delivering the Council’s new target operating model, in particular the unified
prevention offer led by Public Health and the Communities Strategy led by the Chief
Executive’s Department.

55
Progress and plans
Commissioning Intentions
10. In order to ensure effective delivery of the Adult Social Care Strategy, overarching
Commissioning Intentions have been developed to set out how the changes required
can be achieved.
11. The Commissioning Intentions focus on meeting local needs and delivering value for
money, aligned to the organisational priorities set out in the Council’s Strategic Plan
and the Commissioning and Procurement Strategy.
Prevent Need
12. The Adults and Communities Department will work with partners to ensure that
preventative services are well aligned and maximise opportunities to preclude the
need for social care support in the future (for example, by enhancing community
capacity, increasing mental health awareness, and providing information and advice
to keep people active, healthy and safe). Although the Department does not directly
provide universal services, it will work more with partners, particularly across local
councils and the NHS, to commission preventative interventions where they
demonstrate effectiveness and will ensure awareness is raised about maintaining
independence and planning for the future. This will help ensure that fewer people will
require formal care and support in the future.
Reduce Need
13. The Adults and Communities Department will focus on early identification of people
who are at risk of declining health and losing their independence and work with them
to help avoid this. Access to community resources, including efficiently delivered
advice and information services will be further developed The Council will ensure
that preventative services are targeted, evidence-based and are cost-effective.
Services that do not meet these criteria will be decommissioned. The Council will
further improve its information and advice offer to ensure people can get the right
information when they need it, and that this is delivered as efficiently as possible.
The invaluable role of carers in reducing the need for other services is recognised
and they will be valued and supported in a flexible way.
Delay Need
14. In partnership with health and other service providers, the Adults and Communities
Department will work to ensure effective recovery, rehabilitation and reablement
services are available and adopt a problem-solving approach. This will include, for
example, further development of its response to crisis, supporting people to self-care,
and maximising use of assistive technology as a less intrusive, more cost effective
option. Wherever possible people will be supported to remain at home. An
integrated service supporting those transitioning from Children and Family Services
to Adults and Communities will maximise independence.
Meet Need
15. The Strategy aims to meet people’s needs whilst assisting them to increase their
independence, providing just enough support to prevent higher levels of need
through timely, cost-effective service provision, ensuring that support adapts to

56
fluctuating needs. The focus will be towards cost-effective solutions to meet
individual outcomes, which may mean limiting choice for people opting to have a
managed personal budget. All services will be expected to help people maximise
independence over time and fully utilise informal and community support, reducing
long term dependence on inappropriate or unnecessary levels of care and support.
Cost effective accommodation options, including Extra Care Housing and Supported
Living, will be developed further.
Market Position Statement
16. The Market Position Statement (MPS) is a review of the capacity, demand and
supply of the Leicestershire adult social care market. The MPS provides a
benchmark of the current position and includes a number of key messages for
providers to ensure that clear guidance is communicated to all sectors about the
Council’s intentions and the future direction of adult social care.
17. The key messages include our focus on working with providers to:
•
•
•
•

Promote self-reliance and facilitate access to community provision;
Measure, monitor and understand the impact of support;
Achieve value for money through the delivery of outcomes;
Deliver sustainable, cost effective and person-centred approaches to support.

18. Further MPSs will be developed which will provide more detailed reports for specific
market segments, for example accommodation based support, community based
support etc. They will be developed alongside providers to ensure there is an
accurate assessment of market risks, opportunities and gaps requiring further market
development activity.
Consultation/Patient and Public Involvement
19. Initial proposals were based upon the outcomes of previous consultation, workshops
and engagement with other stakeholders, leading to a draft Adult Social Care
Strategy which was the subject of formal public consultation (21 September 2015 –
20 November 2015).
20. The range of stakeholders involved in consultation and engagement opportunities
included social care providers, service users and carers, Council staff, partners from
Health, District Councils and other public services, representatives of parish councils
and community groups, and interested members of the public. A total of 722 people
were involved in meetings, workshops or one-to-one discussions.
21. 321 people completed consultation questionnaires, and there was a high level of
support for both the principles (83%) and the model (74%). The other key themes
that emerged:
•
•
•
•
•

Concern about over-reliance on communities, and how communities can be
supported and sustained;
Achieving the right balance between price and quality;
The importance of effective communication;
The key role of information and advice;
The improvements required in Adult Social Care internal processes to ensure a
prompt and efficient response.

57

22. The Adult Social Care Strategy and the Commissioning Intentions were reviewed in
light of the responses, both from meetings/workshops and the written questionnaires,
in order to reflect the views of respondents.
Activity to Support Delivery of the New Model
23. The Adults and Communities Department will continue to engage with its customers,
providers and partners to inform all areas of social care delivery, including the
development of consistent, transparent and simple processes. It will ensure all
commissioned services provide good value, and help people to progressively
improve. It will take an outcomes-based approach to better understand the impact
that services have on those accessing them.
24. Performance will be managed to ensure quality provision through the ongoing
monitoring of costs, demand and effectiveness of provision, as well as ensuring
people are supported to keep themselves safe.
25. Implementation will take place over the full four-year term of the Adult Social Care
Strategy, complemented by an Action Plan and annual Departmental Business Plans
which set the objectives that need to be met in that year. The Action Plan will be
overseen by the Departmental Transformation Delivery Board.
26. The 2016-17 Business Plan has been drafted and sets out intentions for the
recommissioning of Home Care Services (Help to Live At Home), Community Life
Choices and Supported Living frameworks during the first year of the Strategy
implementation.
27. The Director of Adults and Communities will continue to develop a comprehensive
workforce strategy for both the internal and external social care workforce. This will
be led by the Departmental Human Resources Business Partner and is a key
objective and central to the success of the Commissioning Strategy.
Resource Implications
28. Resource implications are being addressed through the Departmental
Transformation Delivery Board.
Conclusions/Recommendations
29. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the Adult Social Care Strategy,
associated Commissioning Intentions and MPS.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
30. The report affects all areas of Leicestershire and its citizens, including out of county
placements.

58
Officers to Contact
Name: Sandy McMillan
Job Title: Assistant Director, Strategic Planning and Commissioning,
Telephone Number: 0116 3057320
Email: Sandy.McMillan@leics.gov.uk
Name: Amanda Price
Job Title: Head of Service, Strategic Commissioning and Market Development
Telephone Number: 0116 3057364
Email: Amanda.price@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
•
•
•

Appendix A - The Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-20
Appendix B - The Adult Social Care Commissioning Intentions 2016-2020
Appendix C - The Market Position Statement 2016

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
31. An Equalities and Human Rights Impact Assessment (EHRIA) was conducted and
the subsequent action plan approved by the Adult and Communities Departmental
Equalities Group in January 2016.
32. There will be subsequent EHRIAs conducted in relation to specific service areas and
projects as these emerge from the action plan.

59

Promoting independence,
supporting communities
Our vision and strategy for
adult social care 2016 – 2020

60

Introduction
Mr Dave Houseman MBE, County Councillor
Cabinet member for adult social care
Adult social care supports people - including unpaid carers - who need practical or
emotional support to lead an active life. Social care helps people do everyday things,
participate in their community, and safeguards people from significant harm.
The number of people who might need adult social care services in the future is
expected to rise significantly.
We know that the number of people in Leicestershire over the age of 65 years will
double by 2030 and the number of people with complex disabilities will increase
by 30%. This rise in demand for care comes at a time when funding is decreasing
– because the government continues to reduce local authority budgets to meet the
national budget deficit.

The number
of people in
Leicestershire
over the age of
65 years will
double by 2030

Nationally, social care budgets have been reduced by 26% in real terms over the
last four years. Half of this has been through spending reductions and half through
managing demand differently. To continue to do this means new ways of working.
In Leicestershire, the council has continued to prioritise social care and is investing
additional resources to meet the demands on the service. Whilst there is a requirement
to save £25.6m to balance the budget in the medium term, the council is working
with NHS partners to protect social care services whilst making the necessary
budget savings.
The Care Act 2014 brings new responsibilities for local authorities, with new eligibility
for services, support for carers, new areas of work around information, advice,
prevention, support for the care market and safeguarding. Social care services are
changing and Leicestershire County Council needs to renew what it offers to people
who need our help.
This is our plan for the next four years. It sets out how we will:
t put in place a new, more cost effective approach to delivering adult social care
t manage our finances
t work with partners to provide more joined up health and social care
t focus on preventive services which help to avoid problems from getting worse
t reduce demand and free up resources for those who most need them

Read more
t To find out more about the specific levels of need now and what’s predicted
in the future – please read the ‘Joint Strategic Needs Assessment’
t More information about the current social care market in Leicestershire
can be found in the council’s market position statements

2 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Social care
budgets have
been reduced
by 26%

61

Our vision for adult
social care in Leicestershire
Jon Wilson
Director, Adults and Communities
Adult social care in Leicestershire is changing. Our focus will be to promote, maintain and
enhance people’s independence so that they are healthier, stronger, more resilient and
less reliant on formal social care services.
To do this we need to ensure that everyone has access to information and advice which
supports their wellbeing. Increasingly this will be online information, and telephone
advice supported by trained customer service staff and advocates. This means
information can be more responsive, up to date and tailored to individual requirements.
Information will be available to enable people to assess their own needs, their eligibility
for services and to understand the financial consequences of the decisions they are
making. This will allow people to think ahead and plan for their future.
We will ensure that there is a wide range of information on services which may support
people outside of the statutory social care services. This will enable people and families
to help themselves through a range of preventative local services which can help people
to stay healthy and well.

We need to ensure
that everyone
has access to
information and
advice which
supports their
wellbeing

We will work with local communities and other providers of health and care services to
develop local, community-based support that helps people stay independent and safe.
Working with partners we will also be able to identify people who may be at risk of
needing help in the future and for whom support in the short term may prevent longer
term needs developing. This will include working with colleagues in health services to
ensure people’s needs are diagnosed early, their care needs identified, and wherever
possible people are enabled to manage their own care. Where people experience a crisis
in their lives, rather than intervening to remove people from the crisis we will work with
people and families to manage the crisis, become more resilient and develop skills to deal
with issues in the future.
Where people do need support we will make it as easy to access as possible. People will
be able to get the help, advice and support they need online, by phone, through clinic
appointments or where required through pre-scheduled home visits. On first contact
with people we will try to resolve their problems as quickly as possible and seek to utilise
support from families and communities before resorting to formal social care services.
We will do this because we know that this helps people to be more resilient and have
better social outcomes; it reduces isolation and is more cost-effective. Support identified
in people’s local communities outside of local authorities makes life better for both the
individual and the community.
Working together with partners, sharing information, and joining up services will help us
to avoid duplication wherever possible and also to understand people’s total health and
care needs.

We will work with
local communities
to develop local,
community-based
support that
helps people
stay independent
and safe

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 3

62
We aim to deliver services which will enable people to gain or regain skills to help them
to live independently and recover from illness. We will do this in the most unobtrusive
and least restrictive manner possible. This means that we will support people in the
short term whilst expecting that wherever possible people will support themselves in
the longer term. For most people, long term support from the local authority will be the
exception rather than the rule. We will provide ‘just enough’ support to assist people to
build on their current strengths and develop their abilities to look after themselves without
becoming overly dependent on council support.

Where people need
ongoing support
we will share this
responsibility with
the individual and
their families and
communities

We will work with partners to ensure that people have the right access to housing, health
and community services so that they can have a good quality of life and make a positive
contribution to their communities. Our aim is for people to have access to work, housing,
and social networks which support them to be independent, improve their wellbeing and
reduce isolation.
We will seek to use equipment and technology to provide less intrusive and more
cost-effective care. Wherever possible we will keep people at home, with families and
friends to enhance their social and personal experience.
Of course for some people, social care services are required for longer to enable them to
live fulfilling lives. Where people need ongoing support we will share this responsibility
with the individual, their families and their communities. We will try to meet people’s
needs in a personalised way which delivers the outcomes that people require.
However, in delivering and commissioning services we want to achieve the best value
and most cost-effective means of delivering high quality care. This is important, not just
because local authorities are receiving less funding from government to provide care, but
also because the vast majority of people using support services contribute to the cost, and
many thousands of people in Leicestershire fund their own care entirely. Everyone should
expect that the services they are buying or receiving represent the best possible value.
Therefore whilst choice is an important factor in people being able to manage their own
care, it cannot be unrestricted. Wherever possible we will work with individuals to deliver
personalised social care and health services, but we will only do this in the context that
the services people receive will maximise their independence and provide the very best
value for money. Working with providers of care we will constantly review people’s care
arrangements to ensure their outcomes are being met in a cost-effective way.
We recognise that for some people there is an enhanced risk to their personal safety
because of their particular disabilities or frailties, or due to wider issues in society.
However we also recognise that we all need to take and accept a level of risk in order
that we grow and develop as individuals. We will therefore work with people to enable
them to understand and manage risks appropriately, whilst also providing arrangements
to safeguard people from significant harm. Our response to concerns about people’s
safety will be proportionate, flexible and personal and will always be based upon the
individual’s wishes and feelings alongside the best interests of the wider community.

OUR MISSION
To make the best use of the available resources to keep people in
Leicestershire independent.

4 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Everyone should
expect that the
services they are
buying or receiving
represent the best
possible value

63

Key design principles
Our future model for social care will work to a set of principles
which aim to put the person at the centre, and to ensure that the
support they receive can deliver the right outcomes and manage
any risks appropriately.
t The right person: people who need support are identified
and prioritised
t The right time: to prevent things getting worse, increase resilience
and maximise independence
t The right place: at home, in the community or in a specialist setting
– according to need and what is most cost-effective
t The right support: just enough to keep people safe and prevent,
reduce or delay the need for long term help, delivered by the right
people with the right skills
t The right partner: working more effectively with individuals, their
friends and families and in partnership with other organisations
– to achieve more joined-up and cost-effective support.

The right
person
People who are at risk or
need support to maximise
independence

Th

ts
e righ upport
Th

right place
e
h
T

right time
e
h
T

rs
e ri g
e
n
h t p ar t

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 5

64

Our strategic approach
To meet our obligations under the Care Act 2014 we have
developed a model which is ‘layered’. It is designed to ensure that
people can get the right level and type of support, at the right time
to help prevent, reduce or delay the need for ongoing support,
and maximise people’s independence.

Prevent need

Universal services,
promoting
wellbeing

Reduce need

Targeted
interventions for
those at risk

Delay need
Meeting
need

6 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

Reablement,
rehabilitation,
recovery
Progressive planning using a broad set of
social resources
(family, community,
personal budgets) to
ensure affordability

65

1. Prevent need
We will work with our partners to prevent people needing our support. We will do this
by providing information and advice so that people can benefit from services, facilities
or resources which improve their wellbeing. This service might not be focused on
particular health or support needs - but is available for the whole population – for
example, green spaces, libraries, adult learning, places of worship, community centres,
leisure centres, information and advice services. We will promote better health and
wellbeing and work together with families and communities (including local voluntary
and community groups).

2. Reduce need
We will identify those people most at risk of needing support in the future and intervene
early if possible to help them to stay well and prevent further need for services. For
example we might work with those who have just been diagnosed with dementia, or lost
a loved-one, people at risk of isolation, low-level mental health problems, and carers.
Our work will be targeted at people most likely to develop a need, and try to prevent
problems from getting worse so that they do not become dependent on support. This
might include: information, advice, minor adaptions to housing which can prevent a fall,
support and assistance provided at a distance using information and communication
technology via telephone or computer.

3. Delay need
This will focus on support for people who have experienced a crisis or who have an
illness or disability, for example, after a fall or a stroke, following an accident or onset
of illness. We will try to minimise the effect of disability or deterioration for people with
ongoing health conditions, complex needs or caring responsibilities. Our work will
include interventions such as reablement, rehabilitation, and recovery from mental health
difficulties. We will work together with the individual, their families and communities,
health and housing colleagues to ensure people experience the best outcomes through
the most cost effective support.

4. Meeting need
The need for local authority funded social care support will be determined once we
have identified and explored what’s available to someone within their family and
community. People who need our help and have been assessed as eligible for funding,
will be supported through a personal budget. The personal budget may be taken as a
payment directly to them or can be managed by the council. Wherever possible we will
work with people to provide a choice of help which is suitable to meet their outcomes.
However, in all cases the council will ensure that the cost of services provides the best
value for money. Whilst choice is important in delivering the outcomes that people want,
maintaining people’s independence and achieving value for money is paramount.

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 7

66

How we plan to achieve our vision
1. Prevent need
How it works now:
t People don’t know how to find the information they want
t People rely upon formal services for support

In four years’ time:
t Information and advice will be co-ordinated and easily accessible
t People will be better informed about maintaining their own and their family’s health
and wellbeing, and identify what they can do for themselves and each other
t People will think about the future and plan ahead in case they need support

We will:
t Support initiatives in the community which help people to stay independent
t Promote and facilitate access to ‘universal services’ – which are for everyone
t Further improve access to information and support people to plan ahead

Preventing need
Maggie is 55 and got in touch with the Advice Service because she has a
progressive physical condition, and wanted to make plans for her futuree
finances and housing arrangements. An Advice Service Worker met with
ith
Maggie to discuss her needs and wishes and the options available to
her. She has now put in place a Lasting Power of Attorney so her wishes
hes
can be enacted if she is unable to make decisions for herself later in life.
e.

2. Reduce need
How it works now:
t We have low expectations of what people can do for themselves
t We don’t actively identify people who are at risk of losing their independence

In four years’ time:
t We will identify people who may be at risk
t We will have good information about current and predicted situation
t We will maximise what’s in the community
t We will develop the support available in the community
t Carers will be aware of and will access support available, early in their caring role

We will:
t Support initiatives alongside our partners which identify those at risk early - through,
for example, our Local Area Co-ordination work
t Work with our partners to further develop and deliver services that reduce the need for
help - such as peer support groups, telephone care and targeted advice
t Support carers to remain mentally, emotionally and physically well

8 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

67
Reducing need
Bhavesh is a 77 year old gentleman caring for his 76 year old wife who has had
a stroke. He has no family living locally and is keen to continue to care for his wife
but is struggling with lifting and supporting her properly. Following contact with the
council-funded Carer Support Service he was supported to enrol on a specific carer
training course to learn techniques and to access equipment to enable him to make
his day to day caring role easier so that he can continue to provide the care
he wants to for his wife. He was able to find community transport to the
training course, and has continued to meet with fellow course members on
a regular basis which is helping him reduce his sense of isolation following
his wife’s stroke.

3. Delay need
How it works now:
t The focus is upon people’s disabilities or those things they find difficult
t Services are commissioned to maintain people at the same level of need
t We do not have good information about which interventions can reduce need

In four years’ time:
t We will focus upon what people can do for themselves, and enable people to be as
independent as possible
t The proportion of people needing long term support will be reduced
t People and communities will be supported to help themselves
t There will be effective recovery, rehabilitation and reablement services
t We will have good communication with staff - who understand what we are trying to
do and work towards this
t We will have an integrated transitions service
t There will be more joined up services across health and social care

We will:
t Work with Children and Family Services to ensure young people have their
opportunities maximised to live independently.
t Focus on how we can solve problems before we go through detailed assessments
with people
t Target help which helps people to get better and stay well in the future
t Join up with health partners to delay the need for our help

Delaying need
Vic is in his 60’s and now lives alone. He had a stroke which affected his left side
and has little function in his left arm (he cannot grip). His partner, who died a year
ago, did all the cooking in the household – since then Vic has been reliant upon
his daughter and domiciliary care services for his drinks and meals.
The reablement service worked with him to help him learn to use
a microwave and a kettle fitted onto a tipper so that he can make
drinks and reheat ready meals for himself. He is happy to be more
independent, his daughter has more time for herself and Vic is no
longer having any domiciliary care.
Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 9

68
Felix is a young man who has a diagnosis of a severe learning disability and Autistic
Spectrum Disorder, who lives at home with his mum and brothers. Felix started
to refuse go to his specialist school, or to wash and dress; he was staying up late
watching football and didn’t want to think about or discuss what he would do when
he left school. Learning disability nurses worked with Felix and his mum to set
boundaries and to address his behaviour. The Transitions Team helped Felix and his
mum to learn to use an iPad app to identify his interests and dislikes, and a support
plan was developed. A local Community Life Choices service offering activities
matching Felix’s interests was found for 3 days a week in school holidays. Felix enjoys
this, and knows he must attend school in order to go to the holiday service – this
also gives his mum a break from caring, and she no longer needs extra respite. Felix
has now joined a local inclusive football team, learned to walk to the
football ground safely on his own, and has chosen a college course.
At Felix’s review meeting, it was agreed that he would not need a
Personal Assistant at this time, as had previously been expected,
because he was doing so well and gaining confidence daily.

4. Meeting need
How it works now:
t Community and individual resources that can support people are not fully explored
t People have expectations that care will be funded through the council
t Services are ongoing regardless of people getting better or worse
t In some cases services may create reliance rather than promote independence,
and avoid rather than manage risk

In four years’ time:
t We will provide support to meet people’s needs where families and communities cannot
t Care will be focused on the person and be cost effective
t People will be supported with less funding from the council
t We will effectively manage demand within budget

We will:
t Develop the skills our staff need so that they are innovative and creative
when helping someone
t Regularly look at what we do so that we’re working as effectively as
possible and making the most of public money
t Work together with partners to manage risks and make sensible decisions
which provide benefits which we can measure

10 Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020

69
Meeting need
Malcolm is a 42 year old man with a learning disability, who had lived in residential
care for over 20 years. He moved to supported living, with 20 hours per week of
support. Twelve months later, he has learned to cook simple meals, do his own
washing and keep his home clean, how to be safe at home and what to do if he
needs some help. His support package has now
ow reduced to 7 hours per week, and
work with Malcolm focuses on maintaining his independence including
household tasks, budget management, daily activities and planning
for the future. To support him to be both safe and
nd independent, and
reassure his family, the property where he lives
es has door sensors fitted
so that if he goes outside at night an alarm is triggered. The property
also has fire detection equipment such as smoke
ke and heat detectors.
The alarm calls go through to waking night staff
ff located nearby.

Key activities to deliver the model
We will need to take some action to underpin our approach and help us to
deliver what we have set out.
We will:
t Develop our staff to ensure that people have the right skills and knowledge,
the right tools available, and are deployed in the right places
t Develop new ways of working, new practices and new procedures
t Gather good information about what people need, what we are supplying,
and what works, to help us manage performance
t Understand local priorities and work with communities to develop and
improve services
t Co-ordinate what we are doing with our partners
t Develop internal processes that are simple, transparent, consistently used
and easy to understand
t Manage robust financial systems – making it clear who is accountable
t Develop a detailed action plan, which will be regularly reviewed, updated,
and used to identify the next steps

Monitoring our performance
Our progress will be monitored and reviewed regularly with the support of partners
including Healthwatch, and the Making it Real Focus Group. Progress will be reported
through our business plan and local account each year.
We also report yearly to the Association of Directors of Social Services (ADASS), and
must submit performance data against the measures set out in the Adult Social Care
Outcomes Framework (ASCOF).

Our vision and strategy for adult social care 2016 – 2020 11

P0358

70

71

Adult Social Care
Commissioning Intentions
2016 – 2020

72

Introduction
This document sets out the Department’s commissioning intentions to achieve
the vision, objectives and outcomes of the Adult Social Care Strategy 2016
-2020. It outlines our future approach to adult social care where we will have
a reduced level of resources to meet increased levels of need. It will enable us
to deliver our Medium Term Financial Strategy and to help us work together
with our partners to provide more integrated health and social care services.
We plan to meet the challenges facing public services through continued
transformation of services and by changing the way we work in terms of
commissioning and procurement.
The focus of services in the future will be to promote, maintain and enhance
people’s wellbeing and independence in order that they are healthier, stronger,
more resilient and less reliant on formal social care services. By focusing on
preventive services and avoiding the development or deterioration of long-term
conditions, more expensive support can be avoided or delayed, decreasing
demand and freeing up resources for those who most need them.
Intended activity is informed by the information contained within the
Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment 2015, and the Market Position
Statement 2016 which outlines demand and supply within the local social care
market in Leicestershire.
This will be supported by a Workforce Strategy to be developed in 2016,
and by a detailed Delivery Action Plan for the activities outlined to deliver the
Department’s key aims and objectives.

2 Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020

We plan to meet the
challenges facing
public services
through continued
transformation of
services and by
changing the way
we work in terms of
commissioning and
procurement.

73

ADULT SOCIAL CARE SERVICES
2016 – 2020
VISION
To make the best use of the available resources to keep people in
Leicestershire independent

Our principles:
Our model for social care works to principles which aim to put the person at the
centre, and to ensure that the support they receive can deliver the right outcomes and
manage any risks appropriately.
The right person: people who need support are identified and prioritised
The right time: to prevent things getting worse, increase resilience and maximise
independence

Our model for
social care works
to principles
which aim to put
the person at the
centre

The right place: at home, in the community, or in a specialist setting – according to
need and what is most cost-effective
The right support: just enough to keep people safe and to prevent, reduce or delay
the need for long term help, delivered by the right people with the right skills
The right partner: working more effectively with individuals, their friends and families
and in partnership with other organisations – to achieve more joined-up and costeffective support

The right
person
People who are at risk or
need support to maximise
independence

Th

ts
e righ upport
Th

right place
e
h
T

right time
The

rs
e ri g
e
n
t
h t p ar
Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020 3

74

Our strategic approach:
We have developed a ‘layered’ model, designed to ensure that people can get the right
level and type of support, at the right time to help prevent, delay or reduce the need
for ongoing support, and maximise people’s independence.

1. Prevent need
Universal services, promoting and supporting wellbeing

2. Reduce need
Targeted interventions for those at risk – intervening early for those who might need
support in the future

3. Delay need
Reablement, rehabilitation and recovery for people who have experienced a crisis, or
have a defined illness or disability

4. Meeting need
Progressive planning – using a broad set of social resources (family, community,
personal budgets) to ensure affordability and maximise independence

Prevent need

Universal services,
promoting
wellbeing

Reduce need

Targeted
interventions for
those at risk

Delay need
Meeting
need

4 Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020

Reablement,
rehabilitation,
recovery
Progressive planning using a broad set of
social resources
(family, community,
personal budgets) to
ensure affordability

75

Strategic aims
In order to achieve the desired preventative approach to commissioning it is important
to have clear aims and objectives. The commissioning intentions include activities that
will enable Adult Social Care to:
tEFMJWFSJUTTUBUVUPSZEVUJFTVOEFSUIF$BSF"DU
tNBOBHFJODSFBTJOHMFWFMTPGEFNBOEBTFGGFDUJWFMZBTQPTTJCMF
tEFMJWFSDPTUFGGFDUJWFTPDJBMDBSFTFSWJDFT
tBDIJFWFFGmDJFODJFTBOENBOBHFPVSmOBODJBMSFTPVSDFT
tTVQQPSUQFPQMFUPCFBTJOEFQFOEFOUBOETFMGTVGmDJFOUBTQPTTJCMF
tEFMJWFSTFSWJDFTUIBUBSFAKPJOFEVQXJUIIFBMUIQBSUOFST UPJNQSPWFPVUDPNFTBOE
avoid duplication.

These aims and
objectives will be
achieved through
commissioning in
ways that support
our preventative
approach

These aims and objectives will be achieved through commissioning in ways that
support our preventative approach. We will work to improve our commissioning,
procurement and contract management processes to ensure that people are
safeguarded from abuse and neglect, and are actively encouraged to take
responsibility to improve their own physical and mental wellbeing and to maintain a
healthy lifestyle.
We will engage people who use services and their carers in co-production as far
as possible, recognising their contribution to decision making about performance
outcomes, the development of strategies and plans, and their implementation. This
will link to an outcome focused commissioning approach to ensure that services
are flexible, responsive and person centred. Our approach will acknowledge the
importance and value of social and community networks, and establishing an ethos of
reciprocity and mutual support.

Our approach will
acknowledge the
importance and
value of social
and community
networks

Our commissioning will be based on evidence of what works, to secure robust,
high quality services that are designed to meet the needs and desired outcomes of
the people of Leicestershire. We will work to reduce the need for and dependency
on expensive interventions such as extensive care in the community, admission
or readmission to hospital or long term care by investing in creative and innovative
solutions that promote wellbeing, re-ablement and independence.
We will seek the involvement of a broad range of strategic partners from the statutory,
independent and voluntary sectors, who are responsible for contributing to the
development of this strategic approach and overseeing the commissioning intentions
and delivery.

Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020 5

76

Ways of working
In order to achieve the savings required against current service delivery, and reshape
services to ensure they can deliver the new model of social care in the future, this
approach will require new ways of working, both for the Council’s Adult Social Care
Department and for providers delivering support.

We will:
tEFWFMPQTLJMMTBDSPTTUIFXPSLGPSDFUPFNCFEBQSPHSFTTJWFBQQSPBDIUISPVHI
POHPJOHSFWJFX
tNBYJNJTFFGGFDUJWFOFTTBOEWBMVFGPSNPOFZBDSPTTBMMGVODUJPOT JODMVEJOH
SFHVMBSBVEJUBOESFWJFXPGQSPWJTJPO
tXPSLKPJOUMZXJUIQBSUOFSTUPNBOBHFSJTL BOEDPNNJTTJPOEFMJWFSTFSWJDFT
XIFSFUIFSFBSFFWJEFODFECFOFmUT
tEFDPNNJTTJPOTFSWJDFTUIBUBSFOPUPVUDPNFGPDVTFEPSFGGFDUJWFJOUIFJS
DVSSFOUGPSN
tEFWFMPQPVUDPNFTGPDVTTFEDPNNJTTJPOJOHBOENPOJUPSJOHUPPMTUPTVQQPSU
delivery of effective, high quality and value for money services and to facilitate
evaluation of performance.

6 Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020

77

Commissioning intentions
A detailed review of the way we work and the services we
commission has been undertaken, and combined with the
outcomes of consultation and engagement with stakeholders
it has been concluded that we will focus on the areas of work
outlined below.

All services:
t8IFSFUIFMPDBMNBSLFUJTOPUXPSLJOHFGGFDUJWFMZ BTJEFOUJmFEJOUIF.BSLFU
Position Statement) we will actively commission new and different services

Prevent
t4VQQPSUJOHJNQSPWFEBDDFTTUPBCSPBESBOHFPGJOGPSNBUJPO BEWJDFBOETVQQPSU
that can promote wellbeing and independence.
t"DUJWFMZXPSLUPFOTVSFUIFSFJTBOBMJHOFE DPIFSFOUPGGFSPGJOGPSNBUJPOBOEBEWJDF
t&OTVSJOHBMMDPOUSBDUFETVQQMJFSTQSPWJEFRVBMJUZ BDDFTTJCMFJOGPSNBUJPOBTQBSUPG
their service delivery.
t8PSLXJUI1VCMJD)FBMUIUPFOTVSFTFSWJDFTBSFDPNNJTTJPOFEUIBUBDUJWFMZ
encourage people to take responsibility to improve their own physical and mental
wellbeing and to maintain a healthy lifestyle.
t4VQQPSUQFPQMFXIPNBZIBWFDBSFOFFETJOUIFGVUVSFGPSBTMPOHBTQPTTJCMF
through access to universal community based services, by ensuring that
information about such services is shared and utilised by strategic and operational
partners.

Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020 7

78

Reduce
t"MPOHTJEFPVSQBSUOFST GVSUIFSEFWFMPQJOHBOFXNPEFMPGFBSMZJOUFSWFOUJPOBOE
prevention support (this includes a range of services, for example preventative
mental health services, peer support and advocacy).
t&OTVSJOHUIBUGVOEJOHJTUBSHFUFEUPXBSETUIPTFBUHSFBUFTUSJTLPGOFFEJOHTPDJBMDBSF
support.
t%FWFMPQJOHNPOJUPSJOHBOESFQPSUJOHTZTUFNTUPVOEFSTUBOEUIFJNQBDUBOE
maximise the benefits of early identification and prevention services. Only those
interventions that have significant cost benefits will be funded.
t4VQQPSUJOHDBSFSTUPDPOUJOVFJOUIFJSDBSJOHSPMFCZSFNBJOJOHNFOUBMMZ FNPUJPOBMMZ
and physically well. This will be achieved through ongoing identification within
primary care settings, continued investment in cost effective carer support services,
and the use of carers’ personal budgets.

Delay
t&OBCMFNPSFQFPQMFXJUIMFBSOJOHEJTBCJMJUJFTUPBDDFTTNBJOTUSFBNTVQQPSU
and services, and reduce the numbers of people receiving care that limits their
independence.
t%FWFMPQFGGFDUJWFFNQMPZNFOUQBUIXBZTGPSXPSLJOHBHFBEVMUT
t.BYJNJTJOHUIFVTFPGFRVJQNFOUBOEUFDIOPMPHZXIJDIDBOEFMJWFSMFTTJOUSVTJWF
and more cost-effective care.
t#FECBTFESFBCMFNFOUXJMMPGGFSBUJNFMJNJUFEJOUFSWFOUJPOEFTJHOFEUPTVQQPSU
people to regain independent living skills in settings with flexible levels of support .
t4VQQPSUQFPQMFUPBDIJFWFNBYJNVNQPTTJCMFJOEFQFOEFODF CZNPWJOHUPTFSWJDF
models (including home care provision) which are focused on reablement and
recovery, to delay the need for higher levels of support.

8 Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020

79

Meeting need
t5IFOFFEGPSQVCMJDMZGVOEFETPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUXJMMCFEFUFSNJOFEPOMZPODF
personal and community resources and assets have been identified and fully
explored.
t1FSTPOBMCVEHFUTXJMMCFUBLFOBTDBTIEJSFDUQBZNFOUTXIFSFUIFTFQSPNPUF
independence. We will increase the proportion of cash Personal Budgets, facilitated
through the provision of pre-paid cards. All personal budgets will be funded to the
level that is just enough to meet eligible needs.
t8FXJMMXPSLXJUIQSPWJEFSTUPFNCFEQSPHSFTTJWFNPEFMTPGTVQQPSU UPNBYJNJTF
independence and ensure that capacity is available to meet the demand from
the growth in numbers of people needing support. In the shorter term this will
CFJNQMFNFOUFEUISPVHIUIFQSPDVSFNFOUPG)PNF$BSF 4VQQPSUFE-JWJOHBOE
Community Life Choices – working with fewer providers to progressively achieve
optimum levels of independence for service users and reduce the amount of
support required.
t8FXJMMCFnFYJCMFJOPVSBQQSPBDIUPQSPWJEFSTUPBMMPXGPSJOOPWBUJPO CVUUIJT
will be in the context of a greater focus on managing providers’ performance to
ensure we are getting the most from all of our commissioning and contracting
arrangements.
t5PGVSUIFSEFWFMPQBMUFSOBUJWFTUPSFTJEFOUJBMDBSF BOFX"DDPNPEBUJPO4USBUFHZXJMM
be developed in 2016 and we will promote recruitment of new shared lives carers,
alongside our new Supported Living Framework.

Further identification of services and work areas that require transformation will be
ongoing throughout the life of the Adult Social Care Strategy and commissioning
intentions and will be reported through our Annual Business Plans.

Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020 9

80

Resources
It is essential that transformation of services underpins the Medium Term Financial
Strategy (MTFS) proposals to ensure that key outcomes are delivered and services are
sustainable in the future. The departmental approach is consistent with the themes in
council wide transformation.
*O UIF$PVODJMTQFOUbNJMMJPOPOEJSFDUTPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUGPSBEVMUT 
as follows:

People of 65 and over

52%
Financial year
5PUBM

Adults of working age
oZFBST

47%

£161.7m

Non-age specific

1%
We anticipate that these proportions will change over time, in response to the
implementation of progressive planning (reducing the proportion of spend on adults of
working age) and the expected increase in the numbers of older people and of people
with dementia.

10 Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020

81
 bNJMMJPO PGUIFTQFOEPOEJSFDUTPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUXBTTQFOUPOJOIPVTF
services (Council direct provision). Care commissioned from the independent sector was
WBMVFEBUbNJMMJPO TQFOUPOUIFGPMMPXJOHUZQFTPGTFSWJDFQSPWJTJPO

Community Life Choices

3%
Domiciliary care

Residential and
Nursing Care

18%

52%
Independent Sector
Care Spend:

£144m

Alternatives to
residential care

10%
(shared lives, supported living)

These proportions are also expected to change over time, with the new focus on
supporting people to remain independent in their own home as long as possible.
5IFSFNBJOJOHXBTTQFOUPOEJSFDUDBTIQFSTPOBMCVEHFUT BOEBTNBMMBNPVOU
(0.35%) on community meals.

The current departmental savings targets as outlined in the MTFS are:
2016/17
£000

2017/18
£000

2018/19
£000

2019/2020
£000

-7,660

-13,970

-17,635

-18,585

This document highlights our commissioning intentions which will support the
successful delivery of the savings set out in the MTFS, whilst delivering quality,
efficient and responsive care for those who need it.

Adult Social Care Commisioning Strategy 2016 – 2020 11

P0776

82

83

Adult and Community
Services
Market Position Statement

84

Contents
Introduction .................................................................................................................................3
Leicestershire’s Strategic Approach ...............................................................................................4
Key Messages for Providers...........................................................................................................6
The Population of Leicestershire ....................................................................................................8
Heath and Care Needs..................................................................................................................9
Key issues and priorities for Leicestershire ...................................................................................10
Overview of people using Adult Social Care ..................................................................................11
Resources ..................................................................................................................................14
Adult Social Care Outcomes for Leicestershire ..............................................................................16
Delivering the Strategy ...............................................................................................................18
Preventing Need .....................................................................................................................18
Reducing Need ......................................................................................................................20
Delaying Need .......................................................................................................................22
Meeting Need ........................................................................................................................24
Self-funders ...............................................................................................................................28
Quality Management, Safeguarding and Workforce Development ...................................................29
Conclusion .................................................................................................................................33

2 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

85

Introduction
I am pleased to present our Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement
which sets out Leicestershire County Council’s vision for the care and support of people
living in the county, as well as our commissioning intentions. We recognise and value the
organisations that we work with in the provision of services for people living in the county
and we anticipate that this statement will be of benefit to providers by informing them of
likely future services and support requirements.
The Adult Social Care Strategy 2016-2020 ‘Promoting Independence, Supporting
Communities’ approach to helping people help themselves will shape how services are
commissioned. We are committed to developing and supporting the market place for
services that meet the needs and expectations of all our customers, including self-funders,
and carers.
Leicestershire County Council wants to place the person at the heart of what it does and
customers of the department are able to influence decision making through varied coproduction, engagement opportunities and partnership boards. Working in this way gives a
strong foundation for the introduction of the Care Act 2014 which brings a new focus for us
to provide advice and information for people on how they both pay and plan for their future
care needs.

We are
committed to
working with
providers and
customers
as partners
and will be
open and
transparent in
our dealings
with them.

We are committed to working with providers and customers as partners and will be open
and transparent in our dealings with them. This approach will form the basis of discussions
with providers and customers who inform and influence our commissioning activity. In
2016, for example, the ‘Help to Live at Home’ contract will change the way that home care
is delivered as the result of consultation with customers and engagement with providers; the
service will have a locality focus and allow for care staff to work creatively and flexibly with
customers to help them maintain their independence.
In line with the Care Act, integrated commissioning with the NHS has been a significant
development in the way new and different services are commissioned with the Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) in Leicestershire; this is expected to deliver benefits for both
providers in the market place and customers. It is a new way of working with the aim of
working seamlessly with health so that customers are able to access the help they need
when they need it regardless of organisational boundaries.
This statement contains information on the local market, our strategies for different service
types, information on the state of specific markets in Leicestershire and analysis that will be
of benefit to providers of services. Setting out our priorities and intentions in this way will
enable providers to plan their businesses with confidence and meet customer expectations.
Whether you are a commissioner, provider or other local organisation I hope you will
be able to make use of the additional information and resources made available in the
document and by web link.
In addition to this Market Position Statement, we will publish our Adult Social Care
Commissioning Strategy and Workforce Strategy in 2016 and these key documents will
inform prospective suppliers of our future procurement and market development intentions.

Sandy McMillan
Assistant Director
Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 3

86

Leicestershire’s Strategic Approach
Leicestershire has adopted a strategic approach with a focus on providing information and
advice, prevention and reablement; summarised in the Promoting Independence, Supporting
Communities strategy. Reablement and rehabilitation services are delivered jointly across the
Leicestershire system so that the right interventions are available at the right time and in the
right place and customers are supported in a seamless way, in achieving the independence
and well-being outcomes they want and value.
At times of change and challenge it is important that the County Council continues to meet
its statutory duties including achieving change within our resources. Through Promoting
Independence, Supporting Communities our aim is to make the necessary savings to deliver
our Medium Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2016-20 whilst delivering good quality,
flexible support to those who need it most.
Our model for social care works to principles which aim to put the person at the centre, and
to ensure that the support they receive can deliver the right outcomes and manage any risks
appropriately. This ‘enabling’ ethos is at the core of all service offers to customers and must
be evident in the behaviours and approaches of the workforce at whatever level services
are accessed. We will facilitate collaborative working between statutory, independent and
voluntary sectors and promote partnership working to provide more integrated social care
services. Where needed, customers will have a specific outcomes based reablement plan
that will help them achieve short term goals to restore or maximise the skills they need to
retain or regain independence. For those requiring longer term support we expect providers
to maximise the use of a customers’ existing support and assets, promote self-care, maximise
the use of Assistive Technology and take a progressive approach, reducing reliance on local
authority funded support over time.
Customers will be offered the appropriate level of help, within our strategic approach using a
four tier model.

Prevent need

Universal services,
promoting
wellbeing

Reduce need

Targeted
interventions for
those at risk

Delay need
Meeting
need

4 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

Reablement,
rehabilitation,
recovery
Progressive planning using a broad set of
social resources
(family, community,
personal budgets) to
ensure affordability

87

Prevent need

See Page 17 »

t8FXJMMXPSLXJUIPVSQBSUOFSTUPQSFWFOUQFPQMFOFFEJOHPVSTVQQPSU8FXJMMEPUIJT
by providing information and advice so that people can benefit from services, facilities or
resources which improve their wellbeing.
t5IJTTFSWJDFNJHIUOPUCFGPDVTFEPOQBSUJDVMBSIFBMUIPSTVQQPSUOFFETCVUJTBWBJMBCMF
for the whole population – for example, green spaces, libraries, adult learning, places of
worship, community centres, leisure centres, and information and advice services.
t8FXJMMQSPNPUFCFUUFSIFBMUIBOEXFMMCFJOHBOEXPSLUPHFUIFSXJUIGBNJMJFTBOE
communities (including local voluntary and community groups).

Reducing need

See Page 19 »

t8FXJMMJEFOUJGZUIPTFQFPQMFNPTUBUSJTLPGOFFEJOHTVQQPSUJOUIFGVUVSFBOEJOUFSWFOF
early if possible to help them to stay well and prevent further need for services. For
example, we might work with those who have just been diagnosed with dementia, or lost
a loved-one, people at risk of isolation, low-level mental health problems, and carers.
t0VSXPSLXJMMCFUBSHFUFEBUQFPQMFNPTUMJLFMZUPEFWFMPQBOFFE BOEUSZUPQSFWFOU
problems from getting worse so that they do not become dependent on support.
t1SPWJTJPONJHIUJODMVEFJOGPSNBUJPO BEWJDF NJOPSBEBQUJPOTUPIPVTJOHXIJDIDBO
prevent a fall, support and assistance provided at a distance using information and
communication technology via telephone or computer.

Delaying need

See Page 21 »

t5IJTXJMMGPDVTPOTVQQPSUGPSQFPQMFXIPIBWFFYQFSJFODFEBDSJTJTPSXIPIBWFBOJMMOFTT
or disability, for example, after a fall or a stroke, following an accident or onset of illness.
t8FXJMMUSZUPNJOJNJTFUIFFGGFDUPGEJTBCJMJUZPSEFUFSJPSBUJPOGPSQFPQMFXJUIPOHPJOH
health conditions, complex needs or caring responsibilities.
t0VSXPSLXJMMJODMVEFJOUFSWFOUJPOTTVDIBTSFBCMFNFOU SFIBCJMJUBUJPO BOESFDPWFSZGSPN
mental health difficulties.
t8FXJMMXPSLUPHFUIFSXJUIJOEJWJEVBMT UIFJSGBNJMJFTBOEDPNNVOJUJFT IFBMUIBOEIPVTJOH
colleagues to ensure people experience the best outcomes through the most cost effective
support.

Meeting need

See Page 23 »

t5IFOFFEGPSMPDBMBVUIPSJUZGVOEFETPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUXJMMCFEFUFSNJOFEPODFXFIBWF
identified and explored what is available to someone within their family and community.
t1FPQMFXIPOFFEPVSIFMQBOEIBWFCFFOBTTFTTFEBTFMJHJCMFGPSGVOEJOH XJMMCF
supported through a personal budget. The personal budget may be taken as a direct
payment using the new direct payment card predominantly.
t8IFSFWFSQPTTJCMFXFXJMMXPSLXJUIQFPQMFUPQSPWJEFBDIPJDFPGIFMQXIJDIJTTVJUBCMFUP
meet their outcomes. However, in all cases the council will ensure that the cost of services
provides the best value for money.
t8IJMTUDIPJDFJTJNQPSUBOUJOEFMJWFSJOHUIFPVUDPNFTUIBUQFPQMFXBOU NBJOUBJOJOH
people’s independence and achieving value for money is paramount.
Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 5

88
The main opportunities in the year ahead will related to the provision of services that offer a cost effective
alternative to Residential Care, (such as Supported Living and Extra Care) and services that focus on maximising
independence (such as Community Life Choices). We will be exploring further opportunities to expand on
our reablement offer, to delay the need for more extensive and longer term support, as demonstrated in the
imminent Home Care procurement (Help to Live at Home). We are also keen to explore the further use of
Assistive Technology and integrated services that promote independence and reduce need.

Key Messages for Providers
Prevent
1.

The department will develop our prevention offer with partners by promoting independence in the
community, encouraging family support and commissioning services that actively encourage people to
take responsibility for improving their own physical and mental wellbeing, maintaining a healthy lifestyle
and planning for the future. We want providers to promote self-reliance and facilitate access to
community provision and a comprehensive range of advice and information.

2.

In line with the Public Services (Social Value) Act 2012 we as commissioners will seek to secure
economic, social or environmental benefits when buying services above the Official Journal of the
European Union (OJEU) threshold. Therefore the department wants to work with providers that
can embed social value within local communities and improve sustainability by developing and
promoting innovative services.

Reduce
3. The department will support carers via a new care pathway, shaped by the requirements of the Care
Act, offering information and advice, professional support and in cases where more significant support
is required, provision via a personal budget. The department is committed to continued investment in
support services for carers that enable them to remain in their caring role.
4. Monitoring departmental investment in any services that may reduce need (for example Mental Health
Drop-ins peer support groups and Advice services), will ensure that they are targeted towards and
accessible to those at future risk of need social care support. The department will work with providers
to measure and better understand the impact of early support in determining future commissioning
intentions and targeting funding on services that are cost effective and deliver tangible results.

Delay
5. Through our central role in Better Care Together, the department is working with health services to
reduce duplication and align procurement processes in order to come to the market with ‘joined up’
requirements and monitoring processes. Key to this will be the development of reablement ‘step
down’ services to provide temporary support to people leaving hospital and ‘step up’ services to
reduce hospital admissions.
6. The department will support people with learning disabilities to access a broader range of resources,
thus delaying the need for more traditional packages of care that limit their independence and
reduce the potential cost of ongoing support.
7. The department will work with providers to develop and deliver an effective employment pathway
for working age adults.
6 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

89
8. The department will support work with customers, families and service providers to promote the
effective use of equipment, and assistive technology, to optimise independence, safety and wellbeing.

Meet Need
9. The department must operate within a context of increasing need as the population ages, without
a corresponding increase in financial resources. Achieving value for money is therefore critical to
delivering our strategic objectives and we will be working with providers that can deliver outcomes,
using person centred approaches that build on community resources and the personal assets of the
customer.
10. Block contacts will continue to reduce as they are replaced with personal budgets, framework
agreements and outcome based commissioning arrangements to ensure more person centred provision.
Working with providers that can demonstrate high quality, person centred and progressive care
(including access to employment), particularly with regard to support for people with Learning
Disabilities or enduring mental health issues, is also a key priority for us.
11. Procurement will move towards a focus on outcomes rather than time and task activity by identifying
best practice nationally, consulting locally and learning from approaches identified through the
Innovation programme. Providers that can demonstrate the cost effective achievement of outcomes
will be very well placed to work with us in the future.
12. We will extend the use of Direct Payments and will welcome the development of more innovative
approaches to support people. An increasingly diverse range of providers will be needed to meet the
demand from people using their personal budgets to purchase such services. Our desire to increase the
number of Micro Providers and Personal Assistants goes hand in hand with this aspiration.
13. LCC will be focusing on developing strategic relationships with a smaller number of care and
support providers, with whom we can promote innovation, consistent quality and effectiveness of
service delivery and respond flexibly to the changing needs of the local population. This approach
underpins our current partnership programme with Leicestershire’s clinical commissioning groups to
reshaping homecare services, which focus on reablement and optimising independence. The Help to
Live at Home re-procurement that will take place early in 2016 is a major business opportunity for
domiciliary or home care Providers.
14. We will be implementing new approaches to Community Life Choices and Supported Living in 2016,
to implement a progressive approach to support with a smaller number of providers.
15. With the high number of individuals transitioning from Children’s to Adult services, and the number
of high cost placements for those requiring complex care, particularly in relation to Learning Disability
services, we want to work with providers that can deliver sustainable, cost effective and personcentred approaches to support in this area.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 7

90

The Population of Leicestershire
PREDICTED
POPULATION

GROWTH OF

The population of Leicestershire is growing, and it is predicted to reach 753,100 people
by 2037, an increase of over 96,000 from 2012. However, the population is not growing
uniformly for all age groups; detailed information can be found in the Joint Strategic Needs
Assessment for Leicestershire but summary information is provided here.
t#FUXFFOBOE UIFUPUBMQPQVMBUJPOJTQSFEJDUFEUPHSPXCZ

15%

t5IFQPQVMBUJPOHSPXUIJOQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTBOEPWFSJTQSFEJDUFEUPCFOFBSMZ 
from 15,900 to 45,600 people.

2012-2037

t5IFQPQVMBUJPOBHFEJTQSFEJDUFEUPHSPXCZ GSPN UP
people.

POPULATION

65-84

t5IFZPVOHFSQPQVMBUJPO BHFEZFBST JTQSFEJDUFEUPHSPXCZGSPN UP
208,800 people.
t)PXFWFS UIFBEVMUQPQVMBUJPOBHFEZFBSTJTQSFEJDUFEUPSFEVDFCZGSPN
339,900 people to 333,900 people.

GROWTH OF

56%
36,708
PEOPLE

The population growth patterns have implications for the provision of services for older
people. There will be more older people with complex care needs that will require additional
input from all parts of the health and social care system. This will need to be supported by
people providing unpaid care through informal caring arrangements.
However, the reduction in adults of working age suggests that, as well as planning for the
increased needs for services there is a long-term need to consider the infrastructure needed
locally to support people.
This will be essential to maintaining independence and to support people to manage their
own health and care needs with a shrinking network of informal care and support.

LONG TERM

CONDITION
OR DISABILITY

8 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

91

Heath and Care Needs
The 2011 Census data provides an opportunity to review data on people’s self-reported
health and disability status, and how this changes for people that fall into many of the
protected characteristics groups.

16,431
OLDER
PEOPLE

t"MUIPVHI QFPQMFJO-FJDFTUFSTIJSFSFQPSUFEUIBUUIFZXFSFJOWFSZHPPEIFBMUI
  SFQPSUFEUIBUUIFZXFSFJOCBEIFBMUI  BOE QFPQMFSFQPSUFE
UIBUUIFZXFSFJOWFSZCBEIFBMUI  
t QFPQMFSFQPSUFEUIBUUIFJSEBJMZBDUJWJUJFTXFSFMJNJUFEBMPUCZBMPOHUFSN
DPOEJUJPOPSEJTBCJMJUZ  BOE QFPQMFSFQPSUFEUIBUUIFJSEBJMZBDUJWJUJFTXFSF
MJNJUFEBMJUUMFCZBMPOHUFSNDPOEJUJPOPSEJTBCJMJUZ  
t5IFSFBSFBUPUBMPG PMEFSQFPQMFQSPWJEJOHVOQBJEDBSF
t0OMZPGQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTBOEPWFSSFQPSUFEOPMJNJUBUJPOTUPUIFJSEBZUPEBZ
BDUJWJUJFT XJUISFQPSUJOHUIBUBDUJWJUJFTBSFMJNJUFEBMJUUMFBOESFQPSUJOHUIBU
activities are limited a lot.
tPGQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTBOEPGQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTSFQPSUUIBUUIFJS
activities are limited by a long-term health problem or disability either a little or a lot.
t*OUIFXPSLJOHBHFBEVMUQPQVMBUJPO UIFQSPQPSUJPOJTMPXFSCVUUIFSFBSFTUJMMPG
QFPQMFBHFEZFBST PGQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTBOEPGQFPQMFBHFE
who report that their activities are limited by a long-term health problem or disability either
a little or a lot.

PROVIDING

UNPAID

CARE
NEARLY

50%
OF PEOPLE

OVER 65

REGARD
THEMSELVES

t5IFQSPQPSUJPOPGQFPQMFUIBUSFQPSUUIFJSIFBMUIBTHPPEPSWFSZHPPEEFDSFBTFTXJUIBHF
PGZFBSPMET PGZFBSPMET PGZFBSPMETBOEPG
people aged 65 years and over reported themselves in good or very good health;

AS HAVING

POOR
HEALTH

t/FBSMZIBMGPGBMMQFPQMFBHFEZFBSTBOEPWFSEPOPUSFHBSEUIFNTFMWFTBTCFJOHJOHPPE
IFBMUI XJUIPGUIJTBHFHSPVQSFQPSUJOHUIFJSIFBMUIBTCBEPSWFSZCBE

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 9

92

Key issues and priorities for Leicestershire
1. Frail Elderly People - evidence shows that we are an aging population. The
population growth patterns have implications for the provision of services for
older people. There will be greater numbers of older people with complex care
needs who will require more input from all parts of the social care system. This
will need to be supported by people providing unpaid care through informal
caring arrangements. However, the reduction in adults of working age (who can
be informal carers and support providers) suggests that, as well as planning
for the increased needs for services there is a long term need to consider
the infrastructure needed locally to support people. This will be essential to
maintaining independence and to support people to manage their own health and
wellbeing. Closely linked to the ageing of the population is a projected increase
in the demand for care and support for all people, especially those people affected
by higher incidence conditions such as Diabetes, Visual Impairment, Depression,
Dementia and Cardio-Vascular Disease (CVD).
2. Long term conditions - the people identified through the 2011 Census as having
their daily activities limited due a long-term health condition or disability are a key
target population for early intervention and prevention services. The increasing
ageing population in Leicestershire will be accompanied by a year on year increase
in the number of people in this population group.
3. Dementia - Because of the greater prevalence of dementia amongst older
people, it is anticipated that demand for quality dementia services will increase
proportionately with demographic changes. Linked to this it is estimated that three
quarters of people with dementia also have a physical health condition; another
factor likely to increase their need for social care support.
4. Mental Health - There remains a high prevalence of mental ill health across the
population and there is a need to have services across the board to meet the needs
of this population. Recovery is a key issue for people affected by mental ill health,
as is accessing support to secure and maintain appropriate housing, education,
training and employment in the longer term.
5. Learning Disabilities - The expected increase in numbers of young people (under
18) who have a learning disability who will transition into adult services during
the next 5 years is significant. This will put additional pressure on adult social care
services at a time when an increase in the number of older people with learning
disabilities is also expected due to extended life expectancy.
6. Carers - The Care Act has for the first time put carers on a par with those for
XIPNUIFZTVQQPSU5IJT DPNCJOFEXJUIUIFQSFEJDUFESJTFPGJOUIF
number of carers by 2030 (corresponding to the number of people likely to need
social care support), requires a proactive approach by the Local Authority in order
to support them to continue caring, whilst maintaining their own well-being.

10 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

There will
be greater
numbers of
older people
with complex
care needs who
will require
more input
from all parts
of the social
care system.

The Care Act
has for the
first time put
carers on a par
with those they
support.

93

Overview of people using Adult Social Care
Set out below is a summary of the anticipated support which will be offered to new
customers in Leicestershire during the current year, categorised by the activity undertaken by
the council following the request made by the client (the sequel to that request).

Sequel to Customer Requestes for Support 2015/16 (estimate)
Meet Need

3,338

Delay Need

4,688

Reduce Need

6,920

Prevent Need

21,638

0

5000

10000

15000

20000

25000

4PVSDF4"-5
t1FPQMFXIPDPOUBDU"EVMU4PDJBM$BSFBOENBZOPUCFFMJHJCMF PSOFFETVQQPSUGSPNPUIFS
agencies fall into the prevent category. This includes people that are signposted to other
agencies such as Housing Support, the NHS and voluntary sector organisations.
t5IFSFEVDFOFFEHSPVQJODMVEFTQFPQMFUIBUBSFTVQQPSUFEXJUIFRVJQNFOU BTTJTUJWF
technology, short term residential and home care, crisis response and advocacy.
t5IFEFMBZOFFEDBUFHPSZJODMVEFTQFPQMFUIBUSFDFJWFSFBCMFNFOUTVQQPSUFJUIFSBUIPNFPS
in a short term residential placement and inclusion support for people with mental health
challenges.
t1FPQMFGPSXIPNUIFFYQFDUFETFRVFMXJMMCFUIBUUIFDPVODJMNFFUOFFEJODMVEFUIPTFUIBU
obtain long term support such as home, residential or nursing care. It also included people
that take a Direct Payment, Supported Living and palliative care.
The central aim of the Adult Social Care Strategy is to shift resources and activities from
meeting need to approaches that prevent, reduce and delay need.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 11

94
The following tables detail the number of people supported in Nursing, Residential and
Community Care, categorised by the Primary Support reason. The first table related to
working age adults and the second table relates to people who are 65 years and older.

The number of people aged 18-64 years accessing Long
Term Support during the year to 31st March
Community
Primary Support Reason
Nursing

Residential

Direct
Payment
Only

Part Direct
Payment

Managed
Personal
Budget

Commissioned
Support Only

Total

1IZTJDBM4VQQPSU"DDFTTBOE.PCJMJUZ
Only

-

36

189

26

30

63

345

1IZTJDBM4VQQPSU1FSTPOBM$BSF
Support

7

23

144

77

110

133

494

4FOTPSZ4VQQPSU4VQQPSUGPS7JTVBM
Impairment

-

-

10

-

-

0

13

Support with Memory and Cognition

-

7

-

-

-

-

15

Learning Disability Support

-

334

277

232

181

198

1,225

10

66

309

51

36

35

507

4PDJBM4VQQPSU4VCTUBODF.JTVTF
Support

-

7

-

-

-

-

16

4PDJBM4VQQPSU4VQQPSUGPS4PDJBM
*TPMBUJPO0UIFS

-

-

22

5

13

-

44

21

474

958

394

377

436

2,661

Mental Health Support

4063$&4"-5

12 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

95

The number of people aged 65+ years accessing Long
Term Support during the year to 31st March
Community
Primary Support Reason
Nursing

Residential

Direct
Payment
Only

Part Direct
Payment

Managed
Personal
Budget

Commissioned
Support Only

Total

94

350

127

58

251

298

1,178

238

989

220

173

1,519

1,130

4,269

4FOTPSZ4VQQPSU4VQQPSUGPS7JTVBM
Impairment

-

-

-

-

12

-

25

Support with Memory and Cognition

36

144

15

14

126

32

367

-

65

7

8

24

21

125

115

401

57

37

144

108

862

4PDJBM4VQQPSU4VCTUBODF.JTVTF
Support

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

4PDJBM4VQQPSU4VQQPSUGPS4PDJBM
*TPMBUJPO0UIFS

-

8

5

-

35

14

66

484

1,971

434

297

2,119

1,608

6,913

1IZTJDBM4VQQPSU"DDFTTBOE.PCJMJUZ
Only
1IZTJDBM4VQQPSU1FSTPOBM$BSF
Support

Learning Disability Support
Mental Health Support

4063$&4"-5

t*OUIFXPSLJOHBHFHSPVQ QFPQMFXJUI-FBSOJOH%JTBCJMJUJFTSFQSFTFOUBMNPTUIBMGPGUIF
people accessing long term support, the council is reviewing the support provided to this
group with a view to improving commissioning to build independence and drive down
costs.
t*OUIFPMEFSBHFHSPVQ UIFJODJEFODFPGEFNFOUJBJTJODSFBTJOHBOEUIFSFJTBOPQQPSUVOJUZ
for providers that can provide integrated dementia care
t*ODSFBTJOHUIFUBLFVQPG%JSFDU1BZNFOUT VTJOHUIF%JSFDU1BZNFOU$BSESFNBJOTB
priority for both age groups.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 13

96

Resources
It is essential that transformation of services underpins the Medium Term Financial Strategy
(MTFS) proposals to ensure that key outcomes are delivered and services are sustainable
in the future. The departmental approach is consistent with the themes in council wide
transformation.
*O UIF$PVODJMTQFOUbNJMMJPOPOTPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUGPSBEVMUT BTGPMMPXT

People of 65 and over

52%
Financial year
5PUBM

Adults of working age
(18 – 64 years)

47%

£161.7m

Non-age specific

1%
We anticipate that these proportions will change over time, in response to the
implementation of progressive planning (reducing the proportion of spend on adults of
working age) and the expected increase in the numbers of older people and of people with
dementia.

14 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

97
 bNJMMJPO PGUIFTQFOEPOEJSFDUTPDJBMDBSFTVQQPSUXBTTQFOUPO in-house services
(Council direct provision) this proportion is expected to reduce over time as fewer services
are delivered by in-house provision. Care commissioned from the independent sector was
WBMVFEBUbNJMMJPO TQFOUPOUIFGPMMPXJOHUZQFTPGTFSWJDFQSPWJTJPO

Community Life Choices

3%
Domiciliary care

Residential and
Nursing Care

18%

52%
Independent Sector
$BSF4QFOE

Alternatives to
residential care

£144m

10%
(shared lives, supported living)

The focus on prevention and supporting people to remain independent in their own home as
long as possible is expected to reduce the proportion spent on residential and nursing care,
whilst increasing the amount used for domiciliary care and alternatives to residential care.
5IFSFNBJOJOHXBTTQFOUPOEJSFDUDBTIQFSTPOBMCVEHFUT
The current departmental savings targets as outlined in the Medium Term Financial Strategy
BSF
Year

$VNVMBUJWF4BWJOHT bL



7,660



13,970



17,635



18,585

4063$&.5'4

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 15

98

Adult Social Care Outcomes for
Leicestershire
The performance of councils in relation to adult social care is monitored at a
national level via the Adult Social Care Outcomes Framework (ASCOF). This
consists of between 25-30 indicators sourced from council collected data and two
surveys of people’s views.
Integrating health and adult social care is both a national and local priority,
supported by the Better Care Fund (BCF), and locally the Better Care Together
initiative which is a significant programme of work to transform the health and
social care system in Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland by 2019.

Integrating
health and
adult social
care is both a
national and
local priority

Progress against the BCF is monitored via a number of metrics including ASCOF
indicators. ASCOF 2B monitors people discharged from hospital via a reablement
service. Whilst the proportion in Leicestershire is lower than the national picture,
performance is improving in relation to the percentage of people still living at home
91 days following hospital discharge.
The number of delayed transfers of care, commonly known as bed-blocking, is
another area that the BCF focuses on. The position in Leicestershire over the past
eighteen months has been similar to the national position with a general increase.
)PXFWFSTJODFBTJHOJmDBOUQFBLJOTVNNFSBVUVNOQFSGPSNBODFIBTTFFOB
marked improvement with BCF quarterly targets on the number of days people are
delayed being met. The current performance in Leicestershire is better than average
compared with that reported nationally and by comparator councils.
Avoiding permanent placements in residential or nursing care homes is a good
indication of delaying dependency. Research suggests where possible people prefer
to stay in their own home rather than move into permanent care. ASCOF 2A
monitors the number of people permanently admitted to care and whilst admissions
of those aged under 65 has increased over the past three years, the number of
those aged over 65 has fallen year-on-year during the same period.
The views and comments from both people using adult social care services and
carers are collated via annually conducted surveys. The indication from carers is a
need for improvement - ASCOF 1D (quality of life), ASCOF 1I (social contact), and
ASCOF 3D (finding information) all show a downward trend in performance over
the last couple of years.
Recent findings from the survey of people who use adult social care services shows
some similar challenges in relation to levels of social contact, and to a lesser extent
mOEJOHJOGPSNBUJPO BMUIPVHIMPX BU UIJTJTJNQSPWJOH 

16 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

The number
of people
permanently
admitted to
care aged over
65 has fallen
year-on-year
over the past
three years.

99

Feeling safe is another area explored in the survey and ASCOF 4B demonstrates a
continuing view that, compared to the national picture, the services people receive
IFMQUIFNUPGFFMTBGFUIFGFFECBDLJOUIJTBSFBQVUT-FJDFTUFSTIJSFJOUIFUPQPG
councils in England.
Leicestershire County Council remains committed that everyone in receipt of longterm, community-based care should be provided with a personal budget, preferably
as a direct payment i.e. a cash payment. ASCOF 1C measures the progress in this
BSFBBOEEVSJOHOJOFPVUPGUFOQFPQMFXFSFJOSFDFJQUPGBQFSTPOBMCVEHFU
'VSUIFSNPSF PWFSBUIJSEEJETPWJBBEJSFDUQBZNFOUXIJDIJTJOUIFUPQPG
councils in England.
Under the Care Act, from April 2015 carers have the same rights as the person they
care for and the ASCOF metric has been extended to reflect their new rights. Again
QFSGPSNBODFJTIJHIXJUIPGDBSFSTSFDFJWJOHBQFSTPOBMCVEHFUBOEWJBB
direct payment.
The nature of accommodation for people with learning disabilities has a strong impact
on their safety and overall quality of life and reducing social exclusion. ASCOF 1G
monitors the proportion of customers aged 18-64 with a learning disability who
are in settled accommodation. Performance is improving year-on-year and whilst
UIFQPTJUJPOXBTCFMPXUIFOBUJPOBMBWFSBHF GVSUIFSQSPHSFTTIBTCFFO
achieved.
ASCOF 1E measures the proportion of adults with learning disabilities who are
receiving long-term services and are in paid employment. There is a strong link
between employment and enhanced quality of life, including evidenced benefits for
health and wellbeing. It is a similar position to the accommodation indicator with
performance improving albeit from a position that is low compared to the national
position.
Overall, the ASCOF picture is one of progress and above average performance in
some areas but in need of improvement for a larger proportion of the indicators; the
views of carers is an area for particular focus. Integration of health and social care
as measured through the ASCOF metrics in the Better Care Fund demonstrate good
progress.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 17

100

Delivering the Strategy
Preventing need
The Care Act 2014 brings new responsibilities for local authorities, with new eligibility for
services, support for carers, new areas of work around information, advice, prevention,
support for the care market and safeguarding. Social care services are changing and
Leicestershire County Council needs to renew what it offers to people who need our help.
The Council will work with our partners to prevent people developing need for social care
support through provision of information and advice to support people to benefit from
services, facilities or resources that are not focused on particular health or support needs,
but which support wellbeing and are available for the whole population; for example, green
spaces, libraries, adult learning services, places of worship, community centres, leisure
centres, information and advice services.
There is ongoing and continuous demand for information and advice about social care
provision and its remit, and what is available elsewhere. The Council’s Customer Service
Centre receives an average of 700 calls per week relating to social care, and a commissioned
independent service also offers advice about social care, alternatives and options to meet
people’s needs and helps people to identify suitable alternative support.
It has already been identified that the majority of people seeking social care support in
the future will be older people, so it will be necessary to ensure that the information and
advice provided targets them as a customer group, from sources and in formats which are
accessible to them.
Adult social care has contractual arrangements with approximately 20 organisations in
Leicestershire (including the specialist advice and dementia services), which make up part
of the information and advice offer available to Leicestershire citizens. Some have a specific
interest associated with a particular condition or disability (for example dementia and mental
health), are targeted at carers or have a particular form of delivery; for example advocacy.
It has proved difficult to fully map provision other than services commissioned directly by
the authority, but it is clear that there is a breadth of community-based resources across the
county, and the local voluntary sector infrastructure support organisation Voluntary Action
Leicestershire (VAL) has reported that there are 378 organisations or groups with a broad
interest in social care.
The internet has significant potential to provide social care information and advice, and work
has been undertaken (and will be ongoing) to develop the social care and health website in
line with customer needs. Work to date has prioritised the key changes associated with the
Care Act, maximising opportunities for people to self-serve.
Further web development work is planned to provide information which will be determined
by customer need, routing the customer to further information, community resources,
the Council or our partners. It is acknowledged that current information pathways are

18 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

101
not integrated or standardised, and that information is not consistent. So, there will be
ongoing work to co-ordinate our offer with that of our partners, to clarify the access routes
to good advice and information, and to adopt a set of standards for information to achieve
consistency, clarity and ease of use.
The department’s prevention approach, consulted on in 2015 was co-produced alongside
a range of individuals including carers, current customers of social care, and those with no
direct experience of receiving services.
It aims at identifying people at risk and addressing future demand, working with people to
identify their needs and assisting them to get timely, effective and relevant information and to
access community resources. This must be supported through a wide range of community
resources, with the right infrastructure and social capital.
Commissioning Intentions to Prevent Need
Adult Social Care is not the key commissioner for many preventative interventions, therefore
underlining the necessity to work with key partners, including other departments within the
council to promote positive health and wellbeing.

5IFEFQBSUNFOUTGVUVSFDPOUSJCVUJPOTJODMVEF
t$PPSEJOBUJOHPVSJOGPSNBUJPOPGGFSXJUIQBSUOFSTJOPUIFSDPVOUZ$PVODJMEFQBSUNFOUT 
health services, district councils and local community and voluntary sector
organisations.
t8FXJMMEFWFMPQBOEDPNNVOJDBUFLFZNFTTBHFTGPSUIPTFXFJEFOUJGZBTTUBLFIPMEFST 
to increase understanding of our shared role in the promotion of health and well-being.
t8FXJMMSFRVJSFBMMDPOUSBDUFETVQQMJFSTUPQSPWJEFJOGPSNBUJPOBTQBSUPGUIFJSTFSWJDF
delivery and review progress during the life of the contract.
t8FXJMMTVQQPSUJOJUJBUJWFTUPQSPHSFTTDPNNVOJUZEFWFMPQNFOUTXIJDIQSPNPUFPS
maintain people’s independence, including early identification of people at risk and
facilitating access to universal services.
t8FXJMMNBQDPNNVOJUZCBTFETFSWJDFTUIBUQSFWFOUBOESFEVDFUIFOFFEGPSTPDJBM
care support, so that this can be shared with, and utilised by strategic and operational
partners.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 19

102

Reducing need
To reduce need we will identify those people most at risk of needing social care support in
the future and intervene early wherever possible to maintain wellbeing and prevent further
need for services. Frail older people, people with dementia, learning disabilities and mental
health problems will be the key targets groups for services designed to reduce the need for
social care, together with carers. The incidence of these conditions and the proportion of
these people are all expected to rise significantly in the forthcoming years.
Targeted interventions for people most likely to develop a need, aim to reduce further needs
and ensure that people do not become dependent on social support, and might include;
minor adaptions to housing which improve accessibility or provide greater assistance for
those at risk of a fall, or telecare services.
The Council commissions a mental health drop-in service where people can access
information, advice, peer support, and one to one sessions with a member of staff to help
with specific issues. At March 2015 this service’s customer database numbered 515
people.
The Memory Support Co-ordination Service (paid for by Better Care Funding) is part of
the integrated dementia care pathway. The service provides support to individuals and
those who are concerned about memory loss or have a diagnosis of dementia, through the
provision of support groups and education, and dementia cafes.
Carers support service offers a wide range of targeted advice, information and support for all
adults who care across Leicestershire. The service facilitates the countywide forums, support
groups, telephone befriending and information around welfare benefit entitlements. The
service provides a quarterly newsletter to over 3,500 carers and supported 385 people new
to caring between April and September 2015.
The GP Health & Wellbeing Service supports local GP practices across Leicestershire to
identify and support patients who are carers in the early stages of their caring role. The
service supports them to look after their own health and wellbeing and ensure that they
receive appropriate advice, information and support. It offers carer awareness training to
primary care staff and aims to identify a dedicated carer champion in each surgery. Since
April 2015 the service has made contact with over 310 carers and supported 82 carers to
seek more formal support from ASC.
Local Area Co-ordination is being piloted in 8 areas in the county to build individual, family
and community resilience by working alongside local people, community organisations and
the voluntary sector to design and deliver services needed in the locality. The main role of
Local Area Co-ordinators will be to support a caseload of vulnerable customers to access
services locally to help them to maintain independence.
The department is supporting the development of local groups and social enterprises,
which can increase social capital across the county, is also supported via the Shire Grant
programme.

20 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

103
The Innovation Programme is funded by Leicestershire County Council and is now
working with providers on phase 3. The purpose of the fund is to support small scale
pilots to develop projects with new and innovative ideas, with an emphasis on prevention
approaches. These should lead to improved and sustainable health and social care outcomes
for vulnerable adults and in hard to reach communities in Leicestershire.
LightBulb is a countywide project led by Blaby District Council and being piloted in
 XIJDIJOWPMWFTUIFDPVOUZDPVODJMBOEMPDBMIPVTJOHBVUIPSJUJFTXPSLJOHJO
partnership to deliver housing and support services for vulnerable people, which are targeted
at reducing hospital admissions and delayed discharges. Lightbulb will develop a single point
of contact to simplify customers’ access to services; a new, integrated assessment and case
management process and an enhanced service offer, ranging from handyperson services to
affordable warmth advice.
Advocacy services have been reviewed and are being recommissioned jointly across Leicester
City, Leicestershire and Rutland with the aim of providing a “seamless” service for customers,
avoiding duplication and achieving the best value for money for all three local authorities.
Mental Health support across the county is provided via a drop-in service. We will work with
health colleagues in the Better Care Together mental health work stream to achieve better
alignment of mental health services across health and social care.

Commissioning Intentions to Reduce Need
The Council will focus on reducing demand in the identified priority customer groups;
frail older people, people with mental health difficulties, learning disabilities, dementia
and carers.
t"TQBSUPGUIFDPSQPSBUFQSFWFOUBUJWFSFWJFX CFUUFSBMJHONFOUPGHSBOUGVOEJOHXJMMCF
sought to avoid duplication and offer more aligned approach to council funding for
voluntary and community organisations and groups.
t8FXJMMTVQQPSUDBSFSTUPSFNBJONFOUBMMZ FNPUJPOBMMZBOEQIZTJDBMMZXFMMUISPVHI
ongoing identification within primary care settings, continued investment in their
support services, and the use of carers’ personal budgets.
t8FXJMMTVQQPSUQSPWJEFSTUPSFDPHOJTFTBGFQSBDUJDFJOTBGFHVBSEJOH
t8FXJMMXPSLXJUIQSPWJEFSTUPNPOJUPSBOEEFWFMPQSFQPSUJOHTZTUFNTUPVOEFSTUBOE
the impact and maximise the benefits of early identification services.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 21

104

Delaying Need
Activity here focuses on support for people who have experienced a crisis or who have a
defined illness or disability, for example, after a fall or a stroke, following an accident or
onset of illness also on minimising the effect of the disability or deterioration for people with
ongoing health conditions, complex needs or caring responsibilities.
It includes interventions such as reablement, rehabilitation, and recovery from mental health
difficulties. We will work together with the individual, their families and communities, health
and housing colleagues to ensure people experience the best outcomes through the most
cost effective support.
Services working to delay need include the Crisis Response Service, the Home Assessment
and Reablement Team, and the Mental Health Crisis Service.
*OUIFDPVOUZXJEF$SJTJT3FTQPOTF4FSWJDFIBOEMFE SFGFSSBMT BOEQSPWJEFE
support in 976 cases. The team focuses on preventing admission to hospital or residential
care through the provision of up to 3 days of support at home, including community
equipment as well as practical support.
The in-house Assistive Technology team works to help people stay in their own homes
UISPVHIUIFVTFPGFRVJQNFOUBOEUFMFDBSF MJGFMJOF *OUIFUFBNTVQQMJFE
items of telecare equipment and 1662 items of stand-alone equipment.
In relation to Mental Health recovery, Adult Social Care has an in-house service for people
with a mental health need, which provides one to one support to individuals for up to 12
XFFLTUPFOBCMFUIFNUPBDDFTTDPNNVOJUZCBTFETPDJBMBDUJWJUJFT*OUIJTTFSWJDF
worked with 770 individuals. The Council also commissions a mental health recovery
hostel, which provides 11 beds where people can stay for up to 9 months to learn or regain
skills for independent living, and be supported to engage with and move back to community
settings.

22 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

105
Commissioning Intentions to Delay Need
We aim to deliver services which will enable people to gain or regain skills to help
them to live independently and recover from illness. We will do this in the most
unobtrusive and least restrictive manner possible. This means that we will support
people in the short term whilst expecting that wherever possible people will support
themselves in the longer term. For most people, long term support from the local
authority will be the exception rather than the rule.
We will provide ‘just enough’ support to assist people to build on their current
strengths and develop their abilities to look after themselves without becoming overly
dependent on council support.
t8JUISFHBSEUPCFECBTFESFBCMFNFOUXFXJMMXPSLUPJEFOUJGZBQQSPQSJBUFWFOVFT
across the county where people can be supported to regain independent living skills
in settings with flexible levels of support.
t5IJTXJMMMJOLXJUIUIFXPSLXFXJMMDPOUJOVFUPEFWFMPQTIBSFEXPSLJOHXJUIIFBMUI
and new discharge from hospital pathways in order to reduce delayed transfers.
t*OUIF$PVODJMXJMMSFDPNNJTTJPO)PNFDBSF4FSWJDFTBTUIF)FMQUP-JWFBU
Home (HTLAH) Service and incorporate a reablement component that providers
will deliver with targets to achieve outcomes that are linked to the Adult Social Care
Outcomes Framework. This is a significant shift from the traditional task and time
method of delivering homecare services.
t"MPOHTJEFUIFJNQMFNFOUBUJPOPG)5-") UIF$PVODJMXJMMCFGBDJMJUBUJOHHSFBUFS
use of telehealth, equipment, minor adaptations and assistive technology to help
people to maintain independence in their own home and reduce the need for more
extensive intervention and ongoing support.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 23

106

Meeting need
Where people do need support we will make it as easy to access as possible. People will
be able to get the help, advice and support they need online, by phone, through clinic
appointments or where required through pre-scheduled home visits. On first contact with
people we will try to resolve their problems as quickly as possible and seek to utilise support
from families and communities before resorting to formal social care services. We will do
this because we know that this helps people to be more resilient and have better social
outcomes; it reduces isolation and is more cost-effective. Support identified in people’s local
communities makes life better for both the individual and the community.
Outcomes and value for money are essential
Of course for some people, social care services are required for longer to enable them to
live fulfilling lives. Where people need ongoing support we will share this responsibility with
the individual, their families and their communities. We will try to meet people’s needs in a
person centered way which delivers the outcomes that people require.
In planning, commissioning and advising regarding services we want to facilitate the best
value and most cost-effective delivery of good care. This is important, not just because local
authorities are receiving less funding from government to provide care, but also because a
significant number of people using support services contribute to their cost and thousands
of people in Leicestershire fund their own care entirely. Everyone should expect that the
services they are buying or receiving represent value for money.
In order to achieve the savings required against current service delivery and reshape services
to ensure they can deliver the new model of social care in the future we will decommission
services that are not outcome-focused or effective in their current form.
Choice is also an important factor in people being able to manage their own care, however
it cannot be unrestricted. Wherever possible we will work with individuals to deliver
personalised social care and health services, but we will only do this on the basis that
the services people receive will maximise their independence, provide value for money
and be affordable. Working with providers of care we will constantly review people’s care
arrangements to ensure their outcomes are being met in a cost-effective way.
Community based services
Help to Live at Home
The authority has recently extended current Homecare (domiciliary care) contracts to
April 2017, and has embarked on a programme of work that will reshape the market.
This will take account of the need to jointly commission services with the NHS locally;
the requirements of the Care Act including the need to move towards outcome based
DPNNJTTJPOJOH5IFQSPHSBNNFPCKFDUJWFTBSFUP

24 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

107
t%SJWFVQRVBMJUZBOEJOOPWBUJPO
t*NQSPWFQBSUOFSTIJQXPSLJOHBOEEFWFMPQKPJOUDPNNJTTJPOJOH
t&OTVSFCFTUVTFPGSFTPVSDFTBOEBDIJFWFFGmDJFODJFT
t3FEVDFBENJTTJPOTUPIPTQJUBMBOEEFMBZFEUSBOTGFSTGSPNIPTQJUBMCBDLJOUPUIF
community
Currently the main challenges in the market are that supply is fragmented with over
100 providers across the county and that social care commissioners compete with NHS
commissioners and self-funders for services. This, together with growing demand, results in
some, but my no means all, delays in hospital discharges, supply problems in certain rural
areas and delays in moving people on from Reablement services.
Moving forward, the role of Reablement in the delivery of Help to Live at Home will increase
as the work of the local authority Home Assessment and Reablement Team focuses
on people leaving hospital. New contract arrangements will also entail outcome based
commissioning, which will be related to reablement.
Community Life Choices
We recognise that good lives happen for people when they are supported in their
communities. This means being connected to people and places in neighbourhoods and
beyond.
Leicestershire aims to support people to work towards being as independent as they can,
promoting progression wherever possible throughout a person’s life. Our vision for the
social care market is underpinned by the principle that wherever possible people should be
supported to achieve greater independence, focusing on what people can do.
Our key priorities for improving community-based services for those with a physical or
MFBSOJOHEJTBCJMJUJFTPSBMPOHUFSNDPOEJUJPOBSF
t&NCFEEJOHBQSPHSFTTJWFBQQSPBDIUPDPNNVOJUZTVQQPSUFOBCMJOHDVTUPNFSTUPJODSFBTF
skills;
t&OTVSJOHUIBUQFPQMFIBWFBDDFTTUPFGGFDUJWFTFSWJDFTUIBUBSFUBJMPSFEUPNFFUUIFJS
individual needs; and
t&OTVSJOHFRVJUZPGBDDFTTGPSBMMUIPTFBTTFTTFEBTOFFEJOHUIFTFTFSWJDFT
Commissioning and contracting will be redesigned to support personalisation for people with
learning disabilities. Providers, people with learning disabilities and their families, will be
fully engaged in this redesign. The Learning Disability Partnership Board, which supports
Locality Groups and Subgroups will inform and support these service developments.
Also, in 2016 there will be a fundamental review of our approach to supporting people with
Learning Disability via the Community Life Choices framework and providers will be able to
participate in that review.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 25

108
Accommodation based services
Residential and Nursing Home Services
There are currently 180 Care Homes registered with the CQC in Leicestershire and the
overall number has been reasonable consistent for the last 5 years.

Summary of Residential and Nursing Homes in Leicestershire
Number of beds
- Nursing and
Residential

Number of
Care Homes
- Nursing and
Residential

Number of
Nursing Beds

Number of
Nursing Homes

Number of
Residential Beds

Number of
Residential
Homes

599

24

137

3

462

21

Charnwood

1,320

57

489

10

831

47

Harborough

600

17

246

3

354

14

Hinckley & Bosworth

774

30

159

3

615

27

Melton

337

10

61

1

276

9

NWL

610

24

234

5

376

19

Oadby & Wigston

578

18

195

4

383

14

4,818

180

1,521

29

3,297

151

Locality

Blaby

Grand Total

4PVSDF$2$%BUBCBTF

Surveys of occupancy during the summer of 2015, which had good response rates from a
CSPBESBOHFPGQSPWJEFST JOEJDBUFUIBUPDDVQBODZJTSVOOJOHBUJOUIFSFTJEFOUJBMDBSF
sector.
At this level, the market is reasonably stable in that occupancy is not so high that the council
is unable to find places when they are needed, but not so low that it threatens the financial
viability of care homes in Leicestershire. Further work will be undertaken during 2016 to
better understand future demand and sustainability in relation to residential care, taking into
account the new departmental strategy to develop alternative models of support.
Extra care
Extra care housing offers older people the opportunity to lead more independent lives
in a non-institutional setting, promotes social inclusion, prevents unnecessary hospital
admissions and facilitates speedier transfers from hospital.
The council currently works in partnership with a number of extra care housing, care and
support providers in the Melton, Harborough, Charnwood and Blaby areas, with further
VOJUTQMBOOFEGPS'PMMPXJOHBSFDFOUSFTJEFOUJBMSFBCMFNFOUQJMPU JO0DUPCFS
2015 we initiated a Better Care Funded, extra-care reablement pilot, which provides shortterm support to enable people to regain confidence, mobility and independent living skills
immediately after leaving hospital and prior to returning to their own home.
26 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

109
We are refreshing our current Extra Care Strategy and needs analysis in line with the Medium
Term Financial Strategy (MTFS) for 2016-20. We will be working with strategic housing
authorities, customers and local providers to develop a consistent, sustainable model of care,
support and reablement, which will inform a single, countywide procurement process for
extra care.
Supported or Assisted Living
Like Extra Care, Supported Living services can offer a positive alternative to traditional
residential care options for adults with a learning or physical disability or enduring mental
health condition. We want to review the services we commission to ensure customers have
access to the widest range of options for their care and support arrangements.
We have recently refreshed our Support Living Framework and are reviewing our supported
living offer, which will focus on progression, building on individuals’ strengths, optimising
independence and the achievement of outcomes. To further develop alternatives to
residential care, a new Accommodation Strategy will be developed in 2016.
Commissioning Intentions for Meeting Need

Commissioning Intentions to meet need.
t&OTVSFUIBUQFPQMFIBWFBDDFTTUPIJHIRVBMJUZJOGPSNBUJPOBOEBEWJDFJOPSEFSUP
make the best decisions regarding their accommodation, care and support.
t&OTVSFUIBUXFIBWFUIFSJHIUTFSWJDFTJOUIFSJHIUQMBDFBUUIFSJHIUUJNFXJUIUIFSJHIU
support.
t)FMQBTNBOZQFPQMFBTQPTTJCMFUPMJWFJOPSEJOBSZIPVTFTJOUIFDPNNVOJUJFTPGUIFJS
choice.
t4VQQPSUQSPWJEFSTUPCFnFYJCMFBOESFTQPOTJWFUPQFPQMFTOFFET BOEBCMFUPDPQF
with emergencies.
t%FWFMPQTFSWJDFTUIBUEPWFUBJMXJUIUIFDSJUJDBMMZJNQPSUBOUDBSFQSPWJEFECZGBNJMZBOE
friends, and those services provided by community organisations.
t4VQQPSUQFPQMFUPJNQSPWFUIFJSRVBMJUZPGMJGFWJBTPDJBMJODMVTJPOBOEUIFEFWFMPQNFOU
of relationships within a person centred service

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 27

110

Self-funders
Self-funders are defined by the Care Act as people with eligible needs and financial
resources, which are above the threshold and as such do not qualify Local Authority
financial support. These people generally arrange their own care privately. It was envisaged,
under the second phase of the implementation of the Care Act, that the Council would
work closely with self-funders to support them in arranging their care and monitor
expenditure on eligible support towards the care cap. The decision of the government to
delay implementation of the second phase of the Care Act means that this work will not be
completed until 2020.
The size of the self-funder market is affected by the cut-off point at which the council
provides support, substantial and critical in the case of Leicestershire in recent years, the rate
PGIPNFPXOFSTIJQ XIJDIJTIJHIBUGPSUIPTFPWFSZFBSTPGBHFJO-FJDFTUFSTIJSF 
BOEUIFBWFSBHFIPVTFQSJDFXIJDIJTbLJO-FJDFTUFSTIJSFDPNQBSFEXJUIbLBDSPTT
the East Midlands, also indicate that the self-funder market in Leicestershire would be high.
Furthermore, another indication that the self-funder market in Leicestershire is strong is that
BU -FJDFTUFSTIJSFTDPSFWFSZMPXPOUIF*OEFYPG.VMUJQMF%FQSJWBUJPO  BOEJT
therefore a relatively wealthy county.
Substantive research into the size or nature of the entirely privately funded care has not
been completed in Leicestershire, relating either to residential or home care. At the time
of reporting (January 2016) Adult Social Care funded 2,205 of the 4,818 total places
available. The remainder will be occupied by a mixture of people funded by health services
or other local authorities, or who are self funders.
The council will continue to work to gather more detailed information about self funders in all
sectors and will include this into specific market sector reports.

28 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

111

Quality Management, Safeguarding and
Workforce Development
In October 2015 the Care Quality Commission (CQC) produced its State of Care for
'PS"EVMU4PDJBM$BSFJUIJHIMJHIUFEUIFQSFTTVSFTPODBSFQSPWJEFSTJODMVEJOH
increasing complexity of care needs, significant cuts to LA budgets and increasing staff costs.
The main concerns relate to safety, including staffing levels and poor medicine management.
Stable and consistent management was identified as a key factor in the development of
quality in care services.
%FTQJUFUIFQSFTTVSFT OBUJPOBMMZPG"EVMU4PDJBM$BSFTFSWJDFTJOTQFDUFEXFSFKVEHFE
as providing Good or Outstanding care on the new CQC reporting format. However, in
-FJDFTUFSTIJSFPGUIFJOTQFDUJPOTVOEFSUBLFOPOMZXFSFKVEHFEBTQSPWJEJOH(PPE
care, none were providing Outstanding care.

CQC State of Care Report 2014/15
1%

Outstanding

0%
59%
Good

49%
33%

Requires Improvement

51%
7%

Inadequate

0%

0

10

20

30

%

40

50
England

60
Leicestershire

4063$&$2$4UBUFPG$BSF3FQPSU

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 29

112
Improving the quality of care
The Quality Improvement Team (QIT) continues to develop and strengthen links with health
colleagues to support, for example, the NHS Pressure Ulcer Ambition and to lessen the
amount of medicine waste in residential care settings and work in close partnership with the
NHS Quality Team, Mental Health in-reach Team, associated clinicians and others.
We continue to see an increase in the number of self-referrals from care providers wanting to
improve or wanting to share best practice. QIT are working proactively with these providers
to achieve and sustain the Quality Assessment Framework (QAF) and Dignity in Care Awards
and to support them to move through the 3 tiers of QAF.
To date, our Quality Team have worked with 143 providers which include 104 residential
and nursing care providers, 5 supported living, 2 day care and 32 domiciliary care providers.
On referral, we offer providers an individual programme of support which identifies the areas
of concern. Priority is given where there is potential risk to customers.
Within the agreed timescale we provide supporting evidence on progress. If the provider has
reached agreed performance indicators QIT pull out and the compliance team undertake
a compliance validation visit. QIT then revisit the provider at 3, 6, 9, and 12 months to
monitor compliance and sustainability and to promote further progress. If the provider
remains non-compliant the case is referred back to the compliance team to follow the usual
contract monitoring process.

Quality Checkers
A group of people with Learning Disabilities have been supported to become quality
checkers. As experts by experience they have developed their concept of quality and had
training to prepare them for this role. In 2015, this group started to check council services
and will move into the review of independent services in 2016.

Leicestershire Social Care Development Group
Leicestershire Social Care Development Group (LSCDG) has been operational since 2006,
the aim of LSCDG is to support the workforce development and raise quality for independent
and voluntary sector across Leicestershire and Leicester.
LSCDG works with over 400 care providers including care homes, nursing homes and
homecare providers. It runs a series of courses that are delivered by experienced experts in
the field; this includes in-house local authority staff and external providers who have been
through a robust selection process. Working with partners who are in touch with the
independent and voluntary sector enables LSCDG to formulate and direct training plans as
well as implement new legislation and procedure.

30 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

113
Safeguarding
The experience of the Safeguarding Team has been that, although fewer investigations are
being undertaken, the referral is often of a more serious nature, and there have been a
number of investigations recently in response to serious allegations of psychological and
physical abuse by staff members in care homes, often reported by whistle-blowers. The
Safeguarding Team continues to work in close partnership with the Police, Compliance and
QIT, Care Quality Commission, other funding authorities and with providers within these
investigations. The Council recognises the key, on-going role of providers in risk management
and mitigation and the embedding of best practice in the safeguarding of vulnerable adults.
We recognise that for some people there is an enhanced risk to their personal safety because
of their particular disabilities or frailties, or due to wider issues in society. However we
also recognise that we all need to take and accept a level of risk in order that we grow and
develop as individuals. We will therefore work with people to enable them to understand
and manage risks appropriately, whilst also providing arrangements to safeguard people
from significant harm. Our response to concerns about people’s safety will be proportionate,
flexible and personal and will focus on the individual’s wishes and feelings alongside the
best interests of the wider community.

The workforce in Leicestershire
As at July 2015, Skills for Care hold information on 6,700 staff working in adult social care
in Leicestershire. Across the whole sector, Skills for Care estimates that there are 12,000
direct care workers, 1,200 managerial and supervisory workers, 521 professionals and
2,006 jobs in other non-care providing roles in social care.
5IFNBKPSJUZPGQPTJUJPOTIFMEBSFGVMMUJNF  XIJDIJTTJNJMBSUPUIBUPGUIFSFHJPO
XIFSFUIFNBKPSJUZBSFFNQMPZFEGVMMUJNF  
The average number of sickness days taken in Leicestershire was 7 in the last year, which is
lower than the regional average of 8 days per year. Sickness is a large cost to the sector, with
an estimated workforce of 15,700 this would mean Leicestershire lost almost 110,000 days
due to sickness in the last year.
Recruitment and retention data shows that Leicestershire has an average staff turnover rate
PG BTBU+VMZ5IJTJTIJHIFSUIBOUIFUVSOPWFSSBUFGPS&BTU.JEMBOETXIJDIJT
5IFUVSOPWFSSBUFWBSJFTEFQFOEJOHPOKPCHSPVQ%JSFDUDBSFTUBGGIBWFUIFIJHIFTU
UVSOPWFSSBUF  GPMMPXFECZSFHVMBUFEQSPGFTTJPOBMTUBGG  BOENBOBHFSJBMTUBGG
 "EEJUJPOBMMZ BTBU+VMZ -FJDFTUFSTIJSFIBTBWBDBODZSBUFPGSBUFPG

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 31

114
(JWFOBOFTUJNBUFE EJSFDUDBSFKPCTJO-FJDFTUFSTIJSFBOEBUVSOPWFSSBUFPG
this equates to around 4,644 positions being made vacant in the last 12 months. Managerial
BOETVQFSWJTPSZSPMFTIBEBUVSOPWFSSBUFPGBOEBOFTUJNBUFE KPCT UIJTFRVBUFT
to 110 positions being made vacant. There are an estimated 521 regulated professional
SPMFT BOEBUVSOPWFSSBUFPG UIJTFRVBUFTUPQPTJUJPOTCFJOHNBEFWBDBOUJOUIF
last 12 months.
From the data available around workforce age e.g. the National Minimum Data Set for Social
$BSF /.%44$ XFDBOBTTVNFUIBUUIFNBKPSJUZPGUIFXPSLGPSDF  JO-FJDFTUFSTIJSF
BSFBHFECFUXFFOUP5IPTFBHFEBOEVOEFSSFQSFTFOUPGUIFXPSLGPSDFBOE
UIPTFBHFEPWFSSFQSFTFOU8JUIBOFTUJNBUFEXPSLGPSDFPG  TPNF
jobs may be lost to retirement in the next 5 years.
5IFNBKPSJUZPGUIFXPSLGPSDFBSFGFNBMF  BOEUIFFUIOJDJUZPGXPSLFSTJTNBJOMZXIJUF
 XJUIUIFSFNBJOEFSCFJOHPGCMBDLBOEPUIFSNJOPSJUZFUIOJDHSPVQT  "DSPTT
UIF&BTU.JEMBOETBTBXIPMF BSFPGXIJUFFUIOJDJUZBOEBSFPGCMBDLBOEPUIFS
minority ethnic groups.
5IFEBUBTIPXTUIBUPGUIFXPSLGPSDFJO-FJDFTUFSTIJSFIPMEBSFMFWBOURVBMJmDBUJPO
JOBEVMUTPDJBMDBSF5IJTJTMPXFSUIBOUIFBWFSBHFGPSUIF&BTU.JEMBOETXIFSFJO
IPMEBRVBMJmDBUJPO"SPVOEPGEJSFDUDBSFXPSLFSTIPMEBMFWFMPSBCPWFTPDJBMDBSF
qualification in Leicestershire. A new Workforce Strategy will be produced in 2016 and
working with providers across the county will be vitally important to ensure that it delivers
the improvements and sustainability needed.

32 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

115

Conclusion
The need for change: 2016-2020
Demand is increasing significantly; budgets are being cut, so we need to change our
approach to the planning and delivery of Adult Social Care in Leicestershire. Our strategic
aim will be to promote, maintain and enhance people’s independence so that they are
healthier, stronger, more resilient and less reliant on formal social care services.
This underpins our Market Position Statement and will inform our commissioning intentions
and the development of our strategic relationships with suppliers.

0WFSUIFOFYUGPVSZFBST-$$XJMM
tQVUJOQMBDFBOFX NPSFDPTUFGGFDUJWFBQQSPBDIUPEFMJWFSJOHBEVMUTPDJBMDBSF
tXPSLXJUIQBSUOFSTUPQSPWJEFNPSFKPJOFEVQIFBMUIBOETPDJBMDBSF
tGPDVTPOQSFWFOUJWFTFSWJDFTXIJDIIFMQUPBWPJEQSPCMFNTGSPNHFUUJOHXPSTF
tSFEVDFEFNBOEBOEGSFFVQSFTPVSDFTGPSUIPTFXIPNPTUOFFEUIFN

Alongside this Market Position Statement, the Adult Social Care Strategy takes account of the
main factors that are influencing the care market in Leicestershire and sets out the Council’s
approach, over the period 2016 – 2020.
Adult social care supports people, including unpaid carers, who need practical or emotional
support to lead an active life. Social care helps people do everyday things, participate in their
community, and safeguards people from significant harm. The number of people who might
need adult social care services in the future is expected to rise significantly as explained
earlier.

Working in partnership with Providers
As well as providing an overview of the social care market in Leicestershire it is important
that we provide information about how we intend to shape the market and work with
providers to do that. Early in 2016 we will draft a provider engagement plan for consultation
which will set out our approach, the opportunities for providers to engage and coproduce,
and communication tools that we want to use.
Following on from this Market Position Statement, and in line with preferences expressed at
the Multi Sector Provider Forum, we will produce more detailed State of the Market reports
for specific market segments, for example Supported Living. The prevalence of self funders
in each market segment will be a key focus in those reports and we will need to collect
information from providers to produce a comprehensive view of the market.
The providers of Adult Social Care Services are a vitally important stakeholder and we hope
that you will work closely with us as we seek to provide the best possible information,
advice, support and care to the people of Leicestershire.

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 33

116

Further information
Further information about the Leicestershire ASCOF performance
GPSJTBWBJMBCMFBUUIFHealth and Social care Information
Centre.
Further information about the Leicestershire workforce is available at
available at the National Minimum Data Set section of the Skills for
Care website.
Further information about the Medium Term Financial Strategy is
available at the Leicestershire County Council Website.
Further information about the Short and Long Term Support (SALT)
QSPWJEFEUPQFPQMFCZ-FJDFTUFSTIJSF$PVOUZ$PVODJMJOJT
available at the Health and Social care Information Centre.
Further information about the CQC State of Care Report can be found
at the Care Quality Commission website.

34 Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement

117

Adult and Community Services Market Position Statement 35

118

P0745 MARKET POSITION STATEMENT_AW02 26 January 2016 3:23 PM

119

Agenda Item 9

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10TH MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF CHILDREN AND FAMILY SERVICES
SUPPORTING LEICESTERSHIRE FAIMILIES SUSTAINABILITY
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to provide an overview of the Supporting Leicestershire
Families (SLF) Programme for Leicestershire, present the case for continued partnership
resource to the programme for a period of three years and to provide an update on the
progress towards continued sustainability.

Link to Better Care Together

2.

Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
X
Mental health

Long term conditions

X

Relevance
X

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

x

The Supporting Leicestershire Families Programme cuts across a number of Better
Care Together (BCT) work streams through the delivery of a whole family, intensive
support to vulnerable families across Leicestershire.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
3. Supporting Leicestershire Families is part of the National Troubled Families
Programme launched in December 2011.
4. In June 2012 Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet agreed the SLF Service model
and the allocation of resources for the Service and noted the contributions expected
from partner agencies. In April 2013 Cabinet received a report on the introduction of
the SLF Service.
5. Update on the progress of SLF was presented to the County Council’s Scrutiny
Commission on 5th June 2013 and Children and Families Overview and Scrutiny
Committee on 20th January 2014.
6. In September 2014 a report was presented to the Health and Wellbeing Board with an
overview and update on the work of the Supporting Leicestershire Families Service
and broader Troubled Families programme.

120

Background
7. The National Troubled Families programme was launched in December 2011 by the
Prime Minister. Leicestershire’s response to the programme was the creation of a
partnership pooled budget to deliver a programme of intensive support to families
identified with complex and multiple issues and who place some burden on the
resources of public sector services. The Supporting Leicestershire Families service was
set up in April 2013.
8. Supporting Leicestershire Families has provided support to 1,420 families and 6169
individuals from April 2013 to the end of September 2015.
9. The service is managed by Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Family
Services Department and is delivered through a partnership approach. The service has
been funded over the last 3 financial years through a pooled budget made up of
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) funding and financial
contribution from partners (Leicestershire County Council, Clinical Commissioning
Groups, District/Borough Councils, Police and Public Health). The total budget over three
years is £8.5 million over the three years 2013/14 – 2015/16.
10. The DCLG funding accounts for one third of the service funding with a proportion of this
funding reliant upon a “Payment by Results” (PbR) arrangement which requires delivery
of agreed targets. SLF has been successful in each year of delivery so far in meeting
these targets and has secured 100% of the available PbR contribution from DCLG.
11. Supporting Leicestershire Families operates a locality model in all seven district/borough
localities. At the heart of the Service is a team of 51 Family Support Workers who each
hold small caseloads of families, offering intensive support.
12. The service has positively impacted upon the lives of the individuals and families it has
worked with, the schools the children attend and the communities the family resides in
and the programme delivery has provided valuable insight and learning that has
influenced the continued development of the service provision.
13. The findings from SLF’s work also have relevance to other integrated care and
multiagency case management approaches that are either already in place, or being
developed. The service helps “build stronger and more resilient communities” and the
work compliments other recognised programmes in Leicestershire that share similarities
in approach particularly a modelling behaviour approach and working with targeted
individuals and cohorts.
14. The Business Case (attached as Appendix 1) sets out the key outcomes and other
achievements of the SLF service to date, including case study examples containing
service user perspectives. It presents findings and recommendations about the future
strategic oversight and governance of the service, particularly from a commissioning
perspective. It also makes recommendations to inform future commissioning intentions of
partners. The Business Case proposes how funding could be sustained through national
and local sources of funds and highlights where findings from SLF’s work could be
applicable to other services/service developments, particularly in line with the overall
vision of health and social care integration.

121
Progress towards continued sustainability
15. Following the presentation of the Business Case and Annual Report to the Integration
Executive in December 2015, negotiations have taken place with partners with a view to
securing sustained funding.
16. All seven District Councils have confirmed their support to continued funding for a three
year period from 2016/17. The Office of the Police and Crime Commissioner has
published its commissioning intentions for 16/17 and included in this a continued
contribution for SLF for 2016/17. The ongoing commitment will be decided following the
election of the new Police and Crime Commissioner in May 2016.
17. On 17th February 2016 the County Council approved £500k growth as its recurrent
contribution towards the programme.
18. In January and February 2016 papers were presented to the East Leicestershire and
Rutland CCG Strategy Planning and Commissioning Group and the West Leicestershire
CCG Planning and Delivery Sub Group. Both CCGs were committed to continued
commitment to SLF but were keen for there to be more explicit reporting around health
outcomes for the families supported. They also requested that the CCG contribution be
brought in line with the other partner contributions and was subject to the usual per
capita East:West proportional split.
19. Further work was undertaken following these meetings and a revised budget proposal
has been put together that reduces the bottom line contingency (and therefore the CCG
contribution requirement) and sets out a proportional split. (see appendix 2)
20. A decision regarding future funding is now with the two CCGs for decision.

Governance
21. As outlined in the Business Case it is proposed that the governance for the Supporting
Leicestershire Families Programme moves to the Health and Wellbeing Board. Terms of
reference for a Sub group that will report to the HWBB and include representation from
all SLF partners are currently being drawn up and will be presented to the next Health
and Wellbeing Board for approval and implementation from the new financial year.
Resource Implications
22. See attached budget proposal (appendix 2) for resource outline.
Conclusions/Recommendations
23. The Board notes the content of the report and supports the case for a continued health
contribution to complete the partnership resource to the programme for a period of three
years from 2016/17.
Officer to Contact
Lesley Hagger
Director, Children and Family Services
Telephone: 0116 305 6340

122
Email: Lesley.hagger@leics.gov.uk
Jane Moore, Head of Supporting Leicestershire Families
Telephone: 0116 305 6249
Email:
jane.moore@leics.gov.uk
List of Appendices
Appendix One: SLF Business Case and Annual report
Appendix Two: Revised Budget Proposal

123

APPENDIX 1

Supporting Leicestershire Families

Business Case

Proposing sustained funding, inclusion in the
integrated Health and Social Care delivery
arrangements, improvements to capturing impact
and opportunities for development

Leicestershire County Council – Children and
Family Services

November 2015

Prepared by Mike Murray (NHS England)

1

124
Contents

Executive Summary

3

Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) – Service Overview

7

Finances

9

Activity and Performance

11

Payment by results and Outcomes

13

Learning from the Programme

16

Financial Modelling

17

Recommendations

19

Appendix One – 2014/15 Annual report
Appendix two – Case Studies
Appendix three – Health and social care integration governance

Note of thanks
To all those staff and colleagues who have given their time so generously in the
researching and drafting of this document I give my deepest appreciation. It has
been a pleasure discovering the hidden depths of the service and commitment to
deliver is inspiring.

2

125
Executive Summary
The core service of Supporting Leicestershire Families has provided support to
1,420 families and 6169 individuals from 2013 to the end of September 2015.

The service is managed by Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Families
Department and is delivered through a partnership approach. The service has been
funded over the last 3 financial years through a pooled budget made up of
Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) funding and financial
contribution from partners (Leicestershire County Council, Clinical Commissioning
Groups, District/Borough Councils, Police and Public Health). The total budget over
three years is £8.5 million over the three years 2013/14 – 2015/16.

The Service is Leicestershire’s response to the National Troubled Families
Programme, led by the DCLG. The DCLG funding accounts for one third of the
service funding with a proportion of this funding reliant upon a “Payment by Results”
(PbR) arrangement which requires delivery of agreed targets. SLF has been
successful in each year of delivery so far in meeting these targets and has secured
100% of the available PbR contribution from DCLG.

The aims of the service are as follows;
•

Improve outcomes for families

•

Ensure resources are focused on those who need it the most

•

Join up work across agencies to support families in the most effective way

•

Reduce cost to public services

•

Maintain and develop a pooled budget to deliver the Service.

From the outset the partnership agreed that the Service would work with a broader
range of families than those prescribed through the Troubled Families Unit (families
with young people offending, disengaged from school and adults not in employment).

In April 2015 the DCLG launched phase two of the Troubled Families programme, a
five year programme up to 2019/20, maintaining a national commitment to the work
with troubled families across England. The criteria for inclusion in phase two of the
3

126
programme is much broader and reflects better the delivery of the programme by the
SLF Service during its first three years of operation.

Supporting Leicestershire Families operates a locality model in all seven
district/borough localities.

The Service is led by the Head of Supporting

Leicestershire Families and Safer Communities and is operationally managed by the
SLF Service Manager. At the heart of the Service is a team of 51 Family Support
Workers who each hold small caseloads of families, offering intensive support.

The service has impacted upon the lives of the individuals and families it has worked
with, the schools the children attend and the communities the family reside in. This
service has helped achieve behavioural change that has resulted in;
•

Reduced dependency upon unemployment welfare benefits

•

Improved behaviour and attendance in school and a reduction in
exclusions

•

Reduced disruption and nuisance to the local community

•

And improved confidence and well-being for the individual members of the
family

Programme delivery has provided valuable insight and learning that has influenced
the continued development of the service provision;
•

The modelling behaviour approach is successful in engaging “difficult”
client groups

•

Intense working on a one-to-one basis is required to undertake this work

•

Working in a family context increases the likelihood of behavioural change

•

Intervention ‘manages’ otherwise ‘difficult’ families/individuals

•

Intervention leads to improved behaviour, compliance and participation in
education and improved health outcomes and use of health services

•

Intervention leads to sustained impact particularly in areas of lifestyle and
health and well-being

•

Intervention leads to reduced dependency upon the welfare state and
public services

4

127
Performance information collected to support the PbR requirements of the DCLG
provides much of the evidence to support these claims.

The findings from SLF’s work also have relevance to other integrated care and
multiagency case management approaches that are either already in place, or being
developed. The service helps “build stronger and more resilient communities” and
the work compliments other recognised programmes in Leicestershire that share
similarities in approach particularly a modelling behaviour approach and working with
targeted individuals and cohorts;
•

Local Area Co-ordination

•

The Light Bulb Project (Housing Support)

•

Hospital admission avoidance initiatives

•

“Frequent Flyer” initiatives / Risk Stratification

•

Public health prevention and lifestyle improvement work.

This Business Case:
•

Sets out the key outcomes and other achievements of the SLF service to
date, including case study examples containing service user perspectives

•

Presents findings and recommendations about the future strategic
oversight

and

governance

of

the

service,

particularly

from

a

commissioning perspective.
•

Makes recommendations to inform future commissioning intentions of
partners

•

Proposes how funding could be sustained through national and local
sources of funds

•

Highlights where findings from SLF’s work could be applicable to other
services/service developments, particularly in line with the overall vision of
health and social care integration

There are five main recommendations of this business case:-

1) Partners to confirm their commissioning intention to sustain service delivery
for the next 3 years by February 2016

5

128
2) Governance of the programme becomes part of the Health and Social Care
integrated delivery arrangements
3) The Partnership commits to undertaking a local evaluation and plans are
drafted with a time-frame to do this
4) The Partnership commits to applying learning from the local and national
evaluations to the programme in future service development
5) Recommending to Health and Well Being Board that when SLF is discussed
District and Police/OPCC colleagues are invited to enable a single
conversation around SLF thereby creating a formal decision making route for
SLF.

6

129
Supporting Leicestershire Families (SLF) – Service Overview
Supporting Leicestershire Families was established in April 2013 and has provided
support to 1,013 families and 4,034 individuals to the end of March 2015.

The service is part of a National Government programme to work with “Troubled
Families led by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG) and
reports delivery to this department.

Supporting Leicestershire Families operates a locality model in all seven
district/borough localities.

The Service is led by the Head of Supporting

Leicestershire Families and Safer Communities and operationally managed by the
SLF Service Manager.

At the heart of the Service is a team of 51 Family Support Workers who hold small
caseloads (10) of families. Their role is to:
o provide intensive, practical 'hands-on' support to families around a range of
issues
o take a persistent, assertive and challenging approach
o look at what 's happening for the family as a whole and focus on helping
families function
o co-ordinate the delivery of ‘team around the family’ services

The Family Support Workers are managed by a team of 6 Senior Family Support
Workers and all of the staff are based in District and Borough Council buildings. The
Professional backgrounds of the Family Support Workers include social work, youth
work, parenting support, children’s centres, substance misuse and youth offending.

In each Locality the District/Borough has nominated a locality lead officer who is
responsible for the leadership of Supporting Leicestershire Families in the locality
across the partnership.

The SLF service sits in Leicestershire County Council’s Children and Families
Department, who oversee and manage the service. The Service sits alongside other
7

130
Early Help Services, the Youth Offending Service and Children’s Social Care.
Leicestershire County Council Early Help Services are part of a wider Early Help
Offer delivered by a range of agencies across Leicestershire. This offer is part of a
shared responsibility across partners for the delivery of Early Help Services in
Leicestershire.

The aims of service are to;
•

Improve outcomes for families

•

Ensure resources are focused on those who need it the most

•

Join up work across agencies to support families in the most effective way

•

Reduce cost to public services

•

To maintain and develop a pooled budget to deliver the Service.

Practitioners work intensively with small caseloads to deliver direct support to
families in the following ways;
•

Parenting skills, daily routines, life skills, self-confidence, resilience,
motivation and goals

•

Practical help in managing the household as well as information, advice &
emotional support for family members and support with debt management

•

Secure employment and improve the likelihood of returning to work

•

Co-ordinate the delivery of services working with the family

•

Lever in new support when appropriate

•

Accessing and using other public sector services including health

•

Improving relationships with neighbours and the wider community

Referrals for SLF are made via the First Response Central Duty Desk (FRCD).FRCD
is the social work led central referral point for both safeguarding (Priority 1 and
Priority 2) and Targeted Early Help (Priority 3). Priority 3 cases are identified through
a triage process, and from FRCD are either sent directly to services where a simple,
single service response is required (Priority 3b) or to one of seven Locality Hubs,
where the request is more complex, there are multiple issues for the family, and may
require a multi-agency or multi-service response (Priority 3a).The Locality Hubs are
organised on a district council basis, and provide a forum for multi-agency discussion
to identify the most appropriate response to the needs identified in the request for
8

131
service. In addition, the Hubs also provide a forum for considering the needs of
families who are coming to an end of their involvement with children’s social care. All
referrals for SLF come via the Locality Hubs.

Finances
The Supporting Leicestershire Families pooled budget is made up of partnership
contributions (seven District Councils, two Clinical Commissioning Groups, Public
Health, Leicestershire County Council and the Police) and the Troubled Families Unit
(TFU) attachment fees and Payment by Results (PBR) funding. The partnership
funding was committed for three years (2012/13 to 2014/15). The SLF Service
became operational in April 2013 therefore the funding was rolled forward to fund the
service until 2015/16.

The total budget allocated over the three years was £8.5 million.

Table 1
Organisation

Financial
Contribution

Department for

Communities

and

Local £4,414760

Government (DCLG)
Leicestershire County Council

£1,712495

Both Clinical Commissioning Groups

£1,500,000

All 7 Leicestershire District/Borough Councils

£575,001

Police Crime Commissioner

£234,750

Public Health

£75,000

Total

£8,512,006

Over the first three years of the programme the budget was made through a mixture
of reserves and annual income (TFU and some partners) due to the way in which
contributions to the pooled budget were made by some of the partners.

9

132

Pooled Budget income and expenditure 2012/13 to 2015/16
Income

2012/13

2013/14

2014/15

2015/16

Upfront Attachment fees

1,065,600

1,304,400

693,600

474,000

Payment By Results

35,000

121,387

4,773

216,000

Troubled Families Co-ordinator Grant

100,000

100,000

100,000

200,000

1,200,600

1,525,787

798,373

890,000

Blaby District Council

26,667

26,667

26,667

Harborough District Council

21,667

21,667

21,667

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

23,333

23,333

23,333

Charnwood Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Melton District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

North West Leics District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Clinical Commissioning Groups

1,500,000

Police / OPCC

100,000

Leicestershire County Council - Public H

75,000

Leicestershire County Council

570,832

570,832

570,832

Total Partner Contributions

2,437,499

762,499

841,249

56,000

2,288,986

1,639,622

946,000

Staffing

1,640,361

1,907,636

1,861,416

Indirect Employee

48,025

32,910

50,000

Premises

3,133

4,824

6,000

Transport

53,508

69,360

80,000

276,278

310,217

306,050

Department for Communities and Local Government;

Service Transformation
Total Government Grant
Contributions from Partners;

General Income

78,750

56,000

700

TOTAL INCOME

3,638,099

Expenditure

Supplies and Services
Leicestershire One View

1

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

121,000
0

Funding from K 9552 975 reserve

2,021,305

2,324,947

2,424,466

-172,037

IN YEAR RESERVES MOVEMENT

3,638,099

439,718

-685,325

-1,478,466

RESERVE CARRY FORWARD

3,638,099

4,077,816

3,392,491

1,914,025

1

OneView is the multi-agency information sharing service established to support the SLF
arrangements. Oneview produces a holistic Family Summary by interrogating the databases
of SLF partners and compiling relevant information into a single picture of a family and its
circumstances.

10

133
At the end of 2015/16 there will be a reserve balance of £1,914,025 in the pooled
budget.

The programme is part of a National Government programme to work with “Troubled
Families led by the Department for Communities and Local Government (DCLG).
Central funding has been provided which accounts for one third of the service
funding with a proportion of this funding reliant upon a “Payment by Results” (PbR)
arrangement which requires delivery of agreed targets. SLF has been successful in
each year of delivery so far in meeting these targets and secure full investment from
DCLG.

Activity and Performance
Service activity over the first two years of delivery is shown in the first two columns of
the table below with the year to date information for 2015/16:

2015/16

Table 3 – Activity

Year to date
2013/14 2014/15 End Sept

Overall number of families supported

390

552

478

Overall number of individuals this comprises

1624

2417

2128

Adults

668

907

836

Children

956

1510

1292

Average number of members in family

4.2

4.3

4.5

Average number of adults in family

1.7

1.6

1.7

Average number of children in family

2.5

2.7

2.7

Average age of adult in family

35.2

35.6

35.4

Average age of children in family

10.4

9.9

9

One of the challenges presenting in delivering a model of intensive family
intervention over a significant period of time, is the demonstration of outcomes
through data. This is because there can be a considerable time delay between
assessment and case closure, and many of the DCLG reporting mechanisms require
12 month tracking prior to and after intervention.
11

134

Appendix One contains the 2014/15 Annual report which details activity and
outcomes for year two of the programme.

Over the three year Service operating period the total spend on the Service will be
£6,770,718. Based on the total number of families supported to date (1491) the cost
per family of intervention averages £4,541 per family.

On average each family had 10.9 issues identified at the point of assessment. The
most frequent issue, applicable to 87.4% of SLF families in 2014/15 at the start of
intervention was ‘Lack of parenting is an issue in family’. ‘Negative lifestyle factors’,
affecting 75.5% of families, was the second most frequent issue.

National data analysis as commissioned by Department for Work and Pensions and
DCLG was produced earlier this year to support the continuation and expansion of
the programme over the next term of Government. These demonstrate the most
common characteristics in families supported by the programme are:•

Poverty

•

Unemployment

•

illness

•

disability

•

in social housing

•

and dependent upon the welfare state

In addition the national data showed;
•

49% are lone parent families.

•

With 51% having both matriarch and patriarch heads of household

•

74% were workless households;

•

83% received out of work benefits;

•

27% were in rent arrears;

•

21% were at risk of eviction.

(All data DWP Experimental Official Statistics National Data January 2015)

12

135
This profiling helps establish exactly who is being supported by the programme and
reflects the selection criteria as set by DCLG.

Payment By Results and Outcomes
The phase 1 PbR scheme was a three year programme that ran from 2012/13 to
2014/15.

The maximum funding available from the DCLG to Leicestershire for

phase one of the programme was £2.7 million. This is made up of a combination of
up front attachment fees (£1.9 million) and the Payment by Results payment (up to
£800k), payable once positive outcomes have been achieved with a family. This
equates to a maximum of £4k for each family.

In Phase One of The Troubled Families Unit (TFU) Programme the TFU identified
that Leicestershire had 810 troubled families.

DCLG established very clear guidance in phase 1 as to what needs to be evidenced
to be able to claim the “PbR” element of the funding. It required;
•

Each child in the family to have had fewer than 3 fixed exclusions and less
than 15% of unauthorised absences in the last 3 school terms; and

•

A 60% reduction in anti-social behaviour across the family in the last 6
months; and

•

Offending rate by all minors in the family reduced by at least 33% in the
last 6 months…if…

•

They do not enter work but achieve the progress to work

Or alternatively, if the service achieved the following work goal PBR, this target
alone, resulted in full payment of the PBR;
•

At least one adult in the family has moved off out-of-work benefits into
continuous employment in the last 6 months.

Leicestershire was successful in achieving results for 100% of its 810 families and
therefore secured the full contribution of attachment fees and PbR funding. This is
reflected in the budget information in the previous section.

13

136
Phase Two of the national programme officially started on 1st April 2015, however
areas that were performing well in phase one were invited to enter phase two early
(September 2014). Leicestershire was one of these authorities.

The expanded Troubled Families Programme (Phase Two) is a five year programme
from 2015/16 targeting an additional 400,000 families nationally (2790 in
Leicestershire over 5 years). Leicestershire County Council remains committed to
delivering over the 5 year horizon but will require support, including financial support,
of partners in order to sustain the service into the future.
The programme is focusing on a much broader set of families than those included in
phase one that allow areas to work with the families of most concern locally. The
headline indicators set out for phase two are:-

1. Parents and children involved in crime or anti-social behaviour.
2. Children who have not been attending school regularly.
3. Children who need help.
4. Adults out of work or at risk of financial exclusion and young people at risk of
unemployment.
5. Families affected by domestic violence and abuse.
6. Parents and children with a range of health problems.

The expanded troubled families programme asks local authorities to sign up to a
number of key commitments. These include the following:

• To achieve significant and sustained progress with an agreed total number
of families over the 5 year period from 2015/16.
• To engage with an agreed number of families in the first year of the phase 2
programme (2015/16). The local authority will receive upfront attachment
fees in 2015/16 for this number of families.
• To integrate and transform local public services.

Leicestershire has already made two claims under the expanded programme for 97
families in May and October 2015.

14

137
Outcomes
The service has impacted upon the lives of all those worked with, the schools the
children attend and the communities the family reside in. This service has helped
achieve behavioural change that has resulted in;
•

Reduced dependency upon unemployment welfare benefits

•

Improved behaviour and attendance in school and a reduction in
exclusions

•

Reduced disruption and nuisance to the local community

•

And improved confidence and well-being for the individual members of the
family

This analysis confirms that the very definition of what constitutes a troubled family,
the way this then leads to criteria selection and what metrics are used to measure
success inevitably means a focus upon unemployment benefit dependent mothers
with children having problems in schools. This is perhaps not surprising giving the
service is part of Leicestershire County Council Children’s services.

DCLG criteria is a limitation upon the ability of the service to deliver a more flexible
provision particularly during phase one. Some degree of flexibility has been achieved
whilst still delivering to the core expectations of DCLG and phase 2 already brings
DCLG into line with actual delivery of the service but through working with the
partnership even more could be achieved.

The data shows that the implementation of the Supporting Leicestershire Families
service are highly effective in identifying and then working with the client group
intended by the Government for this initiative. This conclusion is supported by the
continued success in meeting Payment by Results performance data which the
service has a 100% record in doing.

The table below provides a breakdown of families ‘turned around’ under phase one
of the programme and the first two quarters of the second phase. Families meet the
criteria of being ‘turned around’ when they meet the criteria as set out in the above
section
15

138

Families Turned Around
Phase 1

Claim 1

Jan-2013

58

Phase 1

Claim 2

Jul-2013

288

Phase 1

Claim 3

Oct-2013

40

Phase 1

Claim 4

Feb-2014

247

Phase 1

Claim 5

May-

139

2014
Phase 1

Claim 6

Aug-2014 38

Phase 2

Claim 7

May-

18

2015
Phase 2

Claim 8

Total

Sep-2015 79
907

Appendix 2 provides case study examples of the work undertaken and the impacts
achieved.

Learning from the Programme
At a local or national delivery level there has been no comprehensive evaluation to
evidence learning undertaken so far. DCLG have commissioned an evaluation but
the timetable for this has not been made clear nationally at the time of drafting this
Business Case. The value in undertaking a formal evaluation at a local level is
recognised and becomes a key recommendation in this document. The active
participation of all funding partners in the service will be sought to develop the
approach.

The service has delivered the following learning so far;
•

The modelling behaviour approach is successful in engaging “difficult”
client groups

•

Intense working on a one-to-one basis is required to undertake this work
16

139
•

Working in a family context increases the likelihood of behavioural change

•

Intervention “manages” otherwise “difficult” families/individuals

•

Intervention leads to improved behaviour, compliance and participation in
education and improved health outcomes and use of health services

•

Intervention leads to reduced dependency upon the welfare state and
public services

•

The current approach is strongest in working with children and young
mothers and less so when working with male heads of family

Information collected to support PbR provides much of the evidence to support these
claims.

Financial Modelling
In order to sustain the Service into the future continued partnership funding is
required.

As indicated in the financial section due to the way in which the income has come
into the Service the majority of the budget is held in reserves and used throughout
the year in order to fund the Service at the agreed level. At the end of 2015/16 the
reserve balance in the pooled budget will be £1,914,025.

The following financial modelling is based on the Service remaining at the same
staffing levels for the next 3 years (2016/17 – 2018/19) and based on the following
assumptions:•

Cost of living and incremental rises are built in

•

Any vacancies within service will be managed in order to keep the in
budget

•

Retain the same level of management funded through the pooled budget

•

Increased level of families supported through phase two by contribution of
other LCC Early Help Services

•

Retain a contingency of c£400k in budget as agreed at the outset of the
pooled budget development for redundancy costs

17

140
The DCLG have confirmed Payment By results and Attachment fees for the next four
financial years. For Leicestershire it is anticipated that this will equate to around
£900k per annum (based on achieving 60% Payment By results):

It is therefore proposed that the following partnership contributions are secured in
order to sustain the service for a further three financial years:Income

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Upfront Attachment fees

474,000

474,000

474,000

Payment By Results

227,520

227,520

227,520

Grant

200,000

200,000

200,000

Total Government Grant

901,520

901,520

901,520

Blaby District Council

26,667

26,667

26,667

Harborough District Council

21,667

21,667

21,667

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

23,333

23,333

23,333

Charnwoood Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Melton District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

North West Leics District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

West Leicestershire CCG

150,000

150,000

150,000

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

150,000

150,000

150,000

Police / OPCC

78,750

78,750

78,750

Leicestershire County Council - Public H

25,000

25,000

25,000

Leicestershire County Council

428,124

428,124

428,124

Total Partner Contributions

1,095,417

1,095,417

1,095,417

TOTAL INCOME

1,996,937

1,996,937

1,996,937

Staffing

1,861,416

1,861,416

1,861,416

Indirect Employee

50,000

50,000

50,000

Premises

6,000

6,000

6,000

Transport

80,000

80,000

80,000

Supplies and Services

306,050

306,050

306,050

Leicestershire One View

121,000

121,000

121,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2,424,466

2,424,466

2,424,466

IN YEAR RESERVES MOVEMENT

-427,529

-427,529

-427,529

RESERVE CARRY FORWARD

1,486,496

987,090

487,685

Department for Communities and Local Government;

Troubled Families Co-ordinator/ Service Transformation

Contributions from Partners;

Expenditure

18

141
Recommendations
There are five main recommendations of this Business Case;
1) Partners to confirm their commissioning intention to sustain service delivery
for the next 3 years by February 2016
2) Governance of the programme becomes part of the Health and Social Care
integrated delivery arrangements
3) The Partnership commits to undertaking a local evaluation and plans are
drafted with a time-frame to do this
4) The Partnership commits to applying learning from the local and national
evaluations to the programme in future service development.
5) Recommending to Health and Well Being Board that when SLF is discussed
District and Police/OPCC colleagues are invited to enable a single
conversation around SLF thereby creating a formal decision making route for
SLF

Each recommendation is elaborated upon below

1)

Commissioning Intentions

The sustainability of the service is now the priority. The Government’s commitment
to continuing its funding through DCLG was contained in the Comprehensive
Spending Review. This is expected to mean £650,000 upfront funding through
attachment fees and service transformation grant with an estimated £216,000 PbR
through a target of 60% metrics delivery. Given the previous record of success in
PbR it is expected that this target will be met.

All the partners are now being approached through this business case to sustain
their financial and programme investment. Leicestershire County Council, West
Leicestershire CCG, East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG, District/Borough
Councils, the Police and Crime Commissioner and Public Health are being
approached to ascertain their commissioning intentions, governance procedure and
timetable for decision making and to make their intentions known by February 2016.

19

142
As part of this there is an opportunity to explore opportunities where duplication of
provision can be avoided and savings can be achieved through the intervention of
the SLF service or through the effective capturing of SLF delivery.

The expected running costs of the service are expected to be held at £2.4m per
annum and partner contributions are proposed to remain at the same levels as
previously made.

2) Health and Social Care integrated Governance

It is recognised that the current governance arrangements for SLF are insufficient in
that they do not reflect the multiagency partnership involvement required for
governing of the programme and since the SLF service began 3 years ago, the
overall interagency governance arrangements across health and care have changed
significantly.

The proposal in this business case is to bring the service under the umbrella of the
Integration Executive, which was introduced in February 2014 to oversee the
integration of health and care. Due to the Better Care Fund’s introduction and its
initial focus on adult/older people’s services the work of the integration executive has
to date not included a focus on children/family services, however it is now felt to the
right time to review this. The integration executive has also maintained a watching
brief on the development of an approach to whole life disability, with the intention of
including this in the scope of its work in due course. It is therefore recommended that
the terms of reference of the integration executive be amended to provide
governance and oversight to the future delivery of the SLF programme, based on the
preferred option agreed by partners as a result of this business case and that the
performance management of the service and associated budget be governed within
the integration executive and its sub structure. See diagram of current governance
arrangements for the integration executive at Appendix 3.

There are additional benefits of this approach as this would also place the service
alongside other locality based integrated services which are focused on similar goals
and outcomes which support vulnerable people by focusing on demand
20

143
management, reducing dependence and supporting independence (e.g. Local Area
Co-ordination, the Lightbulb housing initiative, First Contact etc.)

In joining the integration executive governance arrangements, the SLF service will
work with partner agencies to extend the current outcomes dashboard to focus upon
jointly agreed metrics with partners to supplement those required by DCLG.
Performance against these outcomes will be reported back through the Integration
Executive and its sub structure.

The Health and Care integrated programme have developed use of an information
sharing and reporting tool with a commercial provider, called PI and it is clear that
including the SLF data in the use of this tool would aid the production of dashboards
and reporting for the SLF service. This needs to be explored further in order to
understand the potential for this, including a clear business case around cost and the
interaction with our existing case management systems utilised by SLF.

A specific example of the interventions made by practitioners that support integrated
Health and Social Care goals but are not being recorded is in the case of improving
health, lifestyle and reducing “frequent flyers”. Case analysis with practitioners has
revealed that the intervention of the service has identified the following as issues and
has helped families;
•

Registering with a GP

•

Registering with a Dentist

•

Registering with an Optician

•

Supporting families to attend and keep appointments

•

Support families ensure vaccinations and immunisations are carried out

•

Supporting families comply with treatment requirements including
medication and physio

•

Support families complete advised health checks and screening

•

Learn and understand how their lifestyle behaviour impacts upon their
health

•

Improving take up and participation in exercise and sport activity

•

Make other changes to lifestyle including heathy eating and quitting
smoking
21

144
•

Where quitting is not achieved even steps towards improvement such as
not smoking in vehicles with children present is worked on

The data and research evidences that these health issues are common place in
these families. Details behind the specific examples have been provided in the case
studies in Appendix 2.

Aligning the programme with the overall health and care integration programme and
including monitoring as part of the “Pi” project would greatly enhance understanding
of what the service delivers, provide a more consistent and transparent reporting
framework within a multiagency setting, and inform its continued development.

3) Local Evaluation
The partnership commitment to evaluation requires a dedicated timetable and coordinated approach in the planning of it. The focus is to be upon capturing the wider
impact of the service delivery particularly providing an evidence base of how all
partners’ goals and interests are supported by the service.

4) Commitment to apply Evaluation learning
Partners are committed to applying learning from both the national and local
evaluation. This applies the principal of evidenced based learning to the continued
service development. The evaluation is to focus upon the first three years of the core
service delivery and will benefit from the Pi integrated Health and Social Care tool
and the active participation of all partners.

There is an opportunity to learn from pilot projects working at a locality or a specific
Primary Care Practice level. This would be a safe way to experiment with
approaches and potentially explore particularly specific relationships between a
Primary Care Practice for example and the service.

5) Health and Well-Being Board
It is recommended that the Health and Well Being Board consider extending an
invitation to District and Police colleagues to the HWBB when SLF is discussed. This
would enable the establishment of a single governance arena for SLF.
22

145

Appendix two - Case Studies
SLF Staff were asked to provide examples of actual cases they are currently or have
recently worked upon with specific consideration of wider partner delivery. The
following examples have been provided which are offered to illustrate the kind of
activities, support and outcomes the service provides.

Case

1

“I was working with a Parent who was diagnosed with OCD/Depression and
Fibromyalgia. I supported her accessing Counselling group at Francis Dixon Lodge,
went with her on first and second session on the bus after identifying a possible bus
route from Mountsorrel to General Hospital. By the 3rd session she was comfortable
going on her own. This Parent was also overweight and she wanted help with this so
I did a referral to LEAP (Lifestyle, Eating and Activity Programme), went with her to
the first session. The Parent got talking to someone at the group and they both
arranged to come together the following week.
Before our involvement she was only going to the GP to ask for medication when
she ran out. However when SLF became involved I went with her to one of the
appointments and spoke to the GP and encouraged him to put in more support for
her other than prescribing medication. He then made a referral to Francis Dixon
Lodge. Which was a waiting list however a space became available few weeks after
he made the referral. This overall helped her self-esteem and left her feeling more
positive about herself.”

Case

2

“Before SLF involvement - L is a 13 year old boy in year 9 in a secondary school in
our rural villages in Hinckley and Bosworth. L has been out of education for 3 years.
Not accessed health at all since 2008 and has never visited an optician or dentist. L
is showing signs of low mood, poor sleep and his mum reports that he draws
‘disturbing’ images of violence. However she has not accessed any support. L’s
mum is stating she feels low in mood, does not go out and does not access any GP
services.
Since SLF involvement - L is now in school 5 mornings a week; L is now under the
care of CAMHS and has recently had a diagnosis for ASD. L has had an eye test
23

146
and has received a prescription for glasses to wear on a fulltime basis. L is now
seeing the school nurse weekly to address his emotional health. L is going to the
dentist 6 monthly and has now been referred to an orthodontist for a brace. In order
for this to be achieved, as an intensive family support worker I have had to build a
trusting and engaging relationship with both L and his mum. On a practical level I
have had to speak with their GP and arrange appointments and arrange transport for
them to attend. Transport to all appointments such as CAMHS, GO, Dentist and
Opticians has all been provided by SLF.”

Case

3

Before SLF Involvement
M is a 5 year old boy and E is a 9 year old boy who lives with K there mother in
Hinckley. M and E have not accessed the GP in 2 years and both have not been
seen by a health visitor or a school nurse in around 1 year either. M has not had his
age 4 immunisations due to his mother not wanting to engage in health services. K
has previously used Heroin but stopped this 3 years ago but engaging in a
methadone programme but now states she feels ashamed to visit her GP. She feels
she is low in mood and is scared of a relapse. E is severely overweight weighing
approx. 8 stones and age 9. Neither M, E nor K are registered with a dentist and
have never had an eye test.

Since SLF Involvement - Through building a therapeutic and trusting relationship on
an intensive level I have been able to work with K to challenge her thoughts and
ideas preventing her from accessing the health service. K herself has now accessed
her GP and is now receiving medication for depression and anxiety. K is also now
accessing a drug service called Swanswell to help support her in her fear of relapse.
K has now been reviewed by the health visitor and has had his 4 year boosters. E is
now under the dietetics service and is due to attend a FLIC club specially run for SLF
families starting in October 2015. K, M and E are now registered with a local dentist
and have had an initial check-up. K, M and E have all had an eye test and K is now
wearing glasses for reading.”

24

147

Case 4
“D C (Dad) was admitted to A & E x 2 for seizures induced by cocaine use/taken extra antianxiety medication. On first occasion he was discharged after care plan agreed with Crisis
Team, 2nd occasion discharged himself without seeing the doctor. Multi-agency meeting
held on 15/9/15 and 5/10/15. Establishing joint working in order to support D to manage his
medication and substance misuse therefore reducing A&E attendances. .”

Case 5
This family was referred to SLF due to maternal mental health issues, non-school
attendance and child’s (6 years old) health problems. Mother was suffering from mental
health problems and had not been attending her appointments. The children had been on a
child protection plan in Scotland due to neglect. Neither parent was working, they had
always been on benefits and had never worked. Parents had a number of debts which were
not being managed.
Child A (6) was soiling up to five times per day at school, she was still in nappies and
parents were getting calls every day to go to school to change her. When Father
disappeared up to Scotland, Mother would not go to the school to change the child due to
her anxiety. Mother saw school as a threat and was not communicating with them. Child A
was not accessing all of her learning due to her soiling herself and Mother was not attending
doctors and hospital appointments for herself or the children.

Eventually Child A got excluded from school as school could not cope with the soiling and
Mother was not going up to school to change her.
SLF involvement
The SLF worker supported mum to access the school to discuss the concerns around Child
A. the SLF Worker also facilitated Mother and Child A access to health appointments.
Mother was diagnosed with anxiety, dipolar and ADHD. Which in turn meant that she then
started to get the correct medication and support.

The family received Debt advice and they started to get her debts under control this in turn
started to take away some of her anxiety.

Mother and father were supported to access employment advice and Father was put on a
Princess Trust group which involved football, he had always been nervous about going on

25

148
courses before as he cannot read or write, but he engaged well with this course. He started
looking for work and is now in full time employment.

Mother started attending the sessions for her mental health and got the confidence to start
volunteering at the local cafe on their estate, through this she made some friends.

With parents now having the confidence to speak to school they started attending meetings
in order to plan for Child A to go back to school. The school nurse made sure that Child A
was receiving the adequate support according to her needs. She is now using the toilet at
school. The family have been attending all of their hospital appointments

Mother now has a good relationship with school, Child A is now back in full time school and
out of nappies

Appendix Two – proposed governance

26

149

SupportingLeicestershireFamilies
Annual Report 2014-2015
Leicestershire is committed to improving the lives of
Leicestershire Families, particularly the most vulnerable.
Our ambition is to improve outcomes for these families
whilst reducing public sector costs.

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

1

150

“Without my worker I would probably be homeless,
taking drugs, self harming and with mental health
problems might have killed myself – everything I
was feeling before my worker came into my life.
But my worker has helped me a lot and offered a
lot of support and I don’t think I would have come
this far without him.”

2

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

151

Introduction
The National Troubled Families programme was launched
in December 2011 by the Prime Minister. Leicestershire’s
response to the programme was the creation of a multiagency pooled budget to deliver a programme of intensive
support to families identified with complex and multiple
issues and who place some burden on the resources of
public sector services.

“We now do more activities
together, the routine in the
home has made us all happier,
no arguments and managing
my money better has made
a huge difference, we don’t
stuggle constantly from week
to week”

The Supporting Leicestershire Families pooled budget is made up of
partnership contributions (seven District Councils, two Clinical Commissioning
Groups, Public Health, Leicestershire County Council, Job Centre Plus and the
Police) and the Troubled Families Unit (TFU) attachment fees and Payment by
Results (PBR) funding. The partnership funding was committed for three years
(2012/13 to 2014/15). The SLF Service became operational in April 2013
therefore the funding was rolled forward to fund the service until 2015/16.

Purpose and Aims of
Supporting Leicestershire Families
The Partnership is committed to improving the lives of Leicestershire
families, particularly the most vulnerable. Our ambition is to improve
outcomes for these families whilst reducing public sector costs.

The aims of SLF are to:
t Improve outcomes for families
t Ensure resources are focused on those who need it the most
t Join up work across agencies to support families in the most
effective way
t Reduce cost to public services
t To maintain and develop a pooled budget to deliver the Service.

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

3

152

The Service
Supporting Leicestershire Families operates a locality model in all seven
district/borough localities. The Service is led by the Head of Supporting
Leicestershire Families and Safer Communities and operationally managed by
the SLF Service Manager.
At the heart of the Service is a team of 51 Family Support Workers who hold
small caseloads (10) of families. Their role is to:
t provide intensive, practical ‘hands-on’ support to families around a range of
issues
t take a persistent, assertive and challenging approach
t look at what ‘s happening for the family as a whole and focus on helping
families function
t co-ordinate the delivery of ‘team around the family’ services
The Family Support Workers are managed by a team of 7 Senior Family
Support Workers and all of the staff are based in District and Borough Council
buildings. The Professional backgrounds of the Family Support Workers
include social work, youth work, parenting support, children’s centres,
substance misuse and youth offending.

Criteria for SLF involvement
Families with 2 or more of the following issues:
t Offending and Anti-Social Behaviour
t Children with Education issues (attendance and exclusion)
t Worklessness
t Drug misuse
t Violence or abuse in the home
t Mental health
t Significant financial difficulties
t Housing and risk of homelessness

4

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

“We would like to say a big
thank you to our worker for her
help and support. She has
been very down to earth and
not judged us when we have
felt embarrassed, asking her to
fill in forms for us or read letters
we don’t understand. Without
her (young person) would have
caused crimes and been in
jail. She has also helped him
to learn to read and write by
encouraging him. It is nice to
know there is good support out
there.”

153

Referrals for SLF are made via the First Response Central Duty Desk (FRCD).
FRCD is the social work led central referral point for both safeguarding (Priority
1 and Priority 2) and Targeted Early Help (Priority 3). Priority 3 cases are
identified through a triage process, and from FRCD are either sent directly to
services where a simple, single service response is required (Priority 3b) or
to one of seven Locality Hubs, where the request is more complex, there are
multiple issues for the family, and may require a multi-agency or multi-service
response (Priority 3a).

“The continuing, regular,
consistent support from workers
who have enough time to get to
know families and their issues,
and to work through things
in a calm , non-judgemental
and methodical way has paid
dividends” GP

The Locality Hubs are organised on a district council basis, and provide a
forum for multi-agency discussion to identify the most appropriate response
to the needs identified in the request for service. In addition, the Hubs also
provide a forum for considering the needs of families who are coming to an
end of their involvement with children’s social care. All referrals for SLF come
via the Locality Hubs.

Performance
2014/15 was the second year of SLF Service delivery. During this time 552
families have been worked with by the service, with 273 cases opening and
284 cases closing during the year.

Total families supported in 2014/15 per District Area

Within these 552 families, 2417 individuals were worked with of which 907
were adults, 1510 were children. On average each family had 4.3 family
members of which 1.6 were adults and 2.7 were children.
Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

5

154

The families supported had, on average, 42.2 weeks of involvement from the
SLF service
Reasons for involvement: On average each family had 10.9 issues identified at
the point of assessment. The most frequent issue, applicable to 87.4% of SLF
families in 2014/15 at the start of intervention was ‘Lack of parenting is an
issue in family’. ‘Negative lifestyle factors’, affecting 75.5% of families, was the
second most frequent issue.

284 families were closed to SLF during 2014/15. At point of closure all
families were re-assessed and significant improvement was evidenced across
a range of issues. Issues affecting the family with the biggest reduction at
closure were:t Unstable/Disruptive Relationships
t Difficulty Looking After Children
t School Absence
t Difficulty Parenting
t School Behaviour Problems
t Financial Difficulties

6

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

-23%
-21%
-20%
-20%
-20%
-18%

“I have learnt from her – like
watching her on the phone with
people – I feel more confident
and stress has gone. I’m going
to college now and have work
placement, don’t have to stress
over it, don’t get ratty with the
kids anymore”

155

The graph below sets out the needs identified at the beginning of intervention
and at the end of intervention and the reduction in needs:-

The Family Star tool is used alongside the parent(s)/ carers in the household to
assess the ten key areas of the parent and parenting abilities. Parents/Carers
are asked to score themselves on a scale of 1 to 10 with 1 being ‘stuck’ and
10 being ‘effective parenting’.
At the first assessment 9 of the 10 Family Star measures showed an average
score of below 6. At closure the percentage of families scoring less than six
across all Family Star measures improved significantly.

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

7

156

Issues with largest % decrease in families scoring < 6 at closure were
t Boundaries and Behaviours
t Your Well Being
t Home and Money

Family Star Scores at Assessment and Closure
(% Families scoring < 6)

8

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

-48%
-40%
-31%

157

Case Study one
The Miller Family (Mum and three children)
Background
Mum has significant mental health difficulties (ADHD and Bipolar) and has
found it difficult to engage with health professionals. Her difficulties have had
an impact on her ability to manage day to day; specifically she struggles with
managing home and money, providing regular and healthy meals, providing
for the emotional wellbeing of the children.
Mum has previously been both a victim and perpetrator of domestic violence,
and both older children witnessed this. Mum was using cannabis and was a
perpetrator of anti-social behaviour, banned from the school playground for
punching another parent and ejected from other services due to aggression.
The eldest child was at risk of permanent exclusion from school.

ker
or
W

+ ȕ   Ȋ 
ȕ   
ȕ ȕ  Aȕ ( 
   ȕ 
   

m
Mu

The children are
happier at school
and their attendance
is much

Support
A Supporting Leicestershire Families worker drew up a plan of help,
which included:
t Working with the family to improve the children’s attendance at
school
t Provide help to the mum to tackle her cannabis use and to
determine the route of the anti-social behaviour
t Talking with a Housing Officer to look into the possibility of
finding a house to better suit the families need and give them a
fresh start

SL
F

struggling
to cope

Hous

of ficer
ing

Outcomes
Since working with SLF mum has been more open to receiving
specialist help from the mental health team she has received a
diagnosis of mild personality disorder and is now waiting for the
correct medication. The children are now attending school regularly
and on time, and the basic care needs of the children are being met
more consistently. Mum has been supported to look at her housing
needs, and has successfully moved into a new property where she
has good facilities and local amenities to suit her family’s needs.

Finding a house
with services
to support
the family has
really helped

Child

I feel
happier at
school now
and want to
work hard to
do better

SLF wor
ker

MUM STRUGGLED TO
MANAGE DAY TO DAY
THINGS FOR THE FAMILY

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

9

158

Case study two
This case study illustrates an integrated approach between Supporting
Leicestershire Families (SLF) and the social care, housing and education
teams.

positive outcome

agency working

Background

Mum

Support
A Supporting Leicestershire Families worker carried out an initial
assessment which highlighted areas of concern. Initial work included:

Child

Outcome
Over the last year (tbc) the lives of the Grant family have
improved. Their tenancy has been maintained. Mum feels
more confident to ask for help when she needs it and she
has rebuilt relationships with close family members.

Hous

officer
ing

The family would definitely have been evicted
without support from the SLF worker. There
were lots of complaints from residents initially
but now we don't receive any at all.

A

Socia
l

%%ȕ Ȓ 
By working
%( ȕ together
Ȓȕ  with SLF, child
A has become a
% (ȕ@ more rounded,

Child A’s behaviour has improved, both at home and at school.
She knows who to speak to if she feels unsafe and is becoming
more integrated into the local community. In the last six months
there have been no complaints from other residents about anti-social
behaviour.
Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

Without T
I'd now be living
on the streets.

Child A

rker
wo

t supporting Mum to get the right benefits, clear rent
areas and avoid eviction
t practical support including making sure the home was
safe for the whole family
t giving parenting advice to Mum so that better routines
could be created for child A
t liaising with all agencies to ensure a consistent
approach
t working with Mum to make sure the needs of the
children come first
t making sure Mum uses the support around her
like family members and local groups

10

SLF
work
er

The Grant Family were at risk of eviction and isolated from their family
and community. The housing department had received complaints of
anti-social behaviour. A seven year old daughter (child A) was isolated
and disruptive at school. As well as caring for her two month old child
(child B), Mum was finding it hard to set boundaries and establish
routines for her older daughter. Concerns were raised about Mum’s
capacity to keep this child safe.

open child.

T HELPED ME BY TAKING
ME TO DIFFERENT PLACES
AND DOING NICE THINGS.

159

Case study three

working
together

Background
This case study highlights the importance of working together to improve outcomes
for families. The family consists of Mum and four children aged between 15 and 3.

Child
A

Professionals felt the house and environment wasn’t suitable if the children were to
be safe. There was a very chaotic atmosphere at home, with visitors coming in and
out throughout the day. Several members of the family had poor mental health,
and the social care service had previously worked with the whole family. Mum
said she felt ‘out of control’ and feared the children might be taken into care. Their
relationships were all breaking down and the eldest children would often fight.
Child A (15) often went missing, was self-harming and absent from school. At
one point her relationship with Mum had completely broken down and she was
choosing to live with another member of the family. Child B (12) also had low school
attendance and mental health issues.

+  ȕ  
with mum
got worse
m
Mu

Support

I felt out
of control

A Supporting Leicestershire Families worker drew up a plan of help,
which included:
of ficer
ing

Hous

Finding a
home that was
better suited
to the family
has really
helped them

Outcome
Over eight to nine months improvements to routines and relationships
have helped to make family life happier. They have also settled into
a new home and Child A lives back with the family. Mum feels
more organised and has better strategies to help her cope when
things seem tough. School attendance for all the children is good.
The whole family are addressing health needs with appropriate
professionals. They are more honest and open with each other.

Socia
l

rker
wo

t liaising with a range of agencies and supporting the family to
attend appointments and referrals
t linking with the local housing team to arrange a house move
t working with schools to ensure successful transitions to new
schools
t helping the whole family to establish good routines
t helping the family to repair their own relationships
t one to one work with the children
t encouraging the family to use local leisure activities like
swimming.

By working
together
the family
are back
together

Child A

THE SLF WORKER
HELPED ME TO REBUILD
MY RELATIONSHIP
WITH MY MUM

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

11

160

12

Supporting Leicestershire Families | Annual Report 2014-2015

P0498 | Supporting Leicestershire Families Annual Report 2014-2015

“I think (young person) would still not be in school
as school didn’t care about his education and he
would be either in prison or about to be in prison
due to his anger being out of control…..thanks to
our worker without her help my (young person)
would not be where he is now – finishing school
and going to college. More mature and better in
himself which makes a great difference……he now
has a routine, positive friends and activities he goes
to and is a better person! Thank you.”

161

APPENDIX 2

Revised Budget proposal – February 2016

Income

2016/17

2017/18

2018/19

Upfront Attachment fees

474,000

474,000

474,000

Payment By Results

227,520

227,520

227,520

Grant

200,000

200,000

200,000

Total Government Grant

901,520

901,520

901,520

Blaby District Council

26,667

26,667

26,667

Harborough District Council

21,667

21,667

21,667

Oadby & Wigston Borough Council

23,333

23,333

23,333

Charnwoood Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Hinckley & Bosworth Borough Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

Melton District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

North West Leics District Council

30,000

30,000

30,000

West Leicestershire CCG

114,000

114,000

114,000

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG

86,000

86,000

86,000

Police / OPCC

78,750

78,750

78,750

Leicestershire County Council (Public H and Children & Families)

500,000

500,000

500,000

Total Partner Contributions

970,417

970,417

970,417

TOTAL INCOME

1,871,937

1,871,937

1,871,937

Staffing

1,861,416

1,861,416

1,861,416

Indirect Employee

50,000

50,000

50,000

Premises

6,000

6,000

6,000

Transport

80,000

80,000

80,000

Supplies and Services

306,050

306,050

306,050

Leicestershire One View

121,000

121,000

121,000

TOTAL EXPENDITURE

2,424,466

2,424,466

2,424,466

IN YEAR RESERVES MOVEMENT

-552,529

-552,529

-552,529

RESERVE CARRY FORWARD

1,289,620

737,091

184,562

Department for Communities and Local Government;

Troubled Families Co-ordinator/ Service Transformation

Contributions from Partners;

Expenditure

162

This page is intentionally left blank

163

Agenda Item 10

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10TH MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF PUBLIC HEALTH
SEXUAL HEALTH NEEDS ASSESSMENT AND DRAFT LEICESTERSHIRE
SEXUAL HEALTH STRATEGY 2016-19
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to inform the Health and Wellbeing Board of the draft sexual
health needs assessment and strategy and gain its views on the proposed future
direction for sexual health services across Leicestershire. Formal consultation on these
documents commenced in mid-January 2016.
Link to Better Care Together
Workstream
Maternity, neonates,
children and young people

Relevance Workstream
X
Mental health

Relevance

Implications
for
maternity
children
and young
people
services.

Long term conditions

Frail and older people

Urgent care

Planned care

Learning disabilities

End of life

X link to
gynaecology
workstream

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. The Health and Social Care Act 2012 has created fragmentation across the Leicester,
Leicestershire and Rutland sexual health system with three main commissioners (local
authorities, CCGs, and NHS England) across the pathway. National guidance suggests
the need to take a patient-centred, systematic approach to sexual health commissioning.
With key commissioners facing financial pressures, there is a need to develop strong
collaborative approaches across commissioning organisations to ‘pull the system back
together’ and ensure seamless, high quality, evidence based services are available to
the local population.
3. The Local Authorities (Public Health Functions and Entry to Premises by Local
Healthwatch Representatives) Regulations 2013 (made under the National Health

164
Services Act 2006) require upper tier local authorities to arrange for the provision of
specific services, including sexual health. Local authorities are required to provide:
“open access sexual health services for everyone present in their area, covering;
free sexually transmitted infections (STI) testing and treatment, and notification of
sexual partners of infected persons; and free contraception, and reasonable access
to all methods of contraception”1.
4. Leicestershire County Council’s Cabinet approved the development and consultation of
the draft sexual health strategy in December 2015. The final strategy will be submitted
to the Cabinet on 19 April 2016 for approval.
5. The Cabinet has also previously considered the sexual health commissioning decisions
as part of the wider Public Health Procurement Plan 2013-14 to 2014-15 in October
2013.
6. The draft strategy looks to build on elements of the Health and Wellbeing Strategy,
Community Strategy and Prevention target operating model.
Background
7. The sexual health needs of the population are evolving. Over the past few decades
there have been significant changes in relationships and how people live their lives
including personal attitudes and beliefs, social norms, peer pressure, confidence and
self-esteem, misuse of drugs and alcohol, coercion and abuse.
8. Although sexual relationships are essentially private matters, good sexual health is
important to individuals and to society. The World Health Organisation (WHO), 2002
defines sexual health as ‘… a state of physical, emotional, mental and social wellbeing in relation to sexuality.’
9. Sexual ill health can affect all parts of society – often when it is least expected.
Investment in sexual health not only improves the overall health of the population, it is
also cost effective. The consequences of poor sexual health cost the NHS in 2010 an
estimated £193 million in unintended pregnancies and in 2012-13 approximately
£630million in HIV treatment and care. National evidence also suggests that:
•

Every one pound invested in contraception saves £11.09 in averted negative
outcomes;

•

An increase in long acting reversible contraception (LARC) usage could save
£102million;

•

Increasing HIV testing among men who have sex with men and black African
communities in England would prevent 3,500 cases of HIV transmission within five
years and save £18million in treatment costs per year.

10. A comprehensive Leicestershire and Rutland Sexual Health Needs Assessment (SHNA)
was completed in Autumn 2015. The executive summary is attached as Appendix A. It
1 DH (2013) Commissioning Sexual Health Services and Interventions: Best Practice Guidance for Local
Authorities. Department of Health, London.

165
confirms that good progress has been made on key sexual health indicators and on
improving sexual health outcomes across Leicestershire and Rutland. However,
Leicestershire has an ageing and increasing population and sexual health services must
respond. It is therefore important to consider how services evolve to meet these
changing needs across the life course.
11. The proposed Sexual Health Strategy uses the latest evidence from the SHNA to take
stock of progress made so far and provides key strategic priorities for the next three
years to further improve sexual health services across Leicestershire.
Proposed Strategy
12. The draft Leicestershire Sexual Health Strategy 2016-19 is attached to this report
(Appendix B). This document outlines the eight key priorities for improving sexual health
services and population outcomes across Leicestershire. These are briefly set out
below:
(i). Coordinated approach to sexual health commissioning and partnership work.
Streamlining commissioning intentions across the system to ensure seamless
patient pathways, improved quality of service and identify cost efficiencies across
the system;
(ii). Develop a highly skilled local workforce.
Leicestershire has previously
experienced recruitment problems within the service. It is therefore important, to
develop both the specialist and non-specialist workforce, to make sexual health
services in Leicestershire an attractive place to work and progress;
(iii). Strengthen the role of primary care. General practices deliver the majority of
contraception across Leicestershire; however, demand is significantly increasing in
the specialist service. Hence there is a need to further equip the primary care
workforce to deliver more uncomplicated sexual health services in the future;
(iv). Coordinated, consistent sexual health communications.
Consistent
communications have a greater impact on the population, therefore services and
commissioners will develop communication approaches in partnership to ensure
these have the greatest effect on population attitudes and access to sexual health
services;
(v). Support schools to deliver high quality Relationships and Sex Education
(RSE). High quality RSE is critical in empowering young people to have informed,
consenting, positive relationships. Further work will be completed to build on the
current Leicestershire RSE toolkit;
(vi). Utilise new technologies to support sexual health delivery. Leicestershire is a
rural county, therefore sexual health services need to utilise the latest technologies
to increase access to the population. This includes developing a risk assessed, full
STI (Sexually Transmitted Infection) screen and utilising communication advances
in the service delivery, advertisements and partner notification. New sexual health
interventions will also be reviewed and implemented as appropriate;
(vii). Increase access to sexual health improvement and HIV prevention to at-risk
groups. Men who have sex with men, sex workers and black African communities

166
are at greater risk of poor sexual health. Therefore access to HIV home and
community testing will be investigated and targeted to these at risk populations;
(viii). Increase links between sexual violence and sexual health services. In recent
years there has been an increasing national impetus on sexual violence including
child sexual exploitation and female genital mutilation. Sexual health services
therefore need to further embed the sexual violence prevention agenda within their
services.
13. The Strategy is arranged into six key sections, including an introduction, current sexual
health progress, cross cutting themes, the strategic approach, key activities to deliver the
approach and defining how the strategy will be performance monitored. Full details are
given in Appendix B.
Consultation
14. A widespread stakeholder consultation on the draft Strategy formally commenced for
eight weeks from mid-January 2016 to 15th March 2016 available at
www.leicestershire.gov.uk/sexual_health_consultation.
Consultation
will
include
presenting at key stakeholder meetings (including local providers, Clinical
Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England) and an online survey. Results will be
analysed and used to inform a final version of the Strategy to be presented to the
Cabinet for approval in April 2016.
Resource Implications
15. The results of the SHNA and draft Strategy propose changes to current sexual health
prioritises, commissioning intentions and service provision (including health promotion,
RSE, contraception and STI screening and treatment). Specific service implications
include:
•

Working with local CCGs and NHS England commissioners to reduce fragmentation
across the system. Developing a bi-annual sexual health commissioners meeting;

•

Increasing the role of primary care in delivering uncomplicated sexual health
services (in particular contraception);

•

Reduction in opportunistic chlamydia screening and conversion into a full online STI
screening service;

•

More focused approach to teenage pregnancy including embedding support into
core services and increasing the age of support for teenage parents into education,
employment and training to 21 years;

•

Providing parity across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) for young
people’s sexual health services including development of an LLR C-Card (condom
distribution scheme) and increasing access into the core integrated sexual health
service;

•

Increased focus on groups at high risk of poor sexual health, especially men who
have sex with men. Converting support for sex workers from health promotion into
more clinical sexual health services.

167

Timetable for Decisions
16. Following Cabinet’s approval in December 2015, consultation will commence in midJanuary 2016 for a period of eight weeks.
17. The draft Strategy will also be considered by the Health and Wellbeing Board on 10
March 2016. The outcome of the consultation together with the final draft of the Strategy
for approval will be presented to the Cabinet on 19 April 2016.
Conclusions
18. A significant amount of work has been done through the SHNA to understand
Leicestershire’s current and future sexual health needs, both regarding the demand and
supply of such services. The results of this assessment have been used to develop the
draft Sexual Health Strategy on a needs basis. The draft strategy prioritises the next
stage of sexual health commissioning required to meet the evolving needs of the
population of Leicestershire. Implementation of the Strategy intends to build on wider
County Council priorities including increased focus on prevention (for example by RSE
and condom distribution), and supporting communities (by implementing new
technologies and increased general practice access), to deliver high quality, cost
effective sexual health system, whilst also delivering some cost efficiencies as part of the
MTFS. Progress will be monitored by the Director of Public Health and this will be
regularly communicated to key stakeholders via sexual health clinical networks and
commissioning meetings.
19. Subject to approval by the Cabinet, the Director of Public Health will use the draft
Strategy to inform and support commissioning decisions that will need to be taken prior
to April 2016, in order that these can be implemented from April 2016 onwards.
Background papers
Report to the Cabinet on 11th December 2015 – Sexual Health Needs Assessment and
Draft Leicestershire Sexual Health Strategy 2016-19.
http://politics/Published/C00000135/M00004233/AI00046016/$7CabinetReportSexualHealthStrategy.docA.ps.pdf

Report to the Cabinet on 15th October 2013- Public Health procurement plan 2013/1414/15.
http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003635/AI00035918/$PublicHealthProcurementPlan201314to201415.docA.ps.pdf]

Public Health England. Making It Work – A guide to whole system commissioning for
sexual
health,
reproductive
health
and
HIV.
(2014).
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/408357/Making_it_work_revised_March_2015.pdf]

Department of Health. A Framework for Sexual Health Improvement in England. 1–56
(2013).
https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file/142592/9287-2900714-TSO-SexualHealthPolicyNW_ACCESSIBLE.pdf]

Officers to contact
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health
Tel: 0116 305 4259 email: mike.sandys@leics.gov.uk
Vivienne Robbins, Consultant in Public Health
Tel: 0116 305 5384 email: vivienne.robbins@leics.gov.uk

168

List of Appendices
Appendix A Leicestershire and Rutland Sexual Health Needs Assessment, Executive
Summary, October 2015;
Appendix B Draft Leicestershire Sexual Health Strategy 2016-19;

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
20. A number of at risk groups have been specifically reviewed as part of the SHNA and a
key recommendation has been to ensure all sexual health services regularly complete an
equality impact assessment.
21. As part of the development of the final Strategy an Equality Human Rights Impact
Assessment (EHRIA) will be undertaken to identify equality issues which need to be
taken into account. The outcome of the assessment will be reported back to the Cabinet
prior to finalising and publishing the strategy.
Crime and Disorder Implications
22. The SHNA has considered the sexual health implications that result from sexual
violence. This includes links to domestic abuse, child sexual exploitation (see full SHNA
for details).
Partnership Working and associated issues
23. The draft Strategy has been informed by the Leicestershire SHNA which included
engagement with specific service user groups and a stakeholder visioning event in July
2015.
24. A key theme of the strategy is to develop a systematic approach to sexual health
commissioning. Therefore the strategy has implications for all sexual health
commissioners including local authorities, CCGs, and NHS England.
Further
consultation will be completed with these stakeholders as part of the consultation. This
will include presenting the SHNA and strategy to appropriate stakeholder meetings
before the strategy is finalised.
Risk Assessment
25. The Sexual Health Strategy aims to reduce a number of current risks identified by the
SHNA and wider sexual health system. These risks include:
•

Increased demand and cost for the integrated sexual health service;

•

Lack of engagement by stakeholders, including CCGs, NHS England and Health
Education East Midlands (HEEM), could result in fragmented commissioning of
services;

169
•

Potential changes to service delivery due to the implementation of new models of
work could result in changes to service providers, causing staff to leave and
temporary reductions in access or quality of services;

Budget reductions to Public Health Grant, wider local authority (in particular children and
young people’s services) and the wider health and social care system could result in loss
or restrictions to services, which may lead to increased rates of sexually transmitted
infections and unplanned pregnancies.

170

This page is intentionally left blank

171

Leicestershire and
Rutland Sexual
Health Needs
Assessment
Executive Summary

October 2015

Vivienne Robbins, Janet Hutchins,
Katie Phillips and Natalie Greasley

APPENDIX A

172

Executive Summary
1. Introduction
The sexual health needs of the population are evolving. Over the past few decades
there have been significant changes in relationships, and how people live their lives
including personal attitudes and beliefs, social norms, peer pressure, confidence and
self-esteem, misuse of drugs and alcohol, coercion and abuse.
Although sexual relationships are essentially private matters, good sexual health is
important to individuals and to society. WHO, 2002 defines sexual health as;
‘… a state of physical, emotional, mental and social well-being in relation to
sexuality.’(Page 5, WHO, 2002)1
Sexual ill health can affect all parts of society – often when it is least expected.
Investment in sexual health not only improves the overall health of the population, it
is also cost effective. The consequences of poor sexual health cost the NHS an
estimated £193m in unintended pregnancies in 2010 and approximately £630m in
HIV treatment and care in 2012/13. Evidence also suggests that;
· For every one pound invested in contraception saves £11.09 in averted
negative outcomes
· An increase in long acting reversible contraception (LARC) usage could save
£102 million and
· Increasing HIV testing among Men who have sex with Men (MSM) and black
Africans in England would prevent 3,500 cases of HIV transmission within
five years and save £18million in treatment costs per year2,3.
There have been unprecedented changes to the sexual health system since the
implementation of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. This has created
fragmentation across the sexual health system with three main commissioners (local
authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and NHS England.) National
guidance suggests the need to take a patient-centred, systematic approach to sexual
health commissioning around patient pathways. With key commissioners facing
financial pressures, there is a need to develop strong collaborative approaches
across commissioning organisations to ‘pull the system back together’ and ensure
seamless, high quality, evidence based services are available to the local population.

2. Methodology
This Leicestershire and Rutland sexual health needs assessment triangulates
national and local policy with quantitative and qualitative data to understand the
needs, demands and supply of sexual health services across Leicestershire and
Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

1

173

Rutland. The needs assessment has been split into chapters to ease navigation
through the document. These are
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·
·

Demography
High risk groups
Sexually transmitted infections (STIs)
HIV
Sexual and reproductive health
Sexual violence
Engagement
Conclusion
Recommendations

The results will be used to inform the future direction for sexual health
commissioning across Leicestershire and Rutland.

3. Demography of Leicestershire and Rutland
·

Leicestershire and Rutland (LCR) have older populations than the England
average. They are expected to increase 9.5% and 6.8% by 2028 respectively,
with greatest increases seen in people aged over 75years and internal migrants.4

·

The main ethnic group across LCR is White with 91% in Leicestershire and 97%
in Rutland.5

·

Nationally 1.6% of the population define themselves as gay, lesbian or bisexual,
this equates to over 10,000 people in Leicestershire and 600 in Rutland. Men are
twice as likely as women to declare themselves gay or bisexual.6

·

Overall Leicestershire and Rutland are very affluent counties with over half of the
population living in both Oadby and Wigston borough and Rutland living in the
least deprived 20% of areas in the country. However there are still pockets of
severe deprivation, in particular areas of Charnwood and North West
Leicestershire.7

Implications for sexual health services
·

Evidence shows that sexual health needs are greatest in young adults and often
reduce with age. LCR has an aging population, meaning there may be less need
for contraception than the England average. However there have been significant
increases in numbers of over 45’s presenting with STIs across LCR (59%
increase between 2010-20148). With the advances in treatment, HIV has become
more of a long term condition with many people living with HIV into older age.
Therefore the sexual health needs across the life course must be considered
including those of the older population which may entail increased demand in
psychosexual, HIV treatment and HIV social care services. Services also need to

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

2

174

be equitable to meet the needs of different vulnerable groups. For example
evidence shows that black ethnic minority (BME) groups and men who have sex
with men (MSM) are at higher risk of STIs and HIV. Although proportions of these
populations are not high across LCR, they are groups with high levels of sexual
health service need, meaning that culturally appropriate, targeted services are
required.
·

There is a social gradient indicating that those living in the most deprived areas of
LCR experience the poorest health (including sexual health) outcomes and are at
greater risk of teenage pregnancy. Hence service location need to take into
account deprivation and groups of high risk of poor sexual health. This includes
support for teenage parents who are at significantly higher risk of not being in
education, employment and training.

4. Groups at high risk of poor sexual health
·

Leicestershire and Rutland have lower estimated prevalence of opiate and/or
crack cocaine users aged 15-64, alcohol hospital admission rates and deaths due
to alcohol specific conditions than the England average.

·

As of September 2015 there are sex workers operating in 6 sauna/parlours and
at least 5 flats known to Police services in Leicestershire. Street work has also
been indicated in Loughborough. Sex workers are at greater risk of sexual
violence and poor sexual health and outcomes. Evidence suggest that men
paying for sex are the bridging population for STIs, hence further work is needed
to ensure that sex workers and men who pay for sex have access to condoms
and regular STI screening.

·

At least one in four people will experience a mental health problem at some point
in their life. In 2013/14 0.7% of the LCR population is diagnosed with a mental
health condition. This is significantly lower percentage than the England average
(0.9%).9 Poor mental health can be both a cause and effect of poor sexual health
in particular the impact of stigma and discrimination, and mental health support
following sexual violence or termination of pregnancy.

·

In 2012, an estimated 11.6% of 16-64 year olds in Leicestershire and 12.0% of
16-64 year olds in Rutland had a moderate to severe physical disability. Both
areas have a higher prevalence than the nationally (11.1%). 10 National data
suggests that people with physical disabilities are more likely to experience
forced vaginal and anal intercourse, report greater than 10 sexual partners over a
lifetime and identify themselves as other than heterosexual than people without
disabilities.11 These activities contribute to people with disabilities experiencing
increased rates of STIs, unintended pregnancies, and sexual violence than those
without disabilities.12

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

3

175

·

In 2013/14 0.4% (2,140) of the Leicestershire and 0.4% (122) of the Rutland
population aged 18years and above were registered with a learning disability.9

·

In 2013/14, 430 households in Leicestershire and 27 in Rutland were categorised
as statutory homeless. Both counties have significantly lower than the national
rates of homelessness acceptances.13 Homeless people are at increased risk of
STIs and unwanted pregnancies and can come under pressure to exchange sex
for food, shelter, drugs and money.

·

The 2013/14 rate of looked after children rate in Leicestershire 33.8 per 10,000
was significantly better than then national average 59.8 per 10,000 population.
Rutland’s rate was 45.1 per 10,000 was similar to the national average. 13 Young
people who are looked after are recognised as being vulnerable to risk taking
behaviour14 including early and unprotected sexual activity, self-harming,
misusing illegal and/or volatile substances and alcohol. This makes this group
particularly at risk of teenage pregnancy.

Implications for sexual health services
·

There are a number of vulnerable groups (including those that misuse
substances, sex workers, homeless, those with mental health, learning or
physical disabilities, children with child protection plans or that are looked after
and homeless) that are more likely to participate in risk taking sexual behaviour
and consequently have poorer sexual health outcomes than the general
population. Each group has diverse requirements and therefore sexual health
services should regularly complete an equalities impact assessment to review
how they are meeting the diverse needs of these populations. Interventions may
include targeted services (for example to MSM) or tailored information (for people
with learning disabilities or English as a second language). Pathways between
services that address risk taking behaviours (sexual health, mental health and
substance misuse) should also be further developed across service providers to
address the root cause of risk taking behaviours.

5. Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)
·

In 2014, there were 3,667 new STIs diagnosed in residents of Leicestershire
(49% male and 51% female), a rate of 554.3 per 100,000 residents. In residents
of Rutland, there were 193 new STIs diagnosed (62% male and 38% female), a
rate of 515.9 per 100,000 residents. These rates were significantly better than
the national rate of 796.1 per 100,000 population. 15

·

Across LCR the highest rate of STI diagnoses were in the 20-24 age band.,
followed by 15-19 age band in Leicestershire (and England), and 25-34 year age
band for Rutland.15

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

4

176

·

All districts in Leicestershire and Rutland have a STI new diagnosis (excluding
chlamydia under 25years and prisons) rate significantly better than the national
average. Charnwood has the highest rate of new STIs and Melton, the lowest.16

·

Chlamydia, followed by genital warts, were the most prevalent STIs in 2014.
From 2012 the rate of genital warts in Rutland was higher (although not
significantly) than the national average.16

·

High rates of gonorrhoea and syphilis in a population reflects high levels of risky
sexual behaviour. The rate of gonorrhoea diagnoses in Leicestershire is lower
than the national average. However there has been a year on year increase in
the rate of gonorrhoea diagnoses over time. It is hypothesised that this increase
is due to more sensitive tests and additional screening of extra-genital sites in
MSM.

·

Syphilis has the lowest rate of new STIs both nationally and locally. In
Leicestershire, increases were seen between 2009 and 2012, but the latest data
for 2014, shows the local rate has declined to lowest rate since recording began.
The rate in Rutland fluctuates due to small numbers.16

·

The rate of genital herpes nationally and in Leicestershire has increased year on
year since 2009, although Leicestershire and Rutland rates have remained
continuously lower than the national rate. Rutland rates fluctuate due to small
numbers involved.16

·

Re-infection with a new STI within 12 months is a marker of persistent risky
behaviour. This measure varies cross districts. It was higher than the national
average for women in Oadby & Wigston (7.8%) and for men in Blaby, Charnwood
and Oadby & Wigston (10.6%) in 2014. Men were more likely than women to be
re-infected with gonorrhoea. Harborough district had the highest percentage of
reinfection for men with gonorrhoea at 16.7%, which is twice the national
average.17

·

Nationally, young people aged 15-24 years, MSM and black Caribbean ethnic
groups have been shown to have higher rates of new STIs.

·

There has been an increase in the proportion of new STIs among MSM from
8.6% (n=108) in 2010 to 10.9% (n=180) in 2013 for Leicestershire and 5.5%
(n=6) to 7.6% (n=8) in Rutland over the same time period. Chlamydia and
gonorrhoea and syphilis diagnosis is higher in MSM as compared to heterosexual
men, where chlamydia and genital warts was the most dominant.17

·

The majority of STI diagnosis across LCR is found in the White population. The
Black ethnic group is overrepresented in terms of STI diagnoses while the Asian
groups are underrepresented.17

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

5

177

Chlamydia screening
·

In 2014 Leicestershire and Rutland screened a significantly worse percentage of
15-24 year olds for chlamydia (22.1% and 18.9% respectively) than the national
average (23.9%). The chlamydia diagnosis rate for 15-24 year olds in
Leicestershire was 1,616 per 100,000 population and 1,390 per 100,000 for
Rutland which are both significantly lower than the national average of 1,978 per
100,000 population. In terms of percentage positivity both Leicestershire and
Rutland had lower positivity than the national percentage of 8.3% at 7.3% and
7.8% respectively.16

·

Nationally and across LCR males age 20-24 years have the highest percentage
of tests with a positive result, followed by females aged 15-19 years. Chlamydia
detection rates are higher in females than males aged 15-24 years. This
distinction is particularly marked in Rutland where the rate for males is 888 per
100,000 aged 15-24 years, whereas the female rate is 2,054 per 100,000
females aged 15-24 years. Interestingly positivity rates from the Integrated
Sexual Health Service (ISHS) are higher in males than females across LCR.13

·

In Leicestershire, the highest percentage of 15-24 year olds tested for chlamydia
were in GPs, followed by GUM clinics and then other locations. In Rutland
highest percentage of tests occurred in other locations, GPs and GUM.8

·

In Leicestershire in 2014, the highest percentage positivity was found in GUM
clinics (9.6%) followed community sexual health services (9.4%). In Rutland,
community sexual health services has the highest percentage positivity (17.0%)
followed by GUM clinics (11.3%). It must be noted that these high positivity
percentages are likely to fluctuate due to smaller numbers involved.8

GUM access overall
·

In 2014, there were 14,702 first time attendees from Leicestershire attending any
sexual health clinic in England, of these 44% were male. This is an increase in
first time attendees from 14,122 in 2013. For Rutland residents, there were 684
first time attendees in 2014 and 63% of these attendees were male. 8

·

In 2014, the age group most frequently attending for a sexual health screen was
20-24 age band for Leicestershire and 25-34 for Rutland. This could indicate
problems of access for younger people or reflect the population profile. 8

·

14% of attendees were homosexual/bisexual males and less than 1 % of women
were homosexual or bisexual.8

·

There was an increase in Leicestershire women and decrease in men attending
for a sexual health screen in 2014. This could be a consequence of the new ISHS
model. For Rutland the opposite pattern was seen.8

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

6

178

Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) integrated sexual health
service (ISHS)
·

The new LLR integrated sexual health service model commenced from 1 January
2014 with two new hub site locations (St Peter’s and Loughborough) and five
additional spokes (4 in Leicestershire and 1 in Rutland). Hub opening hours have
increased to 9am-8pm Monday to Friday and Saturday mornings, (spoke sites
are sessional). The change of clinic sites and establishment of the new service
may have impacted on activity levels in 2014 as the new service established new
locations. However there was an overall increase in attendances for GUM
purposes to LLR sexual health sites by 800 patients for Leicestershire and 44 for
Rutland.

·

In 2014 there were 18,496 attendances to the LLR ISHS by Leicestershire and
354 by Rutland residents for both GUM and contraceptive services. 83% of the
patients attending the Leicestershire clinics were residents of Leicestershire,
1.9% were residents in Rutland and 7% lived in Leicester City. 31% of St Peter’s
(Leicester City hub) attendees were residents in the County. The new service has
doubled the number of attendances by Leicestershire residents to the county
sites and decreased the percentage use of GUM clinics outside of LLR by 1% in
Leicestershire and by 10% in Rutland between 2013 and 2014.In Rutland in
2014, Loughborough Health Centre had the highest counts of patients attending
a GUM, followed by Edith Cavell in Peterborough.18

·

The highest user age band was in the 15-24 age group. The majority of
attendances were female; 65% for Leicestershire and 73% for Rutland. This is
likely to be reflective of attendances for contraceptive services. 18

·

The majority of attendees were of white ethnicity which is reflective of the local
population.

·

The percentage of male attendees identifying as homosexual or bisexual was
14.2% for Leicestershire and 13.8% for Rutland.18

·

In Leicestershire approximately half of the population live less than a 10 minute
drive from an ISHS site and 6.5% have more than a 20 minute drive. The
variation across Leicestershire is wide. 27% of the Harborough population have a
drive of 20-30 minutes. Melton is the only district with 7.1% of the population
needing to drive more than 30 minutes to an ISHS site. In Rutland 40% of the
population live less than a 10 minute drive from an ISHS site and 19% have a
drive of 20-30 minutes. However the Rutland clinic site is sessional and has
limited capacity.19

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

7

179

Implications for sexual health
·

Overall LCR experiences lower than rates of STI diagnosis than the England
average. Chlamydia is the most common STI across LCR, followed by genital
warts. Although lower than the national rates, there has been year on year
increases in gonorrhoea and genital herpes across Leicestershire. This may be
due to increased access to STI testing or increases in STI prevalence across
LCR.

·

Oadby & Wigston, Blaby, Charnwood have been identified as areas of higher STI
reinfection within 12 months and Harborough reinfection percentage for men with
gonorrhoea specifically was twice the national average. Therefore additional
priority to STI prevention and contract tracing may be beneficial in these districts,
in particular with men.

·

Young people aged 15-24 years, MSM and black Caribbean ethnic groups have
been shown to have higher rates of new STIs across LCR, which is aligned with
the national picture. Increases in have been seen in the proportion of STIs
diagnosed in MSM across LCR. This may be due to increased uptake of STI
screening or higher STI prevalence. Either way targeted work must be
maintained with MSM due to the high level of sexual health need.

·

LCR does not perform well against the national average for Chlamydia screening
in 15-24 year olds. This has been particularly apparent since changes have
occurred in the national data collection from 2012. However comparator local
authorities perform similarly to LCR, which may indicate that the overall
prevalence of chlamydia is lower than the national average. Either way chlamydia
screening is a useful tool in normalising STI screening with young adults,
therefore opportunistic screening should be increased in core sexual health
services.

·

Increases in GUM attendance by Leicestershire and Rutland residents has been
seen locally and overall (including out of area contacts). This may reflect
increased access due to the new LLR ISHS, increased awareness of STI
screening, but also reflects the increased STI need across LCR. Slightly older
populations (25-29year olds) are most frequently accessing the ISHS from
Rutland as compared to Leicestershire (20-24year olds) which may reflect
reduced access or the demography of the population. In 2014 there was an
increase in women and decrease in men accessing sexual health services
locally. The opposite was seen in Rutland, where reductions in women’s access
were seen. This may be due to changes in the ISHS service model. Therefore
further work is needed to increase sexual health access to high risk groups
(including MSM), female and younger populations in Rutland and male
populations in Leicestershire.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

8

180

·

Rural access is a particular difficulty for areas of LCR due to limited access to
some hub and spoke sites via public transport. The use of clinics outside of LLR
by Leicestershire and particularly by Rutland residents reflects access issues as
some residents may choose to go to other open access sexual health services
perhaps closer to workplaces and colleges. The new ISHS has reduced out of
area GUM access by 1% in Leicestershire and 10% in Rutland between 2013
and 2014. Increasing accessibility to local services and providing alternative local
sexual health service provision such as general practice and pharmacy may
continue to reduce use of out of area services.

6. Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
·

In 2013 the HIV diagnosis prevalence in was 0.71 and 0.73 per 1,000
population aged 15-59 years for Leicestershire and Rutland respectively.
This is significantly lower than England average of 2.1 per 1,000 population
aged 15-59 years. All districts have significantly lower HIV diagnosis rates
than nationally, with the highest diagnosis rate in Oadby & Wigston and
lowest in Melton. The highest numbers of people living with HIV are in
Charnwood district followed by Blaby.16

·

HIV prevalence rates across LCR have increased over time. This is largely
due to increased life expectancy as treatment has improved to make HIV a
long term condition.

·

In 2013 there were 305 adults received HIV related care in Leicestershire,
216 male and 89 female. 64% were white and 25% black African ethnicity. 20
The likely route of infection was 43% sex between men and 50% sex
between men and women. There were 16 new diagnoses, an increase on
2012 and the majority had acquired via sex between men. 20

·

In 2013 there were 15 adults received HIV related care in Rutland, 66% male
and 33% female. 53% were white and 40% black African ethnicity. The likely
route of infection was approximately 53% sex between men and 47% sex
between men and women. There were no new diagnoses in 2013.20

·

In 2011-13 49% of HIV patients in Leicestershire were diagnosed at a later
stage of infection, this is higher than the England overall percentage of 45%.
In Rutland 67% of HIV patients were diagnosed at a late stage, most of these
being heterosexual. 13

·

The uptake of HIV testing at GUM clinics was higher for Leicestershire
(88.5%) and similar for Rutland (79.4%) than in England (80%). Uptake by
men in Rutland was lower than the England average.16

·

Community based testing is available for some groups in Leicestershire and
Rutland. Home testing and home sampling HIV tests are now legally

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

9

181

available and a home sampling pilot targeting MSM and black African
communities is due to commence across LCR in late 2015.
Implications for sexual health
·

There is significantly lower HIV diagnosis rates across LCR compared to the
national rate. However HIV prevalence overall is increasing locally and
nationally largely due to increased life expectancy as treatment has improved
to make HIV a long term condition. There are implications for health and
social care providers as the HIV positive group increases in number and
becomes an aging population with changing health needs.

·

Early HIV diagnosis is important to improve health outcomes for the
individual, reduce risk of onward transmission and lower treatment and care
costs. Leicestershire and Rutland both have higher late HIV diagnosis rates
than the England average. This is particularly apparent in heterosexual
transmission. Therefore further work is needed to educate the heterosexual
population about HIV and increase access and uptake of HIV testing, for
example in Rutland males accessing GUM. Referral pathways between
sexual health and HIV services must also be reviewed to ensure there are
seamless pathways which prevent unnecessary delay between diagnosis
and treatment Commissioning of alternative HIV testing methods such as
home testing and home sampling are important options to consider for
increasing HIV testing to high risk groups including MSM and black African
communities. The implications of the PROUD study on pre-exposure
prophylaxis should also be considered to reduce HIV transmission to specific
high risk groups.

7. Sexual Reproductive Health
Contraception
·

It is estimated that on average, women have a 30 year time period in which they
will need to avert an unintended pregnancy.

·

Contraception is cost saving, with £11 saving for every £1 spent. NICE guidance
identifies that LARC methods such as contraceptive injections, implants, the
intrauterine system (IUS) or intrauterine device (IUD) are more effective at
preventing pregnancy than user dependent methods( e.g. oral contraception,
condom).

·

Contraception is available from specialist open access sexual health services and
from general practice. It is estimated that 80% of contraception is delivered
through general practice (GP).

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

10

182

·

In 2013, 5164 Leicestershire and 193 Rutland residents attended specialist
sexual health services for contraception.17

·

In specialist contraceptive services across LCR, user dependent methods of
contraception (UDM) were most frequently prescribed for all ages except for the
35-44 year age group, who were most frequently prescribed LARC methods. . In
2013, similar or lower proportions of LARC were prescribed overall compared to
the England average in all age groups except for the 35 year plus age group in
Leicestershire and the 18-19 and 25-34 year age groups in Rutland.17

·

For Leicestershire residents, LARC represents 40% of contraceptive provision
from specialist sexual health services and 16% from general practice. For
Rutland residents, LARC represents 46% of contraceptive provision from
specialist sexual health services and 15% from general practice.17

·

LCR has a higher rate of LARC prescribing from primary care compared to the
national average. The rates in 2013 were 61.5 per 1,000 women aged 15-44
years for Leicestershire, 76.1 for Rutland and 52.7 for England. There has been a
small increase in the proportion of LARC delivered across LCR in primary care
between 2013 and 2014.16

·

79 practices provide contraceptive implant fitting and activity levels vary across
practices. 3 practices provided more than 75 implant fits in 2014/15. Activity
across LCR in 2014/15 was 2491 implant insertions and 1903 implant removals.

·

78 practices provide inter uterine devices/ systems (IUD/S) fitting and activity
levels vary across practices. 4 practices provided more than 100 IUD/S fits in
2014/15. 2472 IUD/S fits were completed in GP across LCR in 2014/15.

·

Retention of LARC methods is an important factor. LARC methods are cost
effective even at one year’s use compared to user dependent methods such as
the contraceptive pill. Retention rates are difficult to calculate as women may
attend different services for fits and for removal.

·

The IUS is also used for non-contraceptive purposes e.g. control of heavy
menstrual bleeding. This is the commissioning responsibility of Clinical
Commissioning Groups. The number of fits for this purpose is difficult to
determine from available data sources.

·

Approximately 60% of practitioners delivering LARC services currently hold
national FRSH Letters of Competence. Ongoing training is required to maintain
competencies of practitioners to provide IUD/S and SDI in primary care..

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

11

183

Emergency Contraception
·

It is important to access emergency contraception (EC) as early as possible after
unprotected sex or contraceptive failure so good access to local services is
important.

·

There are different types of EC available. There are two types of Emergency
Hormonal Contraception (EHC), LNG and UPA (EHC) and also Cu IUD.

·

All forms of EC are available from the ISHS and General Practice. EHC (LNG) is
available from 84 pharmacies in Leicestershire, 5 pharmacies in Rutland and
from some school nurse clinics.

·

In 2013, 173 women in Leicestershire and Rutland accessed EC from Sexual
Health Services, the 20-35 year age group were the highest users.17

·

In 2014-15 there were 2573 EHC consultations in LCR Pharmacies. The highest
uptake being in the Loughborough locality, reflective of the high student
population. The majority of users were in the 19-24 age group. The most
frequently stated reasons for accessing EHC were split condom (almost 50%)
and no contraception used (40%). The number of patients referred on to sexual
health services for further sexual health/contraceptive advice increased between
2013-14 and 2014-15.21

Psychosexual services
·

In Leicestershire there were 101 referrals for psychosexual services in 2014 and
83 from April to September in 2015. There have been no referrals for residents of
Rutland.

·

The Natsal-3 sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain survey (2010-12) indicated
51% of men and 42% of women surveyed experienced one of more sexual
difficulties lasting more than three months in the past year, including lack of
interest in having sex, feeling anxious during sex, pain during sex, vaginal
dryness and problems getting or keeping an erection.22

Teenage Pregnancy
·

In 2013, the under 18 conception rate per 1,000 female aged 15 to 17 years was
20.9 in Leicestershire and 9.2 in Rutland, while in England the rate was 24.3.
Between 1998 and 2013, Leicestershire achieved a 45.0% reduction in the under
18 conception rate and in Rutland a 45.6% reduction. Nationally the rate reduced
by 47.9% throughout this time.16

·

In 2013, of those females who conceived under the age of 18, the proportion of
those leading to abortion in Leicestershire was 56.1%, higher than the national
percentage of 51.1%. No data is available for Rutland due to small numbers.16

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

12

184

·

There are district variations in teenage pregnancy rates. The district level data in
Leicestershire and Rutland is open to fluctuations due to the small numbers
involved so three year aggregates have been used to smooth any instability.
Between 2011-2013, the highest rate in Leicestershire was seen in Hinckley and
Bosworth (24.8 per 1,000 population) and the lowest in Harborough (18.6 per
1,000 population). Three districts in Leicestershire saw an increase in their
conception rate between 2010-12 and 2011-13. Blaby increased from 21.0 per
1,000 15-17 aged females in 2010-12 to 23.2 per 1,000 in 2011-13, while
Harborough increased from 17.9 to 18.6 per 1,000 aged 15-17 females. All other
districts decreased their rate over this time period. In Rutland, the rate of under
18 conceptions has remained consistently lower compared to all Leicestershire
districts over time. Rutland saw an increase in their conception rate 11.7 per
1,000 15-17 aged females in 2010-12 to 12.3 per 1,000 in 2011-13.23

·

Five districts in Leicestershire have a higher percentage of abortions in under
18year olds than the national average, with only the percentage in Charnwood
and Melton being lower. Since 2008-10, Rutland has witnessed a year on year
decrease in the percentage leading to abortions from 50.0% in 2008-10 to 30.0%
in 2011-13.23

· In March 2015, over half (54%) of the teenage parents in Leicestershire were not
in education, employment or training.24

Abortion
·

Nationally an estimated one in six of pregnancies were unplanned, two in six
were ambivalent and three in six were planned. This gives an annual prevalence
estimate for unplanned pregnancy of 1.5%. Pregnancies in women aged 16–19
years were most commonly unplanned (45.2%) however, most greatest
proportion of unplanned pregnancies were in women aged 20–34 years
(62.4%).25

·

There were 1,439 abortions for Leicestershire residents and 55 for Rutland
residents in 2014.26

·

In 2014 the abortion rates for Leicestershire was 11.9 per 1,000 female
population and 9.5 per 1,000 female population for Rutland. Both are significantly
better than England average of 16.5 per 1,000 female.26

·

The highest abortion rate was for the 20-24 year population. Note this is different
to Leicester City where the highest abortion rate is in the 25-29year olds.26

·

In 2014, 20.9% of women in Leicestershire and 21.4% in Rutland had had a
previous abortion, while in England the proportion was higher at 27.0%. This
increases to 42.8% for Leicestershire and 37% for Rutland in the over 25 age
group, however this is aligned with the England proportion at 45.6%.26

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

13

185

·

In 2014 72.6% of Leicestershire women accessing abortion were under 10 weeks
gestation at time of procedure. This was an improvement from 2013 but is below
the England average of 80.4%. Rutland figure was 85.2%.26

·

In 2014 Leicestershire 16% of women accessed abortion procedure at 13 weeks
or more gestation. This was twice the England figure of 8%. Rutland was similar
to National average at 9%.26

·

In 2014, 53% of abortions in Leicestershire, approximately a third in Rutland and
approximately half in England were surgical procedures.26

·

There are two providers of abortion services commissioned for LLR population.
There is limited local availability of procedures over 12 weeks. Self-referral is not
available for both providers.

Implications for sexual health
·

Contraception is a cost effective intervention for the whole of society. LARC is
shown to be the most cost effective method available. Across LCR LARC
prescribing rates are above the national average for primary care, however
contribute to a lower proportion of total contraception use. Therefore additional
work is needed to maintain the level of GP provision and increase the proportion
of LARC procedures completed in the ISHS, in particular in the under 35year old
age group. This will include working with GPs to increase the proportion of LARC
fitters accredited via the national Letter of Competence and to undertake an audit
to gain a better understanding of how long LARC devices are being retained by
women.

·

It is important to maintain easy access to EC to allow women to access services
as soon as possible after they have had unprotected sex. There is good access
to EC across LCR provided by the ISHS, GP and local pharmacy. Consideration
should be given to new forms of EHC such as UPA (which has a longer effective
window) and ensuring women accessing EHC are referred in contraceptive
services to establish a longer term contraceptive regime (in particular LARC).

·

The Natsal-3 sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain survey (2010-12) indicated
51% of men and 42% of women surveyed experienced sexual difficulties lasting
more than three months in the past year.Error! Bookmark not defined. Hence
there is likely to be some unmet demand for psychosexual services across LCR.
With an aging population, this demand is likely to increase. Therefore
commissioners should consider increasing awareness of the existing service and
increasing the activity levels in the future. Discussions are also needed with the
local CCGs to identify services for patients with sex addiction.

·

The under 18year conception rate continues to fall across LCR. However there is

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

14

186

variation in rates across districts. The proportion of under 18 conceptions leading
to abortion is higher in Leicestershire than the England average. This suggests
that there are still significant numbers of young people who continue to take risks
and not use contraception despite not wanting to become pregnant. Therefore
continued easy access to relationships and sex education and community based
sexual health services is important to maintain and improve current progress.
Training around teenage pregnancy and related issues is important to ensure a
high quality children’s workforce who feel competent to discuss a range of issues
and support young people’s access of health services.
·

Over 50% of Leicestershire teenage parents are not currently accessing
education, employment or training. This will impact on their lifelong opportunities,
which will impact on the health and wellbeing of both themselves and their child.
Therefore a co-ordinated response to the support of young parents is important to
ensure a range of needs are addressed.

·

Leicestershire and Rutland both have lower abortion rates than the national
average. However a fifth of women had previously had an abortion and a greater
proportion of women are accessing services at a stage of later gestation, which
reduces their choice of procedure and increases risk of complications and
healthcare costs. There is also limited local availability for procedures over 12
weeks across LCR and self-referral is only available in one provider. Therefore
additional work is needed to increase access to local abortion services and
ensure that all abortion patients are supported to establish a long term
contraceptive plan to avoid repeat abortions.

8. Sexual Abuse
·

In 2013/14, there were 475 reported sexual offences in Leicestershire and 14 in
Rutland. In this year, the rate of sexual offences in Leicestershire was 0.72 per
1,000 population and in Rutland the rate was 0.38 per 1,000 population. Both
these rates are lower than the national rate of 1.01 per 1,000 population. Since
2011/12, the rate for sexual offences in Leicestershire has increased year on
year, while the rate for Rutland has decreased year on year.13

·

In Leicestershire domestic abuse is estimated to cost £66m a year in public
services and economic output cost, with an estimated at a further £113.8m for
emotional and personal costs.

·

Every year around 7,600 incidents of domestic abuse are reported to the police in
Leicestershire. In 2013/14 over 1,250 referrals were made to domestic abuse
specialist support services. Of these approximately 1,100 children were in
families that received support from domestic abuse services and over 300 in
families referred to a Multi-Agency Risk Assessment Conference define in
2013/14.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

15

187

·

Natsal-3 found that 1 in 10 women and 1 in 71 men said they had experienced
non-volitional sex since age 13 (median age for males was 16 and for females
was 18). People with poorer physical, mental and sexual health, including
treatment for depression or another mental health condition in the past year, a
long-term illness or disability, and a lower sexual function score were more likely
to report non-volitional sex.27

·

In 2014, the estimated numbers of people the adult population aged 18-64 who
report having been sexually abused during their childhood was 32,080 females
and 13,972 males in Leicestershire and 735 females and 1,600 males in Rutland.
These numbers are estimated to remain stable in Leicestershire and decrease
slightly in Rutland over the next fifteen years.28

·

Over the past three years referrals to the LLR Child Sexual Exploitation (CSE)
team have increased from 54 in 2012/13 to 165 in 2014/15. Prevention,
identification and support for victims of CSE remains a key priority for sexual
health services.

Implications for sexual health services
·

Domestic abuse is a widespread issue and can take place in a range of
relationships. There is a lack of understanding around what constitutes domestic
abuse. The national coverage on historic abuse and current approaches to raise
awareness about CSE are likely to lead to lead to increases in the number of
victims coming forward and seeking help. It is therefore important that staff who
work in sexual health services are aware of the prevalence of domestic abuse
and CSE and are equipped to ask appropriate questions when seeing patients to
allow disclosures to be made and appropriate referral onto specialist services.

9. Engagement
·

As part of this SHNA a range of stakeholders and service users have been
consulted. This includes 2 sexual health stakeholder events consulting over 100
stakeholders and 7 focus groups consulting with 94 people from May to
September 2015. Specific LCR groups that were engaged included the
Leicestershire Young Parent Forum, Coalville Young Parents Group, Families at
Boulter Crescent in Wigston, the Angels and Monsters Group in Braunstone
Town, New Futures Project, Trade Sexual Health Project, Oakham Youth Group,
and Learning Difficulties and Disabilities (LDD) Partnership Group . Additional
feedback was also provided from local services including the POP text.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

16

188

·

LLR historical research findings on HIV prevention services, Relationships and
Education, young people’s knowledge, attitudes and experience of sexual health
and access to LARC and have also been summarised.

·

National data and local engagement work highlighted the critical exploration of
relationships in both Relationships and Sex Education (RSE) and in the delivery
sexual health services.

·

There continues to be a lot of confusion over how contraceptive methods work
and myths about their reliability and use.

·

Services need to take account of the role the media plays in influencing decisions
about sex and relationships and make attempts to counter negative or unhelpful
overt messages with positive ones e.g. promotion of consent, how to access
confidential services and what a healthy relationship looks like.

·

Service users value the importance of having local, community based sexual
health provision.

·

Service providers and users both highlighted gaps in information about the sexual
health services that are available, how they can be accessed and how complaints
can be raised.

·

Additional messages from local stakeholders and professional included the need
to clarify the sexual prioritises and commissioning responsibilities across the
system to develop a truly integrated LLR sexual health system. Particular
feedback was gained on the need to provide equitable and timely access to
services, develop the wider sexual health workforce (including primary care) and
develop seamless pathways across organisations and services.

Implications for sexual health
·

National data and local engagement work highlighted the critical exploration of
relationships in both RSE and in the delivery sexual health services. With the
impact of social media, evolving sexual practices and a reducing age of first sex,
promotion of consensual, informed and respectful relationships is important to
balance against other messages.

·

Services need to take account of the role the media plays in influencing decisions
about sex and relationships and make attempts to counter negative or unhelpful
overt messages with positive ones e.g. promotion of consent, how to access
confidential services and what a healthy relationship looks like.

·

Service users value the importance of having local, community based sexual
health provision. Service providers and users both highlighted gaps in information
about the sexual health services that are available, how they can be accessed

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

17

189

and how complaints can be raised. Clear and consistent information is required to
ensure practitioners and service users know which services they can access and
how they do this.
·

Despite there being a wider choice of contraception available, there continues to
be a lot of confusion over how contraceptive methods work and myths about their
reliability and use. Messages about relationships and sex (in school and beyond)
need to include clear and concise information about contraceptive methods. In
order to promote the LARC methods it is important that the benefits and
implications of these methods are understood and communicated to the women
who choice to use them.

·

From the perspective of Sexual Health Service Providers, key priorities to
address are clarifying the priorities for sexual health delivery, commissioner and
provider roles and responsibilities, integrating sexual health services across the
system and further development of the wider sexual health workforce (including
primary care and school nursing). Areas which both providers and service users
highlighted including wanting more equitable and timely provision across LLR,
wanting easier access in to services, seamless patient pathways, prioritising
education on relationships and sex and ensuring clear information about local
services.

10. Conclusion
Overall Leicestershire and Rutland (LCR) is meeting the majority of the sexual health
needs of their local populations. This is evidenced by continuing lower rates for all
STIs (including HIV), under 18 conceptions and sexual abuse than the England
average. (Summarised in Appendix 1 and 2.) Nevertheless absolute numbers of
some STIs (including gonorrhoea) and patient led demand is increasing across LCR.
This is consistent with the national picture, where more people are accessing
specialist sexual health services. However locally this is also likely to be linked to the
improved access created by the new integrated sexual health service and
community based contracts, which have increased numbers and proportions of
residents accessing local services across LCR. STI screening and contraception
uptake are part of a prevention approach to enable people to maintain good sexual
health. Further work is on-going to establish high quality relationships and sex
education across all secondary schools; this supports young people to develop
positive, healthy relationships.
Each section above (demography, high risk groups, STIs, HIV, sexual reproductive
health, sexual violence and engagement) provides specific implications for sexual
health services following the review of evidence of need. When triangulating these
sections together key areas for improvement across LCR include bringing together
the sexual health commissioning system, prioritising prevention and access to
vulnerable groups (including young people, men who have sex followed by sex
Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

18

190

workers, black African communities and people with physical disabilities) and
developing the sexual health workforce (including non-specialist provision such as
primary care, school nursing and substance misuse). The recommendations from
this triangulation are set out below. These will be translated into a sexual health
strategy for Leicestershire and Rutland and reported to local authority departmental
management teams, Health and Wellbeing Boards, health scrutiny, Cabinet and
other appropriate meetings for approval and implementation.
Key strengths of the needs assessment include the breadth and depth of validated
quantitative national data sources that deliver reliable accurate data on service
utilisation. This is a good reflection of need for conception and STIs that have
symptoms, however is less effective for symptomless or latent STIs such as
chlamydia and HIV. Although recent media interest may increase presentation, there
is also likely to be underreporting for psychosexual issues and sexual abuse
including FGM and CSE. High quality information on specific vulnerable groups (e.g.
sex workers, MSM, FGM etc.) was difficult to ascertain. Due to small numbers in
many indicators (especially for Rutland) numbers can fluctuate widely across years,
making trends more difficult to interpret. There were also different time lags in data
sources which must be considered when comparing sections. Qualitative feedback
with nearly 200 people was also completed as part of the needs assessment to add
additional local detail and identify themes from the results, however fully validated
thematic analysis using NVivo was not completed. The consultation with
representatives from services was undertaken at a time of year that made it difficult
for certain sectors to be involved e.g. teachers and representatives from education
and the service user consultation was quite targeted being mainly with individuals
under 25. Wider consultation with the general population would provide a broader
perspective of views and this will be completed as part of the consultation on the
needs assessment and strategy. Results from the needs assessment may be similar
to that seen in other affluent counties across England, however is less generalisable
to more urban cities.
The LCR sexual health needs assessment provides commissioners with a clear
evidence base on sexual health need, supply and demand. With increasing and
aging populations, changing sexual health needs across LCR and increasing
pressure on public sector budgets. It is therefore necessary to evolve innovative
integrated service models to meet this demand within constrained budgets across
the local health and social care system.

11. Recommendations
The following section summarises the key recommendations for sexual health
commissioners and service providers across LCR;

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

19

191

11.1 Sexual Health Commissioners
1. Development of a sexual health strategy for Leicestershire and Rutland.
Ensure that this engages and integrates the whole sexual health system, has
clearly defined priorities, roles and responsibilities and considers sexual health
across the life course.
2. Explore co-commissioning opportunities to integrate sexual health patient
pathways across commissioning organisations. For example, with CCGs for
primary care, menorrhagia, sex addiction, abortion services and NHS England for
HIV services (including the implications of the PROUD study). Also consider how
sexual health services can be further integrated into other local authority services
such as substance misuse, school nursing, health visiting and social services (for
HIV positive patients).
3. Monitor demand for psychosexual services and potentially increase provision
as awareness and need increases with an aging population.
4. Identify service provision to support people with sex addiction. Work with
CCG mental health commissioners to consider appropriate access to treatment
for sex addiction across LCR.
5. Development of an LLR sexual health marketing and communications
strategy to promote consistent brands and messages about healthy
relationships, reducing stigma and how to access services. Additional service
promotion is needed to target groups and areas at higher risk of poor sexual
health including young people, MSM, sex workers, black African communities
and Charnwood, Oadby and Wigston. The implications of late HIV diagnosis
should be raised with the heterosexual population.
6. Assess the cost effectiveness of UPA emergency hormonal contraception
by completing a cost benefit analysis of increasing access to UPA locally. This
should then inform future emergency contraception provision across LCR.
7. Undertake an audit of LARC retention rates in primary care and ISHS to
ascertain how well informed women are of the implications of these methods and
how long women are retaining them for. This should focus particularly on younger
women aged 15-34years.
8. Consider locality priorities to address the differing trends in teenage
pregnancy across the 7 Districts in Leicestershire and in Rutland.
9. Additional work is needed with the police to understand the causes of the
increases in sexual offences in Leicestershire and interventions to help reduce
these offences.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

20

192

11.2 Sexual health services
10. Equality impact assessment should be completed in all sexual health
services to ensure the services are meeting the needs of whole population
including those with protected characteristics as determined in the 2010 Equality
Act. Particular attentions should be placed on sexual orientation, BME (including
Asian populations that have under representative STI diagnosis), English not as a
first language and people with learning and physical disabilities.
11. Investigate the current barriers to accessing sexual health services from
General Practice, in particular by young people, LGBT and Sex Workers.
12. Increase chlamydia screening as part of the core ISHS (i.e. GUM and CSHS)
due to high positivity rates and prioritise opportunistic screening to sources of
highest positivity such as preventex postal kits.
13. Explore more innovative models of ISHS service delivery to improve access
particularly in more rural areas including Melton and Rutland .e.g.
implementing virtual clinics, online testing etc. Priority should be given to
increasing access to sexual health screening to men across Leicestershire and
women and those aged 20-24years in Rutland.
14. Improvements are needed to the appointment booking system for ISHS. The
service should continue to offer both appointments and drop-in appointment
options.
15. Develop effective and efficient pathways between sexual health services
and domestic abuse, substance misuse and mental health services to
address the root causes of the risk taking behaviour.
16. Ensure sex workers and men who pay for sex have access to condoms and
regular STI screening to reduce bridging of STIs into the wider population.
17. Increase access to community and home based HIV testing for specific
groups at higher risk of HIV (MSM, sex workers, young people, African
heritage.) This includes developing robust protocols and pathways for local HIV
testing to ensure rapid access to support and treatment for people with reactive
test results. Attention should also be given to increasing HIV testing within ISHS
for men in Rutland.
18. Health and social care providers should consider future needs of HIV
positive population. This includes implications of an ageing HIV population and
assurance for patients that confidentiality is maintained as the group of care
providers extends beyond specialist HIV care providers.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

21

193

19. Maintain good access to emergency contraception, particularly for young
people and Asian women. Improve pathways between emergency contraception
providers and other sexual health services to ensure longer term sexual health
needs are met.
20. Improve information and access to range of contraception methods to
young women aged 15- 25years, including LARC. This includes reviewing the
current model of LARC delivery in primary care to reduce the proportion of
women using user defined methods through GPs and ensuring community
provision is available for young people.
21. Increase access to abortion services by developing a single point of access
for LLR (including self-referral) to improve the proportion of women accessing
services under 10 weeks gestation. Consideration is also needed to improve local
access to abortion services over 12 weeks gestation.
22. Review of the specialist teenage pregnancy and community midwifery
service pathways to identify opportunities for further integration with sexual
health services and to determine the extent to which they are meeting current
need.
23. Review the support needs of teenage parents and mothers in particular
those aged 19-21 to ensure that they can positively progress into education,
employment and training at a point that is timely for them and their families.
24. All sexual health services should support the LLR CSE strategy.
Consultation with the CSE Team and if possible, victims of CSE needs to explore
to what extent the current SHS offer meets the needs of this vulnerable cohort

11.3 Training
25. Complete a sexual health training assessment to develop a workforce plan
to improve all levels of sexual health competencies across LCR. LARC provision
and primary care is a key priority for this plan.
26. Ensure high quality RSE training/ provision is delivered across LCR to
ensure young people can make informed choices about their sexual health.
Materials should give greater emphasis on healthy relationships, consent,
domestic abuse, how to seek help, all contraceptive methods and the links
between alcohol and risk taking sexual behaviour.
27. CSE and domestic abuse training should be accessed by key staff from all
sexual health providers to ensure that practitioners can identify and understand
local support pathways available.

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

22

194

Appendix 1 Summary of sexual health indicators across Leicestershire (Data
as of October 2015)

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

23

195

Appendix 2 Summary of sexual health indicators across Rutland (Data as of
October 2015)

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

24

196

References
1.

WHO. Defining sexual health. Report of a technical consultation on sexual
health, 28-31 January 2002. (2002). at
<http://www.who.int/reproductivehealth/publications/sexual_health/defining_se
xual_health.pdf>

2.

Department of Health. A Framework for Sexual Health Improvement in
England. 1–56 (2013).

3.

Public Health England. Making It Work – A guide to whole system
commissioning for sexual health, reproductive health and HIV. (2014). at
<https://www.gov.uk/government/uploads/system/uploads/attachment_data/file
/408357/Making_it_work_revised_March_2015.pdf>

4.

Population Projections Unit; Office for National Statistics. 2012-based
Subnational Population Projections for Local Authorities in England. (2014). at
<http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/snpp/sub-national-population-projections/2012based-projections/index.html>

5.

Office of National Statistics. Census 2011 - Nomis. Crown Copyright (2013). at
<http://www.nomisweb.co.uk/census/2011>

6.

Office of National Statistics. Integrated Household Survey, January to
December 2013. (2014). at <http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/integratedhousehold-survey/integrated-household-survey/january-to-december2013/index.html>

7.

Deprtment of Communities and Local Government. English indices of
deprivation 2015. (2015). at <https://www.gov.uk/government/statistics/englishindices-of-deprivation-2015>

8.

Public Health England. HIV and STI Web Portal. (2015).

9.

Health and Social Care Information Centre. Quality and Outcomes (QoF) Data.
(2014).

10.

Public Health England. Community Mental Health Profiles. (2014). at
<http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile-group/mental-health/profile/cmhp>

11.

Hendershot, G; Kurki, A; Tepper, M. Sexual behavior among persons with
disabilities: New data from the National Survey of Family Growth Abstract
#105309. (2005). at <http://onlinelibrary.wiley.com/doi/10.1111/jsm.12810/pdf>

12.

Office on Disability (US). Sexually transmitted diseases and disability. (2010).

13.

Public Health England. Public Health Outcomes Framework. (2014). at
<http://www.phoutcomes.info/>

14.

DFES. Teenage Pregnancy Next Steps. (2006).

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

25

197

15.

Public Health England. Number and rates of acute STI diagnoses. (2014).

16.

Public Health England. Sexual Health and Reproductive Profiles Data Tool.
(2015). at <http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/sexualhealth>

17.

Public Health England. Local Authority sexual health epidemiology report
(LASER):. (2013).

18.

Leicestershire County Council Public Health Team. Integrated Sexual Health
Service Activity Counts 2014. (2014).

19.

Office of National Statistics (C) Crown Copyright. ONS Mid-2013 Population
Estimates. (2014). at <www.statistics.gov.uk>

20.

Public Health England. The Survey of Prevalent HIV Infections Diagnosed
(SOPHID). (2014).

21.

Leicestershire County Council Public Health Business Team. Leicestershire
and Rutland Emergency Hormonal Contraception Performance Data. (2015).

22.

Johnson, A. National Survey of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles, 2010-2012.
(2015). at <http://datacompass.lshtm.ac.uk/66/,
http://dx.doi.org/10.5255/UKDA-SN-7799-1>

23.

ONS. Conceptions in England and Wales, 2013. (2013). at
<http://www.ons.gov.uk/ons/rel/vsob1/conception-statistics--england-andwales/2013/stb-conceptions-in-england-and-wales-2013.html>

24.

Prospects. Counts of Teenage Parents in Leicestershire. (2015).

25.

Mercer, C. H. et al. Changes in sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain through
the life course and over time: Findings from the National Surveys of Sexual
Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal). Lancet 382, 1781–1794 (2013).

26.

Department of Health. Abortion statistics, England and Wales: 2014. (2015). at
<https://www.gov.uk/government/statistical-data-sets/abortion-statisticsengland-and-wales-2014>

27.

Natsal-3. Sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain: Highlights from Natsal-3.
(2013). at <http://www.natsal.ac.uk/media/2102/natsal-infographic.pdf>

28.

Institute of Public Care. Projecting Adult Needs and Service Information.
(2014). at <http://www.pansi.org.uk/>

Sexual Health Needs Assessment October 2015 – Executive Summery

26

198

This page is intentionally left blank

199

APPENDIX B

Leicestershire Sexual Health Strategy
2016-2019

1

200

Introduction
The sexual health needs of the population are evolving. Over the past few decades there have been
significant changes in relationships, and how people live their lives including personal attitudes and
beliefs, social norms, peer pressure, confidence and self-esteem, misuse of drugs and alcohol,
coercion and abuse.
Although sexual relationships are essentially private matters, good sexual health is important to
individuals and to society. WHO, 2002 defines sexual health as;
‘… a state of physical, emotional, mental and social well-being in relation to sexuality.’(Page 5,
WHO, 2002)i
Sexual ill health can affect all parts of society – often when it is least expected. Investment in sexual
health not only improves the overall health of the population, it is also cost effective. The
consequences of poor sexual health cost the NHS an estimated £193m in unintended pregnancies in
2010 and approximately £630m in HIV treatment and care in 2012/13. Evidence also suggests
thatii,iii;
•

For every one pound invested in contraception saves £11.09 in averted negative outcomes

•

An increase in long acting reversible contraception (LARC) usage could save £102 million and

•

Increasing HIV testing among Men who have sex with Men (MSM) and black Africans in
England would prevent 3,500 cases of HIV transmission within five years and save £18million
in treatment costs per year.

In terms of improving sexual health outcomes, we have made good progress across Leicestershire.
We have been one of the first areas in the county to have a fully integrated sexual health service,
which addresses both the sexual health and reproductive needs of patients in one visit and we
perform well against many of the key sexual health indicators. However Leicestershire has an ageing
and increasing populations and it is important that we consider the changing sexual health needs
across the life course.
There have also been unprecedented changes to the sexual health system since the implementation
of the Health and Social Care Act 2012. This has created fragmentation across the sexual health
system with three main commissioners (local authorities, Clinical Commissioning Groups (CCGs) and
NHS England.) National guidance suggests the need to take a patient-centred, systematic approach
to sexual health commissioning around patient pathways. With key commissioners facing financial
pressures, there is a need to develop strong collaborative approaches across commissioning
organisations to ‘pull the system back together’ and ensure seamless, high quality, evidence based
services are available to the local population. This strategy takes stock of progress made so far and
provides key strategic priorities for the next three years to further improve sexual health services
across Leicestershire and Rutland.
Ernie White CC, Lead Member for Health
2

201

Current sexual health progress across Leicestershire and Rutland
As discussed there have been significant changes to the public health commissioning arrangements
since the implementation of the Health and Social Care Act, including sexual health services. Local
authorities have a statutory responsibility to provide open access sexual health services, which is a
substantial proportion of the public health grant. With significant cost pressures to the public health
grant in 2015/16 and predicted financial challenges over the next few years, it is important to the
ensure the highest quality, evidence based services are commissioned to respond to the needs of
the local population. To inform this work a Leicestershire and Rutland Sexual Health Needs
Assessment was completed in autumn 2015. The key headlines from this needs assessment are;
Demography of Leicestershire and Rutland
Evidence shows that sexual health needs are greatest in young adults and often reduce with age.
Leicestershire has an aging populations, meaning there may be less need for contraception than the
England average. However there have been significant increases in numbers of over 45’s presenting
with STIs across Leicestershire and Rutland (59% increase between 2010-2014). With the advances
in treatment, HIV has become more of a long term condition with many people living with HIV into
older age. Those living in the most deprived areas of Leicestershire experience the poorest health
(including sexual health) outcomes and are at greater risk of teenage pregnancy.
Groups at high risk of poor sexual health
Young people, men who have sex with men (MSM), black African heritage are amongst groups that
are more likely to participate in risk taking sexual behaviour and consequently have poorer sexual
health outcomes than the general population across Leicestershire . Each group has diverse
requirements and therefore sexual health services need to review how they are meeting the needs
of these populations. Pathways between services that address risk taking behaviours (sexual health,
mental health and substance misuse) should also be further developed across service providers to
address the root cause of risk taking behaviours.
Sexually Transmitted Infections (STIs)
Overall LCR experiences lower than rates of STI diagnosis than the England average. Chlamydia is the
most common STI across Leicestershire, followed by genital warts. Although lower than the national
rates, there has been year on year increases in gonorrhoea and genital herpes across Leicestershire.
This may be due to increased access to STI testing or increases in STI prevalence across the counties.
Certain districts have been identified as areas having higher rates of STI re-infection within 12
months. Therefore an additional priority of STI prevention and contract tracing may be beneficial in
these districts, in particular with men. Young people aged 15-24 years, MSM and black Caribbean
ethnic groups have been shown to have higher rates of new STIs across Leicestershire, which is
aligned with the national picture. Increases have been seen in the proportion of STIs diagnosed in
MSM across LCR. Leicestershire dos not perform well against the national average for Chlamydia
screening in 15-24 year olds. However comparator local authorities perform similarly, which may
indicate that the overall prevalence of chlamydia is lower than the national average. Chlamydia
screening is a useful tool in normalising STI screening with young adults; therefore opportunistic
screening should be increased in core sexual health services.
3

202

Increases in GUM attendance by Leicestershire and Rutland residents has been seen locally and
overall (including out of area contacts). This may reflect increased access due to the new LLR
integrated sexual health service (ISHS), increased awareness of STI screening, but also reflects the
increased STI need across Leicestershire. Rural access is a particular difficulty for areas of LCR. The
new ISHS has reduced out of area GUM access by 1% in Leicestershire and 10% in Rutland between
2013 and 2014. Increasing accessibility to local services and providing alternative local sexual health
service provision such as general practice and pharmacy may continue to reduce use of out of area
services.
Human Immunodeficiency Virus (HIV)
There are significantly lower HIV diagnosis rates across Leicestershire as compared to the national
rate. However HIV prevalence overall is increasing locally and nationally as treatment has improved
to make HIV a long term condition. There are implications for health and social care providers as the
HIV positive group increases in number and becomes an aging population with changing health
needs. Early HIV diagnosis is important to improve health outcomes for the individual, reduce the
risk of onward transmission and lower treatment and care costs. Leicestershire and Rutland both
have higher late HIV diagnosis rates than the England average therefore increasing access to HIV
testing to at risk groups maintain a priority.
Sexual Reproductive Health
Contraception is a cost effective intervention for the whole of society. Long acting reversible
contraception (LARC such as coils, implants) is shown to be the most cost effective method available.
Across Leicestershire and Rutland LARC prescribing rates are above the national average for primary
care, however user dependent methods (such as the combined pill, condoms) remain most widely
used. Therefore additional work is needed to maintain high levels of LARC uptake and retention.
There is good access to emergency contraception across LCR provided by the ISHS, GP and local
pharmacy. Consideration should be given to new forms of emergency hormone contraception (EHC
or the morning after pill) such as ulipristal acetate (which has a longer effective window) and
ensuring women accessing EHC are referred in contraceptive services to establish a longer term
contraceptive regime.
The Natsal-3 sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain survey (2010-12) indicated 51% of men and
42% of women surveyed experienced sexual difficulties lasting more than three months in the past
yeariv. Hence there is likely to be some unmet demand for psychosexual services across
Leicestershire. With an aging population, this demand is likely to increase. Discussions are also
needed with the local CCGs to identify services for patients with sex addiction.
The under 18year conception rate continues to fall across Leicestershire, however there is variation
in rates across districts. The proportion of under 18 conceptions leading to abortion is higher in
Leicestershire than the England average. This suggests that there are still significant numbers of
young people who continue to take risks and not use contraception despite not wanting to become
pregnant. Therefore continued easy access to relationships and sex education and community based
sexual health services is important to maintain and improve current progress. Over 50% of
Leicestershire teenage parents are not currently accessing education, employment or training. A co4

203

ordinated response to the support of young parents is important to ensure a range of needs are
addressed.
Leicestershire and Rutland both have lower abortion rates than the national average. However a
fifth of women had previously had an abortion and a in Leicestershire a greater proportion of
women are accessing services at a stage of later gestation than the national average, which reduces
their choice of procedure and increases risk of complications and healthcare costs. There is also
limited local availability for procedures over 12 weeks across LCR and self-referral is only available in
one provider. Work is needed to increase access to local abortion services and ensure that all
abortion patients are supported to establish a long term contraceptive plan to avoid repeat
abortions.
Sexual Abuse
Domestic abuse is a widespread issue and can take place in a range of relationships. There is a lack of
understanding around what constitutes domestic abuse and signs of CSE. It is important that staff
who work in sexual health services are equipped to ask appropriate questions when seeing patients
to allow disclosures to be made and appropriate referral onto specialist services.
Engagement
National data and local engagement work highlighted the critical exploration of relationships in both
RSE and in the delivery sexual health services. With the impact of social media, evolving sexual
practices and a reducing age of first sex, promotion of consensual, informed and respectful
relationships is important to balance against other messages. Service users value the importance of
having local, community based sexual health provision. Service providers and users both highlighted
gaps in information about the sexual health services that are available, how they can be accessed
and how complaints can be raised. From the perspective of sexual health service providers,
identified key priorities to address areas clarifying the strategy priorities for sexual health delivery
across LLR, commissioner and provider roles and responsibilities, integrating sexual health services
across the system and further development of the wider sexual health workforce (including primary
care and school nursing). Areas which both providers and service users highlighted including wanting
more equitable and timely provision across LLR, wanting easier access in to services, seamless
patient pathways, prioritising education on relationships and sex and ensuring clear information
about local services.
The results and recommendations for the needs assessment have provided a clear evidence base
and rational for the strategic priorities and mission described below.

Our Mission: Empowering the population of Leicestershire to make informed,
positive choices about their relationships and sexual health.
Mike Sandys, Director of Public Health
Read more

5

204

For additional information on the sexual health needs across Leicestershire and Rutland please see
the full needs assessment at XXX.
For further information on the overall needs of Leicestershire please see the respective Joint
Strategic Needs Assessments at XXX.

6

205

Cross cutting themes
The overall aim of this strategy is to empower the Leicestershire population to have informed,
positive relationships that result in reduced rates of unwanted pregnancy and sexually transmitted
infections (STIs) including HIV. To achieve this vision there are a number of cross cutting themes that
arose from the sexual health needs assessment. These themes should be considered across all
strategic priorities and include;
•

Empowerment- We want the local population to be well informed and empowered to make
individual choices around their sexual health. This may range for information on relationships,
contraception, STIs, HIV and consent to accessing local services.

•

Patient centred, integrated pathways- Sexual health pathways must be centred on the patient
and not organisational or commissioning boundaries. This creates opportunities for more
integrated, joint working across the sexual health system.

•

Equitable –Services need to available to all, but proportionate to need. The Marmot Reviewv
states that to truly reduce health inequalities ‘actions must be universal, but with a scale and
intensity that is proportionate to the level of disadvantage.’ This approach is needed to sexual
health services to ensure they are available to the whole population but equitable to those of
greatest need. This may include targeting the most deprived wards across Leicestershire and
Rutland, but also targeting groups at highest risk of poor sexual health such as young people,
men who have sex with men, sex workers and black African communities.

•

Prevention focused- Prevention is better than cure and the evidence suggests that preventative
approaches to sexual health are clinically and cost effective ii,iii. In times of financial pressures, a
focus of prevention is needed to manage demand for services that treat unplanned pregnancies
and STIs in the future.

•

Life course approach- Leicestershire has an increasing but aging populations. Although evidence
shows that sexual health needs are greatest in young adults and often reduce with age, there
have been significant increases in numbers of over 45’s presenting with STIs locally. Other
considerations include the advances in anti-retroviral medication that has significantly increased
the life expectancy and overall numbers of people living with HIV. This has translated HIV into a
long term condition, bringing with it the need to consider the increasing demands of HIV
treatment and social care services.

•

Evidence based- The sexual health needs assessment will be the key resource to ensure services
are commissioned to meet the local sexual health needs. All sexual health services must be
commissioned using the latest national evidence and standards including National Institute for
Health and Care Excellence (NICE), British HIV Association (BHIVA) and British Association for
Sexual Health & HIV (BASHH). This will be supplemented with local evaluations to allow more
innovative approaches to be piloted across Leicestershire.

7

206

Our strategic approach
Across Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland we want to deliver the highest quality, efficient sexual
health system across the East Midlands/ England. This includes developing innovative ways to
increase universal access to sexual health services across urban and rural locations, targeting groups
at risk of poor sexual health (i.e. young people, men who have sex with men, sex workers, and black
African communities.) To achieve this there are eight key themes to the strategy (Figure 1). These
will be described in further detail below using the following structure;
•

Where are we now?

•

What do we want to achieve?

•

How will we get there?

Figure 1 Summary of the key sexual health priorities across Leicestershire and Rutland

1. Coordinated approach
partnership work

to

sexual

health

commissioning

and

Where are we now?
Due to the implications of the health and social care act sexual health commissioning has become
fragmented across local authority, clinical commissioning groups and NHS England. This has made
navigating patient pathways more complex and created gaps in some services. Further work is
needed to integrate sexual health commissioning intentions across all sexual health commissioners
to ensure the sexual health system is responding to the needs of the local population.

8

207

What do we want to achieve?
•

Joined up sexual health commissioning including joint procurements and co-commissioning
of services across organisational boundaries

•

Seamless sexual health patient pathways including services supporting victims of sexual
violence.

How will we get there?
•

An agreed, endorsed Leicestershire and Rutland strategic approach to commissioning and
delivery of sexual health services over the next 3 years. This will be aligned with Leicester
City.

•

Establish a biannual Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland sexual health commissioners
meeting to review progress on the sexual health strategic approach, share sexual health
commissioning intentions and discuss the implications of these on the wider system.

•

Explore co-commissioning opportunities for heavy menstrual bleeding (menorrhagia), sex
addiction and cervical cytology services. Review the future possibilities of a centralised
booking for abortion services, local abortion services for over 12weeks gestation and
integrating HIV services into the integrated sexual health service.

2. Develop a highly skilled local workforce
Where are we now?
Across LLR we have a highly skilled sexual health workforce ranging across all levels of sexual health
prevention (Figure 2), from those working in the specialist integrated sexual health service, to
primary care to those working in less traditional setting such as education, youth services etc.
However sexual health services locally are struggling to recruit individuals with the correct
integrated sexual health skills and increasing numbers of patients are unnecessarily being referred to
the specialist service. There is also a need to develop the non-core sexual health workforce to
effectively embed sexual health services into children’s, substance misuse, mental health etc
services.

9

208

Figure 2: Tiers of sexual health workforce training.

What do we want to achieve?
•

A highly skilled, sustainable sexual health workforce across all levels of sexual health service.

•

Personal development opportunities to make sexual health across LLR an attractive place to
work.

•

Key sexual health messages, referral and signposting integrated into other non-core services.

How will we get there?
•

Complete a LLR sexual health training assessment.

•

Develop a tiered approach to sexual health training across LLR in collaboration with Health
Education East Midlands. Prioritises for action include upskilling primary care, safeguarding
and sexual violence.

•

Review the current delivery model for young people’s sexual health services across
Leicestershire and Rutland. This includes increasing young people’s access to the main
integrated sexual health service and embedding a consistent condom distribution approach
across LLR.
10

209

•

Integrate sexual health services more effectively into non-core services e.g. substance
misuse, school nursing, health visiting and midwifery.

3. Strengthen the role of primary care
Where are we now?
General practice is the largest provider and most frequently chosen first point of contact for those
with sexual health concerns and contraceptive needs ii. In Leicestershire we have higher than
national rates of long acting reversible contraception (LARC) prescribing in general practice,
suggesting patients like the convenience of accessing their local GP for sexual and reproductive
health services. However LARC rates are lower than the national average in under 35year olds and
user dependant methods are still the most popular form of contraception overall. With the
integrated sexual health service seeing significant increases in demand for contraceptive
appointments, we need to increase the capacity and expertise of primary care to deliver sexual
health services across Leicestershire and Rutland.
What do we want to achieve?
•

To increase access to sexual health services in primary care across Leicestershire and
Rutland.

•

Highly skilled primary care workforce with an expertise in sexual health.

•

Revised case-mix at the integrated sexual health services to ensure increased access to the
specialist service for complex contraception and STI treatment.

How will we get there?
•

See sexual health training priority. A specific focus will be placed on upskilling the primary
care workforce on sexual health.

•

Review the current delivery model for long acting reversible contraception in primary care.
For example, explore a federation/ locality commissioning approach and utilising the Faculty
of Sexual Reproductive Health letters of competence.

•

Review options to increase delivery of less complex sexual health services through primary
care. Promote the use of primary care to patients accessing the integrated sexual health
service. For example encouraging repeat oral contraceptive pill consultations to take place in
local general practices to release capacity within the integrated sexual health service for
more complex needs.

•

Undertake cost benefit analysis of increasing access to ulipristal acetate emergency
hormonal contraception via pharmacy schemes locally.

4. Coordinated, consistent sexual health communications
Where are we now?
11

210

There are a number of sexual health providers and commissioners currently delivering a range of
communication materials to the local population about accessing sexual health services,
relationships, contraception, STI and HIV testing and treatment. However there is currently little
alignment across these communications which can be confusing to the local population and reduce
the effectiveness of the campaign.
What do we want to achieve?
•

Shared vision about communications.

•

Clear, consistent sexual health communication messages across LLR.

•

Easily identifiable, coordinated LLR communications approach that utilises local insight and
service identities, whilst providing greater opportunities to link into national campaigns.

•

Communication approach embedded into relationships and sex education training and
delivery.

How will we get there?
•

Review the LLR sexual health communication group ownership, attendance and terms of
reference to coordinate and review LLR sexual health communications approach.

•

Review the membership and ownership of the LLR sexual health communication group.
Develop terms of reference for this group to clarify their role in developing a strategic and
coordinated approach for all LLR sexual health communications.

•

Utilise sexual health contracts to ensure consistent, effective LLR sexual health
communications.

5. Support schools to deliver high quality relationships and sex
education (RSE)
Where are we now?
Across Leicestershire and Rutland all schools are offered training on a locally developed relationships
and sex education (RSE) toolkit. Training equips teachers to confidently deliver RSE lessons covering
relationships, consent and the law, contraception and STIs etc. Further work is needed to embed this
more sustainably into the wider personal, social, health and economic education curriculum, the
Healthy Schools programme, and further education colleges as well as wider youth settings and
other children’s services.
What do we want to achieve?
•

Empower young people to make positive choices about their relationships and sexual health.

•

Along term, sustainable model to delivering high quality RSE in all schools and young
people’s settings.
12

211

How will we get there?
•

Review the current offers of RSE training and support across Leicestershire and Rutland
including strengthening links into wider personal, social, health and economic education and
Healthy Schools (Leicestershire only) programme.

•

Develop and implement a coordinated RSE training and support offer which meets the needs
of schools, further education colleges and other young people’s settings. This includes
bringing RSE training together across Leicestershire and Rutland.

•

Develop a process to audit the quality and consistency of RSE delivery across schools and
colleges.

•

Utilise the Leicestershire and Rutland RSE group to drive these improvements.

•

Review the current support offer for young parents and opportunities to increase the
numbers of young mothers in education, employment and training. Explore how support for
young parents can be embedded within the wider children and young people’s workforce
(including Supporting Leicestershire’s Families and the children’s centre programme).

6. Utilise new technologies to support sexual health delivery
Where are we now?
Across LLR we already use a range of technologies to increase access to sexual health testing,
including online chlamydia screening, test not talk at the integrated sexual health service, and use of
social media to target information to priority groups such as Men who have sex with men. However
there are further opportunities to increase access to services, especially to rural populations and
improve efficiency savings by utilising additional technologies including marketing of services, online
STI testing, virtual clinics and contact tracing.
What do we want to achieve?
•

Increase access to sexual health services and appointment booking.

•

Improved access to STI and HIV testing.

•

Innovative approaches to delivering the most cost effective sexual health service including
contact tracing, text, online, telephone and virtual consultations.

•

Increased online presence for sexual health communications.

•

Embed the latest evidence based, clinically and cost effective sexual health interventions
into local service provision.

How will we get there?

13

212

•

Establish full asymptomatic online STI testing using online risk assessments and postal
screening kits. This includes decommissioning opportunistic chlamydia screening and
converting the remaining chlamydia screening programme into a more widely accessible
online full STI screening service.

•

Implementation of the community and home HIV testing kits, including participating into the
national HIV home kit procurement and building this into the online STI screening service
mentioned above.

•

Review the integrated sexual health service model to see how technology could improve
access and reduce infrastructure costs of the service. For example exploring virtual clinics or
telephone consultations for less complex sexual health needs.

•

Utilise social media, online dating sites etc. to engage service users, advertise services to
specific groups and increase the effectiveness of partner notification.

•

Review the clinical and cost effectiveness evidence of new sexual health interventions
including emergency hormonal contraception, self-injectable contraception and preexposure prophylaxis for groups at very high risk of HIV. Review whether these should be
commissioned across Leicestershire and Rutland in the future.

7. Increase access to sexual health improvement and HIV prevention to
at risk groups
Where are we now?
Across LLR there are a number of voluntary sector organisations that deliver key HIV prevention and
testing options for groups at higher risk of STIs and HIV including men who have sex with men, sex
workers and black African communities. Results from the Leicestershire and Rutland sexual health
needs assessment identified an increased proportion of STI diagnosis and high levels of HIV in these
groups (in particular men to have sex with men.) Advances have also been seen in HIV home and
community testing and pre-exposure prophylaxis in high risk groups (following the PROUD study.)
Hence commissioning decisions will need to be made as to whether these interventions are
implemented locally.
What do we want to achieve?
•

Reduction of STIs in at risk groups

•

Reduced HIV transmission and new diagnoses

•

Lower proportions of late HIV diagnosis

•

Increased access to HIV testing to at risk groups

How will we get there?
•

Review commissioning and delivery protocols of home and community HIV testing for at risk
groups.
14

213

•

Maintain outreach clinics from integrated sexual health service to target at risk groups. For
example, focus on increasing access to clinical sexual health services for sex workers and
men who have sex with men.

•

Considering the implications of PROUD study and pre-exposure prophylaxis to high risk
groups (such as men who have sex with men and high numbers of sexual partners.)

•

Regular equality impact assessment for all sexual health services.

•

Consider the sexual health implications of changing patterns of legal & illegal substance use
by men who have sex with men locally.

8. Increase links between sexual violence and sexual health services
Where are we now?
In recent years there has been increasing national impetus on sexual violence including child sexual
exploitation and female genital mutilation. The sexual health needs assessment provided some
assessment of needs and implications for services, however further work is needed to truly embed
the sexual violence prevention agenda within sexual health services.
What do we want to achieve?
•

Sexual violence to become an integral part of the wider sexual health system.

•

Sexual health services are able to effectively respond to sexual violence needs of the
population.

•

Ensure sexual health and violence is considered in the commissioning of sexual and
reproductive health services including sexual assault referral centre, maternity services etc.

How will we get there?
•

Sexual health services to attend Local Safeguarding Children Board training on safeguarding,
domestic abuse and child sexual exploitation.

•

Maintain sexual violence as a key theme of the sexual health action plan.

•

Increased sexual health across the community safety agenda including targeted work with
victims of domestic abuse and sex workers.

•

Utilise the LLR sexual health commissioners meeting to highlight sexual violence implications
for services.

Key activities to deliver this approach
To ensure the strategic approach is delivered we will;
•

Develop new ways of working across the sexual health system. This includes developing a
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland sexual health commissioners meeting to ensure all
15

214

commissioning intentions are aligned and task and finish groups to progress key elements of
the strategic approach.
•

Keep partners informed of progress. We will develop a detailed action plan which will be
regularly reviewed and updated to track progress. Progress updates will be provided to the
sexual health clinical network, commissioners meetings and directorate management teams.

•

Monitor performance through implementation of the action plan and development of a
sexual health dashboard. These will be easily accessible for all partners to view.

How will we know we have made a difference?
The key indicators to assess whether this strategy has made a difference are presented in the Public
Health England Sexual and Reproductive Health Profiles. (Available online at
http://fingertips.phe.org.uk/profile/sexualhealth). These include rates of specific STIs, HIV and
unplanned pregnancies. This will be supplemented with local sexual health dashboards and further
indicators will be developed as part of the detailed action plan. All data will be split by local authority
area. Information will be collated and triangulated with local sexual health provider performance to
produce an annual progress update against the action plan and how this has translated to improved
sexual health outcomes across Leicestershire and Rutland.

References
i

WHO. Defining sexual health. Report of a technical consultation on sexual health, 28-31 January 2002. (2002).

ii

Department of Health. A Framework for Sexual Health Improvement in England. 1–56 (2013).

iii

Public Health England. Making It Work – A guide to whole system commissioning for sexual health,
reproductive health and HIV. (2014).
iv

Mercer, C. H. et al. Changes in sexual attitudes and lifestyles in Britain through the life course and over time:
Findings from the National Surveys of Sexual Attitudes and Lifestyles (Natsal). Lancet 382, 1781–1794 (2013)
v

The Marmot Review. Fair Society, Healthy Lives. (2010).

16

215

Agenda Item 11

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF HEALTHWATCH LEICESTERSHIRE
‘Your Voice Matters’ Report
Purpose of report
1. The purpose of this report is to present the approach to Healthwatch Leicestershire’s
(HWL) refreshed priorities with the emerging findings to be presented at the Health
and Wellbeing Board in March.
Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2. HWL has been engaging in consultation with its members and the public to identify
key issues, which will inform HWL priorities for 2016-17.
Background
3. In its first year of operation HWL engaged in consultation with patients, stakeholders
and members of the public to identify key issues, which will inform local priorities
and the development a work plan. These local priorities have been refreshed in light
of experience on a rolling annual review.
Methodology/ Approach
4. So that HWL can best fulfil its mission to understand what matters most to people and
subsequently, inform and influence decision makers to best meet the needs of the
service users, HWL wanted to gain fresh insights into which areas of health and social
care our members and the public consider important.
5. For this reason, HWL developed a public awareness and priorities survey. The survey
was launched on 25 January 2016 and concluded on 29 February 2016. At the time of
writing this covering paper we are analysing the responses.
6. To date, over 400 people completed the survey online and postal. Over 50% of the
respondents were members of the public and the remainder being Healthwatch
Leicestershire members.
7. The objectives for the consultation were as follows:
1. To understand what areas of health and social care people consider a priority
for informing Healthwatch’s work;
2. To understand how much and what people already know about Healthwatch.
8.

The methodology for this consultation was also informed by HWL’s experience of
evidence, insights gathering, engagement programme and lessons from the
Healthwatch England (HWE) Quality Statements 360 pilot feedback.

216
9.

The consultation material was developed to allow patients and the public to tell HWL
what matters most to them both in relation to services and issues. This in turn will
inform, influence and shape HWL’s agenda, whilst also providing insights that may be
useful to key statutory bodies that work with HWL. The survey can be found as
Appendix A.

10. To get this balance the survey was designed to gather information as follows:
• Priority ranking of primary and acute care services with the opportunity for
respondents to tell HWL what mattered to them most in their local area;
• Priority ranking for health, wellbeing and social care issues that matter most to
them.
11. In developing the structure of the new survey 2016, the intention was to identify
where there is common ground within these overarching strategies. For example;
• Leicestershire’s Health & Wellbeing Strategy 2013-16;
• West Leicestershire and East Leicestershire & Rutland CCG Priorities;
• Leicestershire 2015 Joint Strategic Needs Assessment;
• University Hospitals of Leicester – Developing our Annual Priorities for 2016/17;
• Adults Social Care Draft Strategy 2016-2020;
• Leicestershire Partnership NHS Trust Integrated Business Plan 2012-17.
There are, of course, many other more focussed strategies and HWL will be taking
greater account of these strategies/ plans depending on which issues emerge as
key concerns from the consultation.
12. A third objective for the survey was that HWL also wanted to gain a better
understanding of Healthwatch and our role by members and the public.
13. The communication channels for the consultation survey included the following:
•
•
•
•
•

Online survey distributed to HWL Members and subscribers;
Print copy of the survey with freepost reply envelope to HWL members who
preference is postal correspondence;
Press and Media - Media release all local media contacts including Leicester
Mercury and District newspapers and local radio stations;
Website and Social Media - On the website homepage and via Twitter;
Events and Forums – Promoted at the Children and Young People’s Forum, Melton
Borough Forum and Local Offer Live.

Lessons from Quality Statements 360 pilot
14. After being in existence for two and half years (as Oct 2015) HWL was keen to
understand how it could improve its service and its impact. We took part in
Healthwatch England’s Quality Statements 360 pilot, where key stakeholders in the
local health and care system are invited to giv their views about their experience of
working with a local Healthwatch.
15. HWL sent this electronic survey to decision makers in key sectors in Leicestershire,
this included:

217

•
•
•
•

Members of the Health and Wellbeing Board;
Healthwatch Commissioners;
Clinical Commissioning Group(s);
Members of the Integration Executive.

16. From the responses analysed with the findings independently verified by Leeds
Beckett University (commissioned by HWE), HWL noted the following as strengths:
•

HWL is valued for its strong strategic relationships with Commissioners and
partners such as the Health and Wellbeing Board and Clinical Commissioning
Groups.

•

HWL produce professional and independent reports. Their reports are easily
understood, balanced and presented in a way that influences Commissioners and
providers. The Health and Wellbeing Board felt that HWL reports are “the best
reports received in terms of clarity”.

•

HWL utilises its networks effectively in order to seek experiences and concerns
from patients and service users. “A week at LRI” report provided a valuable
patient perspective on current service provision, which directly influenced the
work and priorities of the Urgent Care Board.

17. There are also lessons where HWL can improve its work and these are as outlined
with action to be taken denoted in italics below:
•

People do not understand the rationale behind HWL priorities; in order to
overcome this HWL needs to be clearer on how they develop their priorities.
HWL is currently involving their members and the general public to ask about the
importance of their health, wellbeing and social care services. The feedback
from this survey including views from stakeholders will inform their work going
forward. HWL wants to target is resources where it can make the greatest
impact.

•

Many people are not aware of the signposting, information and advice service
provided by HWL.
HWL to clarify its specific role and to promote this more widely.

•

People are unsure about HWL’s work with seldom-heard groups and what may be
classed as a seldom-heard group. HWL should also find a way to co-ordinate with
other organisations that may be working with similar groups.

•

HWL to clarify for future reference which seldom heard and hard to reach groups
they are working with and to attempt to do joint working with other
organisations.

18. The overall summary findings from the Review can be found in Appendix B.

218
Next Steps
19. Following analysis of responses and emerging findings, HWL wants to get feedback on
these with key stakeholders to highlight any key issues that may not have come
through the consultation before we refine and agree the focus of HWL local priorities.
20. HWL will be seeking meetings/feedback with all key stakeholders to:
• Share the emerging findings;
• See if there are issues for stakeholders to take on board in relation to their
priorities and their work;
• Identify any gaps and overlaps;
• Explore how HWL might work on a particular issue or concern;
• Assess where HWL can make an impact or a difference.
21. The HWL Board will then agree its work programme and priorities in April 2016 taking
into account available resources.
22. HWL will develop a revised flyer and cascade this through various channels so that
stakeholders, members and the general public are informed about its work.

Recommendations to the Health and Wellbeing Board
23. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to note the report for information.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
Officer to Contact
Name and Job Title: Vandna Gohil, Director
Telephone: 0116 257 5040
Email: Vandna.g@healthwatchleics.co.uk
Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
1.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is aware that the Public Sector Equality Duty (PSED)
applies to all functions of public authorities that are listed in Schedule 19 Equality
Act 2010. Schedule 19 list does not include Healthwatch England or Local
Healthwatch organisations, however as bodies carrying out a public function using
public funding we are subject to the PSED general duty.

2.

Healthwatch Leicestershire is committed to reducing the inequalities of health and
social care outcomes experienced in some communities. It believes also that
health and social care should be based on a human rights platform. HWL will
utilise the Equality Act 2010 when carrying out its work and in influencing change
in service commissioning and delivery.

219

Appendix A

220

221
Appendix B

222

223

Agenda Item 12

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
BETTER CARE FUND QUARTERLY PERFORMANCE REPORTING
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide the Health and Wellbeing Board with
assurance on the quarterly reporting requirements for the Better Care Fund (BCF)
including the pay for performance element of the fund, which is linked to achieving
reductions in emergency admissions.

Policy Framework and Previous Decisions
2.

The Health and Wellbeing Board approved Leicestershire’s BCF Plan in September
2014.
(http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=3984&Ver=4)

3.

The day to day delivery of the BCF is overseen by the Leicestershire Integration
Executive as agreed by the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2014.
(http://politics.leics.gov.uk/ieListDocuments.aspx?CId=1038&MId=3981&Ver=4)
The Integration Executive Terms of Reference have been refreshed, and were
approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board in November 2015.

4.

NHS England issued BCF implementation guidance on 20th March 2015
(http://www.england.nhs.uk/ourwork/part-rel/transformation-fund/bcf-plan/) set out the
requirements for quarterly reporting along with the draft templates and analytical
tools that are required to be used for this purpose.

5.

In March 2015 Leicestershire County Council and the county Clinical Commissioning
Groups entered into a Section 75 Agreement to govern the BCF pooled budget, with
the agreement coming into effect on April 1st 2015:
•

Cabinet – 15th April 2015

•

East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG – 17th March 2015

•

West Leicestershire CCG – 31st March 2015

http://politics.leics.gov.uk/Published/C00000135/M00003992/AI00038821/$8BCFSection75Agreementv5Cabinetreport15July2014.docxA.ps.pdf

http://www.eastleicestershireandrutlandccg.nhs.uk/images/board-papers/March2015_Papers%20Governing%20Body.pdf

http://www.westleicestershireccg.nhs.uk/page/extra-ordinary-board-meeting-31-march-2015

6.

In April 2015 the Clinical Commissioning Groups submitted operating plans to NHS
England demonstrating the commitment to reduce emergency admissions associated
with the BCF. These documents confirm the level of emergency admissions that have
been contracted for with acute NHS providers in 2015 on this basis.

224
Background
7.

In line with national requirements, the September 2014 submission of
Leicestershire’s BCF Plan included a target to reduce the number of emergency
admissions by 3.5% during 2015.

8.

At that time, total predicted emergency admissions for January to December 2015
were 54,594 with a target reduction through the Better Care Fund interventions of
1,911 (3.5%) to 52,683.

9.

As the total amount of emergency admissions actually increased during 2014/15 (a
trend experienced nationally), it was agreed to amend the 2015 target using revised
baseline data.

10. The revised target continues to represent a 3.5% reduction, however using the new
baseline this means a reduction from 58,314 to 56,273 total emergency admissions
is needed through the BCF interventions, which equates to a reduction of 2,041
admissions.
11. This amended baseline was recommended by the Integration Executive in February
2015 and approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board in March 2015 and has been
reflected in CCG operating plans.
Analysis of Current Performance
12. The fourth national reporting period for reducing emergency admissions via the BCF
is for the period October to December 2015, with a reporting date for this period of
February 26th 2016.
13. The data shows that the total number of emergency admissions is estimated to be
991 admissions above the planned/contracted for levels for Leicestershire’s
population for the quarter.
14. It should be noted that there are multiple factors that affect the total number of
emergency admissions within Leicestershire by quarter, not all of which can be
influenced by/mitigated by the interventions in Leicestershire’s BCF Plan.
15. The table below summarises the actual/provisional data to date:
Total Emergency
Jan to
Apr to
Jul to
Oct to
Admissions
Mar
Jun
Sep
Dec
2015
2015
2015
2015
(forecast)
Planned Activity
13,746
13,909
14,209
14,409
Forecast Activity
14,303
14,747
14,808
15,400
Activity Variance
557
838
599
991

Total

56,273
59,258
2,985

16. Leicestershire’s BCF plan includes four schemes which together were targeted to
reduce emergency admissions by 2,041 between January and December 2015.
These are:
• Rapid response falls service
• Seven day working in primary care

225
• Rapid assessment older person’s unit (Loughborough)
• Integrated health and care crisis response.
17. Each scheme was allocated a proportion of the 2,041 emergency admissions.
18. Between January and December 2015 the four schemes avoided 1,581 emergency
admissions compared to a target of 2,041. The figures are based on specific clinical
definitions for avoiding an admission, and a set of agreed performance data is being
captured to assess the impact by scheme by month.
19. The data arising from the four schemes was be independently evaluated during 2015
including through the research study being undertaken in partnership with
Loughborough University and Leicestershire Healthwatch, which will be reported in
March 2016.

Process to submit the fourth BCF quarterly report to NHS England
20. The BCF Operationalisation Guidance required that a quarterly performance
template was submitted to NHS England by February 26th 2016, summarising
emergency admissions performance in the fourth quarter.
21. The template also required the provision of information on a number of other BCF
metrics which include:
•
•
•
•
•

Permanent admissions to residential care
Effectiveness of reablement
Delayed transfers of care
Patient experience
Emergency admissions for injuries due to falls (local metric)

22. The Integration Executive reviewed the completed template at their meeting on
February 23rd and submitted the required information to NHS England on February
26th on behalf of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Financial Implications
23. The pay for performance element of the BCF totals £3m. Clinical Commissioning
Groups will pay this into the BCF on a proportionate basis relative to the actual
reduction in emergency admissions during 2015.
24. Following the Integrated Finance and Performance Group in August 2015 (LCC and
both CCG finance and planning leads) the following planning assumptions were
agreed in relation to the use of the £3m pay for performance pot and use of the
health reserve:
a. From the £3m pay for performance fund (risk pool) £1m will be retained by the
CCGs to recognise over performance in non-elective admissions. The remaining
£2m will be paid into the BCF in recognition of the contribution made by the four
admission avoidance schemes (1,620 predicted compared to the 2,041 target)
b. £800k was released from the reserve in 2015/16, by agreement with the CCGs to:

226
o Invest in further developments to reduce non-elective admissions and/or
o Invest in winter resilience.
Recommendation
25. The Board is recommended to note the contents of the report and that the fourth
quarterly return was approved by the Integration Executive on February 23rd and
submitted to NHS England on February 26th.

Officer to Contact
Cheryl Davenport
Director of Health and Care Integration (Joint Appointment)
Cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
0116 305 4212

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
26. Developments within the BCF Plan are subject to equality impact assessment and
the evidence base supporting the BCF Plan has been tested with respect to
Leicestershire Joint Strategic Needs Assessment.
Partnership Working and associated issues
27. The delivery of the BCF Plan and the governance of the associated pooled budget is
managed in partnership through the collaboration of commissioners and providers in
Leicestershire.
28. Day to day oversight of delivery is via the Integration Executive through the scheme
of delegation agreed via the Integration Executive’s terms of reference which have
been approved by the Health and Wellbeing Board.
29. The delivery of the Leicestershire BCF ensures that a number of key integrated
services are in place and contributing to the system wide changes being
implemented through the 5 year plan to transform health and care in Leicestershire,
known as Better Care Together. http://www.bettercareleicester.nhs.uk/

227

Agenda Item 13

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE CHIEF EXECUTIVE AND COMMISSIONING
SUPPORT PERFORMANCE SERVICE
PERFORMANCE UPDATE AT END OF QUARTER 3 2015/16
Purpose of Report
1.

The purpose of the report is to provide the Board with an update on health
performance issues based on the latest available data at the end of quarter 3
of 2015/16.

Background
2.

The Board currently receives a joint report on performance from the County
Council’s Chief Executive’s Department and the Arden/GEM Commissioning
Support Performance Service. This particular report encompasses:
a. Performance against key metrics and priorities set out in the current
Better Care Fund plan and with progressing health and social care
integration; and
b. An update on key provider performance issues and performance priorities

Better Care Fund and Integration Projects
3.

The following section of the report and Appendix A summarises current
performance against the schemes within the Better Care Fund (BCF) plan.
There is also a summary of the BCF Plan key indicators and progress against
delivering on the BCF targets. Where data is not yet available for the metrics
and proposed targets the published baselines are shown.

Metric

Commentary

Metric 1: Admissions to
Care aged 65+

The current data shows an estimate of the full year
figure for 2015/16. The forecast for permanent
admissions to either residential or nursing care of people
aged 65 and over per 100,000 is 637.0 admissions per
100,000, (853 actual admissions) and is forecast to
meet the BCF target.
A key measure in the Better Care Fund (BCF) is the
metric that measures the proportion of people
discharged from hospital via reablement services that
are still living at home 91 days later. For those people
discharged between August 15 and October 15 with
accommodation location between November and

Metric 2; Older People
At Home 91 Days After
Discharge

228

Metric 3: Delayed
transfer of care from
hospital per 100,000

Metric 4: Total nonelective admissions into
hospital (general and
acute), per 100,000
population, per month

Metric 5: Patient/service
user experience.
Patients satisfied with
support to manage long
term health conditions

Metric 6: Emergency
admissions for injuries
due to falls in people
aged 65 and over per
100,000 population, per
month.

January the figure was 81.5% against the BCF target of
82%.
The BCF target is a measure of delayed days per
100,000 population. Current data shows 216.3 days
delayed per 100k and is well within target, continuing the
trend of a significant improvement in performance in this
area. Based on the adult social care data snapshot on
the last Thursday of December, there were five ASC
delays compared to 9 in July. As such the average
month since the start of the year remains lower than the
average month last year (ASC is 5.7 compared to 11.5
in 2014/15).
Data for the period January to December 2015 shows
an increase from a rate of 747 non-elective admissions
per 100k in November to 782.42 non-elective
admissions in December. Against a target to reduce
non-elective admissions to 656.16. The health and care
economy has underperformed by 2,985 with 59,258
admissions.
Based on the aggregated data for January to March
2015 and July to September 2015, 61.6% of the people
that answered this question in the survey reported that
they have received enough support from local services/
organisations to help manage their long-term
condition(s). This is a small improvement in performance
from 60.9% in 2014/15.
Figures have been recalculated to use the latest
population estimates in line with the BCF refresh
documentation. Since April 2015 the figure has varied
from 127.7 per 100k to 165.0 per 100k. The current
estimate is 1791.5 which would miss the BCF target.

4. The action plan to improve performance against the four emergency admissions
schemes has been revised and is currently being implemented. In addition, a
review of the planned trajectories is currently underway as part of the BCF plan
and targets refresh process.
Integration Project Delivery
5. Within the current Better Care Fund scheme delivery progress updates, a number
of issues have been noted and these are set out below.
Scheme
Seven day
services in
West
Leicestershire
CCG.

Commentary
This service is now operational as a combination of a weekend
acute visiting service and extra GP availability to a cohort of
patients. In the first month 73 admissions were avoided.

229

Seven day
services in
East Leics
and Rutland
CCG.
Integrating
LLR points of
access

The Croft Medical Centre went live with their 7 day working pilot
from 6 February. The Glenfield surgery went live on 27 February.

Frailty
Tracker
Nurses

Due to winter pressures and internal changes within UHL the
recruitment process has been delayed and this scheme would no
longer be viable as a winter pilot. As a result a decision has been
made not to commission this as a BCF scheme. The CCGs will
now decide whether to commission this or not via an alternative
route.

The co-design workshops for this project have taken place in two
parts, the first with a range of stakeholders, managers, GPs and
the second with front line call handling staff, service users, patients
and carers. The workshops have generated a significant amount of
design material to be collated and analysed. The next phase of the
project is to analyse all of the data collected to date and to begin to
model the options in preparation for business case development.

Provider and CCG Dashboard - Appendix B
6. Attached as Appendix B is a dashboard that summarises information on provider
and CCG performance. The Everyone Counts Dashboard sets out the rights and
pledges that patients are entitled to through the NHS. The indicators within the
dashboard are reported at CCG level. Data reported at provider level does differ,
and delivery actions indicate where this is a risk.
University Hospitals of Leicester (UHL) Emergency Department (ED).
Waiting Time < 4 Hours
7. Problems with accident and emergency waits continue to be primarily driven by
two forms of demand; attendance and admissions. Attendance in January 2016
was 13% higher than the same month last year. On average 71 more patients per
day are now attending LRI than the same time last year. Admissions are 5.8%
higher than the same time last year. On average UHL are now admitting 14 more
emergency patients per day than the same time last year and 29 more patients
per day than the same time two years ago.
8. Key actions to report on are:
• UHL have been working closely with Lakeside partners and the Vanguard
team on improvements to the front door and Urgent Care Centre function;
• UHL have been working closely with EMAS on ambulance handover times
which remain a serious problem for the health system. Despite the right
actions being identified and pursued there continues to be a need for
improvements in handover times;
• Improving use of ICS beds by GPs, UHL and or LPT referring to them;

230

•
•

Moving the ambulatory clinic downstairs to be collocated with the Urgent
Care Centre;
Improvements to the front door.

Ambulance Response Times, Handovers between UHL ED and Ambulance
and Ambulance Crew Clear
9. An eight-week action plan has been agreed to speed up the time it takes for
EMAS crews to pass patients to A&E staff at Leicester Royal Infirmary.
Difficulties continue in accessing beds from ED leading to congestion in the
assessment area and delays to ambulance handover. Proposals include:
• Relocate the Acute Assessment Unit to the Urgent Care Centre and expand
capacity by the end of February;
• Improving processes at A&E and in the assessment bays;
• Improving the flow of patients through the hospital and making every effort to
reduce numbers attending A&E;
• Attempting to speed up discharge processes;
• Continued work to tell patients the importance of getting medical help before
their condition worsens and ends up being an emergency.
Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted in 28 days
10. The high numbers of emergency admissions are a significant risk to ‘On The Day’
cancellations and 28 day rebooking of patients. The availability of beds,
particularly those in ITU, is monitored daily and interventions will be made where
necessary. A request to open an additional 6 ITU beds is currently being
processed. Theatre managers have increased theatre capacity for the increased
cancer demand by making additional lists available to reduce 28day breaches.
The Intensive Care, Theatres, Anaesthetics, Pain and Sleep and Cancer and
Haematology, Urology, Gastroenterology and General Surgery Senior Managers
are working together to improve theatre capacity in the long term.
52 Week waiters (incomplete at UHL) - orthodontic patients service
commissioned by NHS England.
11. The service is now closed to new referrals with some clinical exceptions.
Adherence to this is being monitored by the Director of Performance and
Information. UHL is exploring capacity for orthodontic patients within both local
community and acute providers. Around 24 patients will transfer to Northampton
General Hospital; approximately 20 are expected to be treated at Oakham Dental
Studio. There have been some complications with the transfer of patients to
‘Clearly Orthodontics’ due to consultant sickness. Additional capacity is being
explored. Resolution to this ongoing problem is being led by the Chief Executive,
NHSE and the TDA.
Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks
12. Imaging machine stability remains an issue; all extra capacity is being utilised in
MRI to minimise the number of breaches. An MRI van was at UHL for eight days

231

in January, extra sessions have been arranged and some outpatient sessions up
to midnight may be reinstated. Approximately 100 MRIs are being sent to Nuffield
each month.
13. Endoscopy - the Trust is working with a number of Independent Sector providers
to obtain extra capacity. ‘Your World Doctors’ are also backfilling lists during the
week, which would otherwise be cancelled. The extra capacity is complemented
by a robust action plan addressing general performance issues in the service,
with particular focus on ensuring that all lists are fully booked and efforts to
improve cancer performance via access to endoscopy tests.
Cancer
14. 2 week wait - the CT colon pathway for lower and upper GI cancer patients
began in November and the positive impact of this is already being felt. UHL is
working with CCGs to improve the quality of two week wait referrals, specifically
in relation to the correct process, use of appropriate clinical criteria and
preparation of patients for the urgency of appointments. Performance in January
is expected to take a dip whilst a backlog of two week wait referrals from the
Christmas period is resolved.
15. 31 day first treatment - head and neck services are currently recruiting a head
and neck fellow which will help to support cancer performance and continue to
advertise for a consultant. Gynaecology and urology both have a shortage of
theatre capacity. 31 day subsequent (surgery) - significant investment in more
clinical staff has also been planned, including a nurse specialist in urology and
consultants in head and neck and dermatology. An additional urology consultant
started in late January. 62 day referral to treatment - improvements in endoscopy
and CT colon implementation have started to improve performance in lower/
upper GI. Weekly executive scrutiny of 62 day backlog reduction plans was
initiated in September. Although performance for this standard for December is
much improved, the lead indicator of whether the Trust is resolving the underlying
issue is the size of the backlog (patients untreated over 62 days). Unfortunately
the backlog increased over the Christmas period. Clear and revised actions to
address the underlying causes are being developed and implemented.
Improved Access to Psychological Therapies
16. Performance dropped across both CCGs in December 2015, mainly due to fewer
clinics being available because of leave and trainees being in service. Actions
include: an additional 3 high intensity workers started in early January to deliver
activity based on additional waiting list funding. An additional 3 trainee low
intensity workers will start in mid-January. It is expected that they will hold full
caseloads by March 2016.
Unplanned Hospitalisation and Emergency Admissions
17. In January a 3-month pilot started of the Readmissions Risk Tool at UHL. The
pilot will run in all adult in-patient areas (excluding maternity) and there will be a
daily report of patients with more than a 50% risk of readmission. There will be a
preliminary review by Specialist Discharge/Primary Care Co-ordinator Teams

232

with Reablement Teams in County and Rutland (HART/REACH) providing ‘post
discharge check’ telephone calls and visits.
Estimated diagnosis rate of people with dementia
18. In both CCGs additional dementia patients are being recorded each month. West
Leicestershire CCG has commissioned a Dementia Identification Community
Based Service to encourage practices to identify and diagnose dementia
patients. 41 practices have signed up to provide this service and we are awaiting
a response from 5 practices. In East Leicestershire and Rutland CCG a care
planning workshop facilitated by Sir Alistair Burns has been organised for
February.
Incidence of Health Associated Infection - CDIFF – West Leicestershire only
19. In line with national requirements UHL and the CCG continue to assess each
CDIFF case on an individual basis to support best practice and identify any
possible lapses in the quality of care delivered. In addition to this the CCG
Infection Control Team also monitors and records the number of cases identified
where the patient has reported an onset of diarrhoeal symptoms within 30 days of
discharge from an acute or community hospital trust. This review includes a
discussion relating to the clinical management of the patient with themes from
any learning shared with GP practice staff through locality meeting updates,
Medicines Management Newsletters and GP newsletters.
20. Lapses in care identified through UHL’s internal review of their CDIFF cases are
recorded and monitored by the CCG Infection Control Team. Themes identified
through this process are reported back to the Quality Contracting Team for
discussion through the contract review process as appropriate. All GP prescribers
have agreed to undertake an antibiotic/Proton Pump Inhibitor (PPI) prescribing
audit as one of their quality audits for 2015/16.
Public Health Outcomes Performance
21. Appendix C sets out current performance against targets set in the current
performance framework for public health. In February 2016 Public Health
England published a significant update to the public health outcomes framework
(PHOF). In terms of high level outcomes 14 indicators are presented and
Leicestershire is better than the England average for six of these. No indicators
perform significantly worse than the England average.
22. The PHOF also summarises a range of other performance indicators grouped
under four domains. Overall Leicestershire performs well for a wide range of
indicators (Better 96, Similar 52). However there are a small number of areas
where Leicestershire performs below average. These are summarised below for
information:• Wider Determinants of Health – school readiness, social isolation;
• Health Improvement – newborn bloodspot screening coverage, NHS health
checks take-up;
• Health Protection – chlamydia detection, flu vaccination coverage;

233

• Health Care – preventable sight loss, excess winter deaths.
23. Further consideration will be given to actions to tackle these areas as part of the
new Health and Wellbeing Strategy and public health service plan development
process.
Recommendations
24. The Board is asked to:
a) note the performance summary and issues identified this quarter and actions
planned in response to improve performance; and
b) comment on any recommendations or other issues with regard to the report.

List of Appendices
Appendix A – Better Care Fund Summary Dashboard
Appendix B – Provider and CCG Performance Summary Dashboard
Appendix C – Public Health Dashboard

Background papers
University Hospitals Leicester Trust Board meetings can be found at the following
link:
http://www.leicestershospitals.nhs.uk/aboutus/our-structure-and-people/board-ofdirectors/board-meeting-dates/
Officers to Contact
Kate Allardyce and Sarah Cooke - Performance Team (Leicester & Lincoln)
Arden/GEM Commissioning Support Unit
Tel: 0116 295 7272, Mobile: 07795126428
Email: Sarah.Cooke@gemcsu.nhs.uk
Andy Brown – Performance Team Leicestershire County Council
Andy.brown@leics.gov.uk Tel 0116 305 6096

234

This page is intentionally left blank

66.40%

140.47

Ƈ0(75,&3DWLHQWVHUYLFHXVHUH[SHULHQFH
Patients satisfied with support to manage long
term health conditions

Ƈ0(75,&(PHUJHQF\DGPLVVLRQVIRULQMXULHV
due to falls in people aged 65 and over per 100,000
population, per month
164.20

61.6%

782.42

216.30

81.5%

637

(Dec 16)

al)

(provision

1,778

P4P
Target

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

BETTER CARE FUND

Ƈ*OHQILHOG&'8$PEXODWRU\ &DUH3DWKZD\
Ƈ0(75,&7RWDOQRQHOHFWLYHDGPLVVLRQV
Ƈ'D\:RUNLQJ3ULPDU\&DUH
into hospital (general and acute), per 100,000
Ƈ5DSLG$VVHVVPHQWIRU2OGHU3HUVRQV8QLW
population, average monthly rate per quarter
Ƈ,QWHJUDWHG+HDOWKDQG&DUH&ULVLV5HVSRQVH

Scheme Details

656.16

350.79

Ƈ0(75,&'HOD\HGWUDQVIHUVRIFDUHIURP
Priority
hospital per
100,000 population, average monthly
rate per quarter

Ƈ0(75,&7RWDOQRQHOHFWLYHDGPLVVLRQVLQWR
hospital (general and acute), per 100,000
population, average monthly rate per quarter

82.01%

Ƈ0(75,&3URSRUWLRQRIROGHUSHRSOH DQG
over) who were still at home 91 days after
discharge from hospital into reablement /
rehabilitation services

Metric Supporting

Better Care
Fund
Overarching
Metrics

670.39

Target

Ƈ0(75,&3HUPDQHQWDGPLVVLRQVRIROGHU
people (aged 65 and over) to residential and
nursing care homes, per 100,000 population, per
year

Metric

Current
Data
Commentary

February 2015/16

Current datashows January-March 2015 and JulySeptember 2015, results published in January 2016.
Target is for March 2016.

March 2016 target is 656.16. Current data shows the
December 2015 rate.

78

Current
Month
Target

78

Current
Month
Data

78

78

Cumulative Cumulative
Target
Data

Commentary

Current data shows December's monthly figure per
100,000 popn. Target is for March 2016. The methodology
used by PHE to calculate this metric has now been
R
identified and local figures calculated since April 2015.
Since then the rate has varied from 127.7 per 100,000 to
165.0 per 100,000.

A

R

BCF DToCs targets are quarterly and 216.3 covers the 1516 Q3 period Oct-Dec ’15. The target shown is for March
2016. The Q3 performance is the average of the three
G
months, presented as a rate per 100,000. As with the
first two quarters of the year, the Q3 perfomance
surpassed the target.

A

The measure is monitored on a rolling period with the
current performance relating to hospital discharges
between Aug and Oct 2015 and accommodation location
between November and January 2016. Performance during
this period has fallen slightly below the target.

The current data shows an estimate of the full year figure
G for 2015/16. At 637.0 admissions per 100,000, this is
forecast to meet the target.

RAG

APPENDIX A

235

UHL

ALL PROVIDERS

90.0%
95.0%
96.0%
91.0%
99.0%
94.0%
79.0%
93.0%
92.0%
63.2%

56.0%

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait Breast symptoms (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day surgery (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day anti cancer drug (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day radiotherapy (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - from screening service (WLCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - consultant upgrade (WLCCG)

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical (WLCCG)

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1 (WLCCG)

Cancer Wait Times

94.4%

Ƈ Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks (All Providers) (WLCCG)

Diagnostic Waiting
Time

95.4%

1

Ƈ Never Events

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Incomplete (All Providers)
(WLCCG)

0

69

Ƈ Mixed Sex Accommodation

Ƈ Pressure Ulcers (Grade 2)

98.2%

1.6%

Ƈ UHL Delayed Transfers of Care - no. of patients as a % of occupied
bed days

Ƈ Cancelled Operations - non re-admitted in 28 days

21.6%

89.4%

Ƈ UHL Emergency Dept. Waiting Time < 4 Hours

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Handovers between UHL ED & Ambulance > 30
mins

95.0%

96.0%

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - Maternity

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - in-patients

Latest
Data

Referral to Treatment

Hospital Quality

DTOC

ED Waiting Times

Patient Experience

Indicator

APPENDIX B

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Jan 16

YTD Dec 15

YTD Feb 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Data Period

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

R

R

R

G

R

G

G

A

G

G

A

R

G

R

G

G

R

G

R

R

G

G

DOT RAG

Indicator

FEBRUARY 2015/16

59.6%

50.9%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1 (ELRCCG)

100.0%

94.0%

78.0%

96.0%

100.0%

86.0%

96.0%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical (ELRCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - consultant upgrade (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day - from screening service (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 62 day (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day radiotherapy (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day anti cancer drug (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day surgery (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Cancer 31 day (EL&RCCG)

95.0%

90.0%

Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait (EL&RCCG)
Ƈ Cancer 2 week wait Breast symptoms (EL&RCCG)

93.3%

95.2%

267
Orthodon
tics

94.2%

20

0

12.6%

0

96.0%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Diagnostic Waiting Times < 6 weeks (All Providers) (ELRCCG)

Ƈ 18 Week Referral to Treatment Incomplete (All Providers)
(ELRCCG)

Ƈ 52 Week waiters (incomplete)

Ƈ Safety Thermometer (% No Harms)

Ƈ Pressure Ulcers (Avoidable Grade 3 & 4)

Ƈ Cancelled operations- Cancelled for a second time

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Handovers between UHL ED & Ambulance > 1
Hour

Ƈ 12 Hour Trolley Waits

Ƈ Friends & Family Test Score - A&E

PROVIDER & CCG INDICATORS

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

Dec-15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Data Period

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

R

R

G

G

R

G

G

R

G

G

A

R

G

R

G

G

G

R

G

G

DOT RAG

236

EMAS

IAPT

LPT

Quality - Safe Care

Community & Other

Mental Health

Mental Health

East Midlands
Ambulance Service

Ƈ MRSA Bacteraemia Cases - Community

Ƈ STEIS - SI actions plans implemented within timescales

Ƈ Never Events

Ƈ Total number of Home Treatment episodes carried out by Crisis
Resolution team year to date

Ƈ Average Length of Stay - Community Hospital rehab wards

0

95.7%

0

1698

10.10%

1.0%

128.2%

Ƈ Early intervention in Psychosis - % newly diagnosed cases against
commissioner contract

Ƈ % Delayed Patients (DToC) - Community

95.0%

69.1

Ƈ Average Length of Stay - Mental Health

Ƈ % of patients under adult mental illness on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient
care (WLCCG)

6.1%

95.0%

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- 18 week waits (WLCCG)

Ƈ % Delayed Patients (DToC) - Mental Health

38.0%

50.0%

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- Recovery rate (WLCCG)

Ƈ Pyschological Therapies - 6 week waits (WLCCG)

15.0%

Ƈ Psychological Therapies - % of people who enter the service
(WLCCG)

3.7%

89.8%

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Ambulance Crew Clear > 30mins

71.3%

85.2%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 1 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes (WLCCG)

Indicator

APPENDIX B

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Nov 15

42370

YTD Jan 16

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Data Period

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

G

A

G

G

G

G

G

G

G

R

G

G

R

R

A

R

DOT RAG

Indicator

FEBRUARY 2015/16

90.3%

Ƈ Occupancy Rate - Mental Health

YTD Jan 16

LOW

11

Ƈ Clostridium Difficile (C Diff) Cases

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Nov 15

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

LOW

8874

98.6%

91.0%

96%

YTD Jan 16

YTD Jan 16

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Data Period

Ƈ Compliance with hygiene code

Ƈ Patients safety incidents reporting

Ƈ Patient experience of community mental health services

Ƈ % Admissions Gate Kept

Ƈ Occupancy Rate - Community

Ƈ % of patients under adult mental illness on CPA who were
followed up within 7 days of discharge from psychiatric in-patient
care (ELRCCG)

25

97.0%

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- 18 week waits (EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Median Length of Stay - Mental Health

46.0%

55.0%

Ƈ Psychological Therapies- Recovery rate (EL&RCCG)
Ƈ Pyschological Therapies - 6 week waits (EL&RCCG)

14.0%

0.9%

65.6%

80.2%

Latest
Data

Ƈ Psychological Therapies - % of people who enter the service
(EL&RCCG)

Ƈ Emergency Dept. Ambulance Crew Clear > 60 mins

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A Red 2 (8 minutes) conditions life
threatening & most time critical, less so than Red 1

Ƈ Ambulance Response Times Cat A - ambulance arriving at the
scene within 19 minutes (ELRCCG)

PROVIDER & CCG INDICATORS

R

G

R

G

A

R

R

R

DOT RAG

R

G

G

A

G

237

CLINICAL COMMISSIONING GROUP

DOMAIN 1

DOMAIN 2

DOMAIN 3

DOMAIN 4

PRIMARY
DOMAIN 5
CARE

74.6
62.0%
62.1%

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for people with long term conditions

Ƈ Estimated diagnosis rate of people with dementia

Ƈ Proportion of people feeling supported to manage their own condition

1546
153

Ƈ Rate of emergency admissions within 30 days of discharge

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for children with Lower Respiratory Tract Infections (LRTI) per 100,000 population

105
435
85.0%

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection CDIFF

Ƈ Satisfaction with the quality of consultation at a GP Practice

Ƈ Satisfaction with the overall care received at Surgery

95.0%

Ƈ Access to NHS Dental Services

0

73.0%

Ƈ Access to GP Services

Ƈ Incidence of health associated infection MRSA

86.0%

Ƈ Overall experience of NHS Dental Service

Ƈ Proportion of people 65 and over offered rehabilitation following discharge from acute or community hospital

1050

30%

0.814

Ƈ Emergency Admissions for acute conditions that should not usually require hospital admission

Ƈ Employment of people with mental illness (difference between England population and people with mental illness)

Ƈ Health-related quality of life for carers

10.9%

149

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for asthma, diabetes and epilepsy in under 19s per 100,000 population (WLCCG)

Ƈ Employment of people with long term conditions (difference between England population and people with LTC)

742

1764.2

Ƈ Unplanned Hospitalisation for chronic ambulatory care sensitive conditions (adults) per 100,000 population

Ƈ Potential years of life lost (PYLL) from causes considered amenable to healthcare

68.4

Ƈ 1 year survival from breast, lung and colorectal cancer

Latest
Data
68.3

Indicator

CCG INDICATORS

Ƈ 1 year survival from all cancers

APPENDIX B

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

FOT to Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

G

R

G

G

R

G

R

R

R

R

Leics Apr 15June 15

G

R

R

R

R

R

A

G
LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

G

G

DOT RAG

2014/15

Leics Apr 15June 15

2014/15

01/12/15

2014/15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

2014

2011

2013

Trend

WL CCG
Data
Period

84.0%

435

75

0

93.0%

71.0%

87.0%

210

1647

1109

30%

0.830

10.9%

65.1%

59.3%

75.5

185

762.49

1978.7

69.6

70

Latest
Data

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

FOT to Dec 15

YTD Dec 15

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

Jan-Sept 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

Leics Apr 15June 15

2014/15

Leics Apr 15June 15

2014/15

01/12/2015

2014/15

YTD Nov 15

YTD Nov 15

2014

2011

2013

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

EL&R CCG
Data
Period

FEBRUARY 2015/16

R

R

G

G

R

R

G

R

R

R

R

A

G

R

R

A

R

R

R

G

G

DOT RAG

238

PUBLIC HEALTH

PHYSICAL HEALTH

CYP HEALTH

LOW
LOW

6.20 2011-14
5.00 2011-14

Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Males) (Leics) (PHOF 0.2iii)

Slope index of inequality in life expectancy at birth (Females) (Leics) (PHOF 0.2iii)

G
G

LOW

13.50 2012/14
2015
2015

83.5%
77.9%
42.5% 2014/15
53.4% 2014/15
59.9%
74.4% 2014/15

Under 75 mortality rate from all liver disease (Persons per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 4.06i)

% of eligible women screened - breast cancer (Leics) (PHOF 2.20i)

% of eligible women screened - cervical cancer (Leics) (PHOF 2.20ii)

% of physically active children - participation in more than 3hrs a week of community
sport only

% of physically active children - participation in more than 3hrs a week of curriculum
sport only

% of physically active adults (PHOF 2.13i)

% of mothers initiating breastfeeding (PHOF 2.02i)

% children aged 5 years with one or more decayed, missing or filled teeth (PHOF 4.02)

% of mothers breastfeeding at 6-8 weeks (PHOF 2.02ii)

G

LOW

128.40 2012-14

Under 75 mortality rate from cancer (Persons per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 4.05i)

A

0.95 2011-12
LOW

G

A

G

G

G

G

47.2% 2014/15

2014

G

LOW

23.30 2012-14

Under 75 mortality rate from respiratory disease (Persons per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF
4.07i)

Infant Mortality (PHOF 4.01)

% of children with excess weight - 10-11 year olds (Leics) (PHOF 2.06ii)

% of children with excess weight - 4-5 year olds (Leics) (PHOF 2.06i)

% of adults participating in one or more sports a week for 30 minutes or more (Leics)

% of physically inactive adults (Leics) (PHOF 2.13ii)

% of women smoking at time of delivery (Leics) (PHOF 2.03)

Number of self-reported 4 week smoking quitters (Leics)

Prevalence of smoking among persons aged 18 years and over (Leics) (PHOF 2.14)

Under 18 conceptions (rate per 1,000) (Leics) (PHOF 2.04)

People presenting with HIV at a late stage of infection - % of presentations (Leics)
(PHOF 3.04)

64.00 2012-14

Under 75 mortality rate from all cardiovascular diseases (Persons per 100,000) (Leics)
(PHOF 4.04i)
G

Chlamydia diagnoses (rate per 100,000 15-24 year olds) (Leics) (PHOF 3.02ii)

R

46.6% 2014/15

Take up of the NHS Health Check Programme – by those eligible (2.22iv)
LOW

Admissions to hospital for alcohol related causes (rate per 100,000) (Leics) (PHOF 2.18)

G

84.00 2012-14

Life expectancy at birth(Females) (Leics) (PHOF 0.1ii)

% successful completion of drug treatment - non-opiate users (PHOF 2.15ii)

G

% successful completion of drug treatment - opiate users (PHOF 2.15i)

A

80.50 2012-14

% of adults classified as overweight or obese (Leics) (PHOF 2.12)

Indicator

A

DOT RAG

Data
Period

2014

2013/14

2014

2014

Q2
2015/16

2014

2013

Oct 14 Sep 15

2014

3.60 2011-13

30.0% 2014/15

20.3% 2014/15

38.0%

24.8%

10.3% 2014/15

1453

17.0%

20.90

40.5% 2012-14

1616

595.00

40.2%

9.3%

64.7% 2012-14

Latest
Data

FEBRUARY 2015/16

Life expectancy at birth (Males) (Leics) (PHOF 0.1ii)

Indicator

Trend

Latest
Data

PUBLIC HEALTH AND PREVENTION INDICATORS
Data
Period

APPENDIX C

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

LOW

Trend

G

A

A

G

G

R

G

A

A

A

DOT RAG

A

G

G

G

G

239

240

This page is intentionally left blank

241

Agenda Item 14

HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD: 10 MARCH 2016
REPORT OF THE DIRECTOR OF HEALTH AND CARE INTEGRATION
OUTPUTS FROM THE HEALTH AND WELLBEING BOARD
DEVELOPMENT SESSION – 10 FEBRUARY 2016
Purpose of report
1.

The purpose of this report is to provide members of the Health and Wellbeing Board
with assurance that the actions arising from the Board Development Session held on
10 February 2016 are being acted upon.

Link to Better Care Together
2.

This report does not link to specific Better Care Together (BCT) workstreams but is
concerned with the overall connectivity between the Health and Wellbeing Board and
the Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR) wide BCT programme.

Background
3.

The Board Development Session on 10 February 2016 was facilitated by two
programme managers from the Local Government Association and had the following
aims:(i) To reflect on our improvement journey so far;
(ii) To discuss how the Board will shape responses to the challenges facing the
health and care system locally;
(iii) To bring clarity to how things are joined up between the Leicestershire “place”
and LLR “place” and how improved joint working can be effected across
Leicester, Leicestershire and Rutland (LLR);
(iv) To develop key themes for Board improvement.

4.

Discussion at the development session focused on making improvements in the
following areas:• System leadership;
• Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy, including key priorities for 2016 onwards;
• Making the Health and Wellbeing Board more effective.

System Leadership
5.

Outputs and issues relating to how system leadership can be improved across LLR
are being addressed initially by a report to the LLR Chief Officers Group. The
outcome of this will be reported to Board members in due course.

242
Joint Health and Wellbeing Strategy
6.

The following suggestions were made during the Development Session and will be
taken forward during the planned refresh of the of the Leicestershire Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy during 2016:•

The need for a clear vision as well as an understanding of how each
organisation will contribute to the delivery of its priorities.

•

The Strategy must acknowledge but not repeat other strategies such as the
Sustainability and Transformation Plan (STP) and Better Care Together (BCT)
Plan, as well as showing where priorities are being delivered through other
plans and strategies. Through this framework it can then pick up the gaps that
are not covered by other Strategies.

•

The need to set a small number of key priorities owned by all members of the
Board to enable it to focus its work.

•

The Strategy should identify issues that need a collaborative, partnership
approach, including areas such as joining up communities, the broader
determinants of health and economic development.

7.

Following the development session, the project team responsible for the Strategy has
met and agreed that an iterative approach will be taken to the drafting of the
Strategy, so that officers can ensure the product adapts and responds to the
changing landscape.

8.

The Strategy will be built collaboratively and to that end an outline draft will be
produced and discussed with individual members of the Board between March and
April to ensure that all members have had an opportunity to influence its early
development.

9.

A development session for the Board will take place in June 2016, once a further
version of the Strategy has been produced, incorporating all the comments made by
Board members. This development session will act as a confirm and challenge of
the Strategy, prior to it being shared with wider stakeholders including Healthwatch
and the Leicestershire Health Overview and Scrutiny Committee to seek their views.

10. The suggested milestones have been considered in light of the work that will be in
progress between March and July to develop the LLR-wide Sustainability and
Transformation Plan.
11. It is expected that the final draft of the Strategy will be submitted to the Board for
approval in September. However, given the need to ensure that the strategy remains
relevant in a fast-changing environment, it will be viewed as a living document which
can be kept up to date as required. The Board will be notified of any significant
changes.

243

Improving the Effectiveness of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
12. At the Development Session the following points were raised in relation to the
effectiveness of the Health and Wellbeing Board:•

There are too many items on the Board agenda; those items that are for
noting and not requiring discussion should be circulated with the agenda as
part of an ‘information pack’ but do not need to be included on the agenda.

•

The Board could give permission to the Chairman to consider and respond to
items which do not fit with the vision and ambition of the Board. However, a
checklist of key points to be addressed in each of these reports would be
needed to ensure that this is effective. There may be a need for additional
members as well as the Chairman to be involved in considering and
responding to these items.

•

The Board’ substructures may need revising to sure that all elements are
having an impact.

•

However, the Integration Executive is seen as functioning well and having a
good impact on the join up of health and social care.

•

Consideration could be given to limiting the agenda to issues where there are
specific problems to resolve across the system in order to deliver the priorities
within the strategy or examples of good practice. A risk assessment would be
needed in order to identify these issues.

•

The Board needs to move beyond consensus behaviour and have more
challenge; the tendency for a “polite and nice” tone needs shaking up.

•

There is a lack of clinical engagement with the Health and Wellbeing Board
beyond the immediate clinical representation and some professional groups
may not feel engaged with the Board. It may be appropriate consider how this
can be addressed

13. A number of points were also made relating to the need for clarity of vision and
ambition; these will largely be addressed through the refresh of the Joint Health and
Wellbeing Strategy
14. In response to the points raised above, the following actions were agreed:(i) The agenda for this meeting of the Board has been reviewed and with effect
from the March meeting some items are removed from the agenda and
moved into an information pack. This change will be kept under review to
ensure that the Board is not missing any issues which it should be
addressing.
(ii) The reporting arrangements between the Integration Executive and the
Health and Wellbeing Board are being reviewed to ensure the balance of
activity and governance between the groups is refreshed as part of the BCF

244
refresh for 2016/17.The outcome of the review will be discussed with the
Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
(iii) Consideration is being given to the establishment of a ‘virtual’ sign off
process. If this proposal is taken forward there will be a report to the next
meeting of the Board to agree the approach.
(iv) The plan of items to be considered at future meetings of the Board and the
performance dashboard are being reviewed to expand upon strands of work
that specifically focus the Board on shaping and addressing the wider
determinants of health and preventions such as housing development,
community safety, and employment, engaging in particular the leads for
Combined Authority, Districts and Police. The outcome of this review will be
discussed with the Chairman of the Health and Wellbeing Board in the first
instance.
(v) A new template is being developed for Board papers that includes
a. a section on the link to other parts of the planning/governance within
LLR;
b. directing focused discussion and decision making for all Board items.
This template will be trialled at the next meeting of the Board.
(vi) The substructures and Terms of Reference of the Board and its subgroups
will be reviewed, in particular to ensure that the wellbeing, prevention and
wider determinants components have more prominence, coordination and
drive. Any changes to the subgroups or terms of reference will be reported
to the Board at its meeting in July.

Resource Implications
15. The resources available to support the Board will be reviewed in the light of the
actions arising from the Development Session, as they will change the focus of the
Board which may affect the level of support that it requires.

Conclusions/Recommendations
16. The Health and Wellbeing Board is asked to:(a) Approve the proposals for the development of the Health and Wellbeing
Strategy set out in paragraphs 7 – 10 of the report;
(b) Approve the actions to make the Board more effective and timescales outlined
in paragraph 13 of the report;
(c) Note that issues relating to system leadership will be considered by the LLR
Chief Officers Group and that the outcome of this will be reported to a future
meeting of the Health and Wellbeing Board.
Background papers

245

None.
Circulation under the Local Issues Alert Procedure
N/A
Officers to Contact
Cheryl Davenport, Director of Health and Care Integration
Telephone: 0116 305 4212
Email: Cheryl.davenport@leics.gov.uk
Rosemary Palmer, Democratic Services Manager
Telephone: 0116 305 6098
Email: rosemary.palmer@leics.gov.uk

Relevant Impact Assessments
Equality and Human Rights Implications
17. The role of the Health and Wellbeing Board is to collectively tackle health inequalities
and to make sure that all people can access health and care when they need to.
Individual proposals coming before the Health and Wellbeing Board will be subject to
an equalities and human rights implications assessment.

246

This page is intentionally left blank

